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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EEHRE

To Shareholders,

| hereby present to you the report of annual results of China
Merchants Land Limited (“China Merchants Land” or the
“Company”, Stock Code: 00978) and its subsidiaries (together as the
“Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2017.

BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2017, the turnover of the Group was approximately
RMB17,310,562,000 (2016: RMB11,606,442,000), representing a
year-on-year increase of approximately 49%. Profit attributable to
the owners of the Company was approximately RMB1,638,124,000
(2016: RMB811,449,000), accounting for a year-on-year growth
of approximately 102%. Profit attributable to the shareholders per
share rose by approximately 102% from last year to approximately
RMB33.40 cents (2016: RMB16.54 cents). Facing accelerated changes
in market condition and policies, the Group responded to the market
with stable yet flexible strategic, which drove persistent improvement
in its results, causing profit attributable to the shareholders per share
in 2017 to climb up to record high since the reorganisation in 2013.
With optimising and strengthening business scale, the Group plans to
gradually stabilise and enhance the cash return for the shareholders.
The Board proposes payment of final dividends for the year ended 31
December 2017 of HK$0.1 per share.

STRATEGIC TRANSFORMATION

The Group continues to support strategic transformation. In
response to the State’s development plan on real estate industry
and the overall market trend, the Group made a good start by
grasping the opportunities to actively explore the rental market.
The Northern Block of the Group’s first CM+ Service Apartment
in Sheung Wan performed well, currently recording an occupancy
rate of approximately 92%. Being regarded as a pilot project, the
service apartment had enabled the Group to gain valuable experience
in the operation of property leasing and management services.
The acquisition of the Southern Block of the second CM+ Service
Apartment in Sheung Wan has been completed at the end of February
2018 and the preparation work for opening has been commenced.
The operating model of the CM+ Service Apartment may be replicated
in several cities of the Mainland China where the business of the
Group operates, allowing accomplishment of rent-sell model step by
step. In addition, through continuous study on the reorganisation of
China Merchants Property both internally and externally, and through
collaborative development, the business has been further solidified.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

Market Review

During 2017, various economic regimes around the world experienced
continuous recovery, and the global macro-economic figures
showed a flourishing condition where stock markets of different
regions climbed up, the global trading rebounded and the business
environment was promising. In the US, Donald Trump was elected as
the new President and his tax plan has been passed. Benefited from
the positive impact of tax cuts, enterprises recorded better profits.
As a result of the recovery of Eurozone economies and the growth
of macro-economic data going back to the right track, enterprises in
Europe had an improved profitability. Albeit the political tension, there
was sound economic growth in all Asian countries. The gross domestic
product (GDP) of the PRC increased by approximately 6.9% in 2017,
which enabled full accomplishment of key targets for the economic
and social development with better-than-expected results.

The real estate market of the Mainland China in 2017 was mainly
driven by core government policies. Upon the announcement of the
keynote that “Houses are built for residence, not for speculation”
in the Central Economic Work Conference held at the end of 2016,
several supporting policies promulgated subsequently had been
based thereon. Local governments, one after another, implemented
one policy customised for one city or several policies for one city for
controlling purpose. With the policies becoming more extensive, the
real estate markets of the first and the second tier cities had shown
signs of cooling down, while there were considerable results in
destocking in the third and the fourth tier cities. Nevertheless, sales of
the national commaodities housings in 2017 jumped up to new record
high, with the area sold for national commodities housing reached
approximately 1,694 million sq.m. in 2017 representing a year-on-year
increase of approximately 7.7%. Besides, in order to response to the
state’s long-term mechanism for the stabilisation of real estate market,
real estate developers have taken the initiative to participate in rent-
sell and increased their investment in the rental market.

CHINA MERCHANTS LAND LIMITED Annual Report 2017
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Property Development

In 2017, with the united effort of all staff, the results of the Group
greatly improved. The Group recorded aggregate contracted sales of
approximately RMB24,156,757,000 and aggregate contracted sales
area of 1,382,636 sq.m., representing increases of approximately
51% and approximately 17% over that of 2016 respectively. Area of
new construction was approximately 1.85 million sq.m, whereas area
of completed construction was approximately 1.30 million sq.m. At
the end of 2017, the area under construction was approximately 2.86
million sg.m. At the same time, the Group continuously reinforced the
forging of projects in all-rounded abilities, such as progress, quality,
safety, customer services as well as cost and marketing in order to
ensure a sustainable and quality development.

Land Bank

In 2017, the Group continued to focus on proactively exploring
the cities with high quality by concentrating on the development
of property projects in high quality cities in the Guangdong-Hong
Kong-Macao Bay Area on the one hand, and, on the other hand,
conducting appropriate expansion of its business scale in other cities.
The Group acquired five pieces of land during the year with a total
permissible area of approximately 857,215 sg.m. for a total land cost
of approximately RMB6,585 million. Three pieces of land was acquired
in Foshan with a total permissible area of approximately 547,650
sg.m. for a total land cost of approximately RMB3,764 million. One
piece of land was acquired in Nanjing with a total permissible area of
approximately 220,200 sq.m. for a total land cost of approximately
RMB2,240 million. One piece of land was acquired in Chongging
with a total permissible area of approximately 89,365 sq.m. for a
total land cost of approximately RMB581 million. As at 31 December
2017, the Group had land bank of approximately 5,732,641 sq.m. The
management believes that the existing land bank is sufficient to fulfill
the needs of the Company’s project development mentioned above
for the next three years.

Capital and Finance

At the end of 2017, the net gearing ratio of the Group was
approximately 47%, which is at a healthy level in the property
industry. The bank balances and cash amounted to approximately
RMB5,100,692,000 and the balance of the interest-bearing debts was
amounted to approximately RMB15,233,460,000. The average cost
of the capital was approximately 4.85% of the annualised interest
rate in 2017, which was equal to that in 2016. At the same time, the
Group placed great efforts to improve the cash collection of sales
proceeds, hence achieving an annual cash collection of sales proceeds
of approximately RMB22,000 million and a cash collection rate of
approximately 91%. The capital turnover remains stable and safe.
In respect of management of foreign exchange risks, the Group will
closely monitor the changes in the foreign exchange market so as to
make swift response.
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OUTLOOK AND PROSPECT

Looking ahead in 2018, sustainable global economic growth is
anticipated. Yet the spring up of trade protectionism, expected
interest rise and the geopolitics remain risky to global economy.

As China is moving towards economic reform with a key focus on
high quality, the long-term mechanism advocating rental housing
is imperative. It is expected that more rental housing projects will
be launched in the first and second tier cities in 2018, while the
performance of the third and fourth tier cities will be further fallen
back as the spillover effect subsides. Under the keynote that “Houses
are not built for speculation”, together with more stringent regulation
and intensified marco-controlling policies, the comprehensively strict
market controls involving restrictions on housing purchases, loans,
prices and sales will be continued. A new era for the real estate
industry of China is going to kick off in an orderly manner in 2018.

Adhering to the principle of “sustained intensive engagement and
innovative development”, the Group will continue to develop its
business by leveraging on the abundant inventory resources of China
Merchants Group and China Merchants Shekou Industrial Zone
Holdings Company Limited and fully capitalising on the advantages of
overseas listing, so as to facilitate corporate transformation as well as
active exploration and grasping of market opportunities.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | wish to thank our customers, business
partners and staff for their trust and support during last year and
would appreciate your continued support for the Company’s
development in the future. As the Chairman of the Board, | would
also like to express our sincere gratitude to our shareholders for
their unfailing support and in approving the major changes of the
Company. | believe and have confidence that we will create better
return for the shareholders in the future.

XU Yongjun
Chairman
20 March 2018

CHINA MERCHANTS LAND LIMITED Annual Report 2017
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

EERSREEAEBE

The Directors’ updated information is set out below, save as disclosed
below, there is no financial, business, family or other material/
relevant relationship among the Directors. The change of directors’
information pursuant to Rule 13.51B of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Listing Rules”) since the Company’s last published interim report is
set out in the section “Change of Information relating to Directors”:

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. XU Yongjun, aged 54, non-executive director of the Company,
the chairman of the Board and the chairman of the nomination
committee of the Company appointed on 18 March 2016.

Mr. XU joined China Merchants Logistics Holdings Co., Ltd." since
May 2001 and held various positions as chief marketing director,
deputy general manager, executive deputy general manager and
general manager until January 2016. On 30 December 2015, he was
appointed as the director and general manager of China Merchants
Shekou Industrial Zone Holdings Co., Ltd. (“CMSK"), an intermediate
controlling shareholder of the Company.

Mr. XU graduated from Fuyang Normal University” in Anhui province
in July 1984. He graduated from Applied Chemistry Department of
Northwest Institute of Light Industry” (currently renamed as Shanxi
University of Science & Technology®) with a Master’s Degree in
Engineering in November 1987.

Mr. HUANG Junlong, aged 52, non-executive director of the
Company and a member of the remuneration committee of the
Company appointed on 18 March 2016.

Mr. HUANG is currently the chief financial officer of CMSK. He joined
China Merchants Shekou Industrial Zone™ as deputy supervisor of the
finance department in 1988 and holds various positions as deputy
in charge of finance department of China Merchants Group®, chief
financial officer of China Merchants Logistics Group Co., Ltd.", chief
financial officer of China Merchants Port Service Co., Ltd", chief
financial officer of Shenzhen China Merchants Petrochemical Co.,
Ltd.” and the financial controller of finance department of China
Merchants Shekou Industrial Zone®.
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In July 1988, Mr. HUANG graduated from Changsha Institute of
Communications” with a Bachelor’s Degree in Finance and Accounting
Profession. He graduated from China Europe International Business
School” with a Master of Business Administration Degree in September
2008.

Dr. YAN Chengda, aged 59, non-executive director of the Company
appointed on 18 March 2016.

Dr. YAN has been engaged in property development business in China
and other overseas developed countries with a management position
in overseas listed companies for many years. He is currently a senior
consultant of CMSK. He joined China Merchants Group” in the year
of 1997. He holds various positions as deputy general manager of
China Merchants Properties Holdings Company Limited” and executive
director of China Merchants Holdings (Pacific) Limited”, shares of
which are listed on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited.

Before joining China Merchants Group, Dr. YAN served as vice
president of China State Construction International Holdings Limited
(Florida Company of United States of America) and was a president
assistant of China Construction International Corporation.

Dr. YAN holds a Bachelor’s Degree in January 1982 and a Master’s
Degree in December 1984 from the Department of Civil Engineering
in Dalian University of Technology”. He graduated from the
Department of Water Conservancy in Tsinghua University” in June
1989 and was awarded a Doctoral Degree. He holds a senior engineer
qualification since May 1993 and is a member of American Society of
Civil Engineers.

10 CHINA MERCHANTS LAND LIMITED Annual Report 2017
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Ms. LIU Ning, aged 49, non-executive Director appointed on 2 June
2012. Ms. LIU is a member of the audit committee of the Board.

Ms. LIU has over 15 years of experience in securities industry and
has served as the secretary to the board of directors of CMSK since
December 2015. She was appointed as a representative for securities
affairs of China Merchants Property Development Co., Ltd" (“CMPD")
(@ company merged with CMSK in December 2016) in October 2001,
a director of secretariat to the board of CMPD in July 2004 and the
Board Secretary of CMPD from 2008 to 2015. Ms. LIU currently serves
as the independent director of Han's Laser Technology Industry Group
Co., Ltd.” (stock code: 002008), Shenzhen Fenda Technology Co.,Ltd."
(R EEREARMD AR A F])(Stock Code: 002681), Shenzhen
Sunwin Intelligent Co., Ltd.” (FIITTEAZERMHDBR A ) (Stock
Code: 300044) and Shenzhen Jinxinnong Technology Co.,Ltd." (stock
code:002548), all of them are listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange.
Ms. LIU was appointed as the ninth expert of the listing committee
of the Shenzhen Stock Exchange for the period from September
2016 to September 2018, and currently is the first expert for the
preliminary review of corporate bonds listing of the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange for the period from May 2017 to May 2019. Ms. LIU holds
a Profession in Business Administration from Central South University
of Forestry and Technology” in 2000, and subsequently holds a
Master of Business Administration Degree from Macau University of
Science and Technology”. During the year ended 31 December 2017.
Ms LIU ceased to be an independent director of Eastern Pioneer
Driving School Co., Ltd.” (BRJ5 & BB 2R AR A R]) (Stock
Code: 603377), a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange
and Shenzhen Changfang Light Emitting Diode Lighting Co., Ltd.”
(FYIT R+ BRRARMN AR AF) (Stock Code: 300301). Ms
LIU ceased to act as an independent director of Tianjin Zhonghuan
Semiconductor Co., Ltd.” (REFIRFEER N B R QA (Stock
Code: 002129) in June 2016.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Dr. SO Shu Fai, aged 66, executive Director and chairman of the
executive committee appointed on 11 December 2010 and was
elected chairman of the Company on 31 December 2010. Dr. SO
resigned from his position as the chairman of the Board and his
board committee position on 23 June 2012 and remains an executive
Director.

Dr. SO is an executive director of SIM Holdings Limited (listed on the
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) and
is currently the Chairman of Shenzhen Super Perfect Optics Limited.
He is a director of Estoril-Sol, SGPS, S.A. which is listed on Euronext
Lisbon and the chairman of the board of directors of MACAUPORT —
Sociedade de Administracao de Portos, S.A. Besides, Dr. SO retired
from office as an independent non-executive director of SHK Hong
Kong Industries Limited (listed on the Stock Exchange) on 2 June
2015.

Dr. SO is a member of the 12th National Committee of the Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference ("CPPCC"), a member
of the Committee of Foreign Affairs of the National Committee of
CPPCC, the honorary consul of the Republic of Portugal in the Hong
Kong SAR and a consultant of the Economic Development Council.
Dr. SO is the president of Clube Militar de Macau, a member of the
board of directors of The University of Hong Kong Foundation for
Educational Development and Research, as well as a member of the
10th National Committee of China Federation of Literary and Arts
Circles.

Dr. SO was awarded the Medal of Merit — Culture by the Macau SAR
Government in 2009. He was awarded the Doctor of Social Sciences
honoris causa by the University of Macau in 2012, the Honorary
University Fellowship by The University of Hong Kong in 2005 and the
Commendador Order of Merit by the President of Portugal in 2014.

Dr. SO is a Chartered Secretary and a Fellow member of The Hong
Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries and The Institute of Chartered
Secretaries and Administrators. He graduated with a Bachelor of
Science Degree from The University of Hong Kong in 1973, and
received a Doctoral Degree in Management Studies from IMC/
Southern Cross University in 2001.
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Mr. YU Zhiliang, aged 39, joined the Company as an executive
Director since 2 June 2012. He served as a general manager of the
Company since 18 August 2016. He was the Company’s Chief
Financial Officer during the period from 29 June 2012 to 17 August
2016. Mr. YU has served as a director of Champion Apex Limited since
January 2013 and a director of Harvest Allied Investments Limited
since April 2013. Mr. YU is responsible for strategic development, and
to facilitate and implement the operational plans of the Group.

Mr. YU has served as the chief financial officer of China Merchants
Property (Xiamen) Co. Ltd.” (R /B E (EF9)BR A A]) and Fujian
Zhong Lian Sheng Estate Development Ltd." (iRE2FR B =i
AR AT]) since 2010. Mr. YU is a director of China Merchants
Properties Development Ltd. (R B & % AR A 7)), Wahsheung
Finance Ltd.” FERIB 5 AR A A)) and certain major subsidiaries of the
Company. He holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Accounting from Xiamen
University” (B FP9XE2) and holds an MBA Degree with a concentration
in finance from the Chinese University of Hong Kong. Mr. YU is an
accountant of the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC").

Mr. WONG King Yuen, aged 50, executive director of the Company
appointed on 18 March 2016.

Mr. WONG has over 20 years of experience in real estate industry. He
served as assistant property manager in property agency department
in China Merchants Properties Development Limited in February 1995
and subsequently he was promoted as deputy manager, manager,
deputy general manager and the current position of director and
general manager. From January 1999, he acted as general manager
assistant in China Merchants Property Agency Limited and later he
was promoted to the position of deputy general manager and the
current position of director and general manager. From September
2001 to December 2002, he served as director and general manager
in China Merchants Property Management (Hong Kong) Limited.

Mr. WONG graduated from Hong Kong Baptist University with a
Bachelor’s Degree of Business Administration (Honours) majoring in
finance in November 1990. He obtained a Master’s Degree of Science
in real estate from the University of Hong Kong in December 2006. In
1999, he obtained estate agents license (individual) from Hong Kong
Estate Agents Authority. In 2010, he was awarded the membership of
Hong Kong Institute of Real Estate Administrators.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert, aged 66, joined the Company as an
independent non-executive Director on 2 June 2012. Dr. WONG is the
chairman of the audit committee and a member of the remuneration
committee of the Company. Dr. WONG currently holds the following
positions in other listed companies:

e independent non-executive director of China VAST Industrial
Urban Development Company Limited, a company listed on the
Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 6166);

° independent non-executive director of APAC Resources Limited,
a company listed on the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 1104);

e independent non-executive director of Solargiga Energy Holdings
Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange (Stock Code:
757);

e independent non-executive director of China Wan Tong Yuan
(Holdings) Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange
(Stock Code: 8199); and

e independent non-executive director of Capital Finance Holdings
Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange (Stock Code:
8239).

In addition, Dr. WONG served as the managing director of Charise
Financial Planning Limited, a private professional consulting firm in
Hong Kong since October 2005 to 2 January 2014 and served as
Principal Consultant of KND & Co., CPA Limited, a private professional
auditing firm in Hong Kong since 2 January 2014 to 2017. Dr. WONG
was appointed as the Principal Consultant by KND Associates CPA
Limited, Hong Kong on 2 January 2018. Dr. WONG was elected or
admitted:

e a fellow of The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and
Administrators in September 2002,

e a fellow of The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries in
February 2002;
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e afellow of the Taxation Institute of Hong Kong in January 1999;

e amember of The Hong Kong Securities and Investment Institute
in November 2012;

e 3 fellow member of Association of International Accountants in
September 2005;

e  afellow member of The Institute of Certified Public Accountants
in Ireland in August 2000;

e amember of the Chartered Institute of Arbitrators in May 2002;
and

e 3 Certified Tax Adviser of Hong Kong for the year 2013 by the
Taxation Institute of Hong Kong.

Dr. WONG received a Doctoral Degree in Business Administration
from Bulacan State University, Republic of the Philippines in December
2010 and a Bachelor’s Degree in commerce from a joint program held
by Shenzhen University and Clayton University, Missouri, USA in May
1990. He also received a Bachelor’s Degree and a Master’s Degree
in Business Administration from Nottingham Trent University, UK in
December 2005 and December 2007, respectively.

Ms. CHEN Yanping, aged 59, joined the Company as an
independent non-executive Director on 2 June 2012.

Ms. CHEN had attended a “China Management Training Program”
in University of California, Los Angeles from November 2003 to
November 2004. Ms. CHEN received a Bachelor’s Degree and a
Master’s Degree in urban planning profession from the Faculty of
Architecture of Tongji University™ in January 1982 and November
1984, respectively. Ms. CHEN was qualified as a senior engineer in
December 1993 and subsequently qualified as a registered planner of
the PRC in October 2000.

Ms. CHEN had been an independent director of CMPD from
October 2007 to November 2011. Ms. CHEN is the chairlady of the
remuneration committee and a member of the nomination committee
of the Company. Ms. CHEN is a professor of Architecture and Urban
Planning School” in Shenzhen University” from December 2000.
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Dr. SHI Xinping, aged 59, joined the Company as an independent
non-executive Director on 2 June 2012. Dr. SHI had been an
independent director of CMPD from July 2001 to October 2007.
Dr. SHI'is a member of the audit committee and a member of the
nomination committee of the Company.

Dr. SHI is currently an associate professor of the Department of
Finance and Decision Sciences in Hong Kong Baptist University. He
is also an independent non-executive director of Renewable Energy
Trade Board Corporation (formerly known as “China Technology
Development Group Corporation”), a company listed on Nasdag.

Dr. SHI received a Bachelor’s Degree from North-western Polytechnic
University” in July 1982, an MBA Degree from Lancaster University, UK
in December 1990 and a PhD Degree from Middlesex University, UK in
July 1995.

Mr. HE Qi, aged 62, was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director of the Company on 1 November 2013. Mr. HE currently is
an independent non-executive director of Evergrande Real Estate
Group Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange (Stock Code:
3333) since 14 October 2009. Since 3 October 2014, Mr. HE has been
serving as the independent non-executive director of Orient Victory
China Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange
(Stock code: 265), and also the secretary of the Distribution Services
Committee of the China Real Estate Association®. Mr. He had been
serving as the deputy secretary of the China Real Estate Association”
until June 2016. He was an executive of the Development Centre of
the China Real Estate Association” from 1995 to 1999.
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CHANGE OF INFORMATION RELATING TO EBREZEER2EH

DIRECTORS

Changes in directors’ information required to be disclosed pursuantto  #R{E EMARBIFE1351B(NEREBATHEEHES
Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, are set out below: EREE) BRI EH I T

Name of director

EEns

Details of change

SEFE

Ms. LIU Ning
=L L

Dr. SO Shu Fai
EREEE

Mr. YU Zhiliang
REREE

Dr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert
TokEEL

During the year ended 31 December 2017, Ms. LIU has been appointed as an
independent director of Han's Laser Technology Industry Group Co., Ltd.” (KI&EE BHE
EXEERMDBMRAR]) (Stock Code: 002008) and Shenzhen Jinxinnong Technology Co.,
Ltd.” ORI & F 2R RS AR A 7)) (Stock Code: 002548), both companies are listed
on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange. Ms. LIU has ceased to be an independent director of
Eastern Pioneer Driving School Co., Ltd.” (32 75 i 15 2 B E2 4% i1 A FR /A A)) (Stock Code:
603377), a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange and Shenzhen Changfang
Light Emitting Diode Lighting Co., Ltd.” (RIITH &5 FEEERAARH BR A 7)) (Stock
Code: 300301).

BE_ZT—+F+_A=T—RHILFE Bt —EBRERNBFRHM EMABIKEK
AR EFEERG BRAF (GRS - 002008) FoRIIT & FREHER G B R A F
(IR REE - 002548) B EE - X TEFHELBESFISHMEMRARIR AR AR
BRHOBRRR (RN : 603377) RNT R FEBERARGBER QR (KHAK
5% 300301 KB EE -

During the year ended 31 December 2017, Dr. SO ceased to be a member of the Cultural
Consultative Council of the Macau SAR Government.
BHEZ—+FT_RA=1T—HULEFE HEL T THECRMIERBAXEAZES

During the year ended 31 December 2017, Mr. YU received annual emoluments
of HK$2,170,046.42 which were determined by reference to his experience and
responsibilities, the Company’s performance and remuneration policy and the prevailing
market conditions.

BHE_Z—+F+_R=+—HLFE RAEEWRFEHNEHEE2,170,046.427T - B
e 2 ER 2 ERREBE  ARAZRREFHHMERARRITIRMEE °

During the year ended 31 December 2017, Dr. WONG has been appointed as an
independent non-executive director of China Wan Tong Yuan (Holdings) Limited, a
company listed on the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 8199) and Capital Finance Holdings
Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 8239). Dr. WONG was also
appointed as the Principal Consultant by KND Associates CPA Limited, Hong Kong on 2
January 2018.
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EERSREEAEBE

Upon specific enquiry by the Company and confirmations from
Directors, save as otherwise set out in this Report, there are no
other changes in the directors’ information required to be disclosed
pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules since the Company’s
last published interim report.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

Mr. XIAO Rui, aged 43, is responsible for the management of
property development projects.

Mr. XIAO joined the Development Department of CMSK as the senior
manager in March 2004, and was subsequently redesignated to
Zhangzhou Company as the director and general manager in April
2007. He served as the director and general manager of Xiamen
Company in November 2010. Since August 2016, he was promoted
as the regional general manager of Southern China and the general
manager of Guangzhou Company.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. XIAO worked as an assistant engineer
in Shenzhen Languang Group* (ZIIEE @) from August 1997
to June 1999, a senior manager of Lease Department of CMPD
from June 1999 to June 2003, and the deputy general manager of
Shenzhen Mingyuan Fluoro Coatings Company” (FYIIFREEZRA
7)) from June 2003 to March 2004.

Mr. Xiao graduated from Harbin University of Civil Engineering and
Architecture” with a Bachelor’s Degree in Speciality of Industrial and
Civil Architecture in June 1997.

Mr. LU Bin, aged 36, is responsible for the management of property
development projects.

Mr. LU joined the Project Department of CMPD as a project engineer
in July 2004 and subsequently, he served as the manager of the
Project Department of Nanjing Company in January 2008. He was
promoted as the general manager assistant, the deputy general
manager and the deputy general manager (monitoring works) of
Nanjing Company in February 2014, February 2015 and March 2016,
respectively. He was promoted as the general manager of Nanjing
Company in April 2017.

Mr. Lu graduated from Nanjing Institute of Technology” in July 2004
with a bachelor degree in professional electronic and information
engineering.
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Mr. HUANG Qinghao, aged 42, is responsible for the management
of property development projects.

Mr. HUANG joined the Construction Management Center of CMPD in
May 2005 as a structural engineer and was subsequently redesignated
to Foshan Company in February 2008. He initially served as a manager
of design and engineering department and was subsequently
promoted as general manager assistant and deputy general manager.
In January 2014, he was promoted as the general manager of Foshan
Company.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. HUANG worked in Shenzhen General
Institute of Architectural Design & Research Third Institute (R
2 REHITFE 4287 = EB) from October 2001 and October 2003 as a
structural engineer. From October 2003 to May 2005, Mr. HUANG
worked in Arch Engineers Design Co. Ltd* (% Ti2:&R:T2 7)) as a
structural engineer.

Mr. HUANG graduated from Central South University” and was
awarded a Bachelor’s Degree in Industrial and Civil Construction in
June 1997. Mr. HUANG was qualified as an engineer in September
2001 and subsequently was qualified as a first-class qualified structural
engineer in October 2005. He was awarded a Master’s Degree in Civil
Engineering Profession from Shenzhen University” in June 2006 and
qualified as an architectural construction senior engineer in December
2007.

Mr. LI Zhaohui, aged 47, is responsible for the management of
property development projects.

Mr. LI joined the Project Department of CMPD as an engineer in
March 2002 and subsequently, he worked as a senior project manager
for Construction Management Center in February 2005 and was
promoted to deputy technical director in December 2005. In April
2007, he was redesignated to Chongging Company as general
manager assistant and was subsequently promoted to deputy general
manager of Chongging Company in February 2009. He was further
promoted to deputy general manager of Chongging Company
(monitoring works) in July 2015.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. LI worked in Zhenjiang Construction
and Design Institute” in Jiangsu Province from July 1992 to March
2002.

Mr. LI graduated from the Faculty of Water Supply and Drainage
Engineering of Urban Construction in Chongging Construction
Engineering University* in July 1992 and subsequently obtained the
qualification as a water supply and drainage professional engineer in
November 1998.
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Mr. SHI Jun, aged 55, is responsible for the management of property
development projects.

Mr. SHI joined the Operating Management Center of CMPD in
November 2007 as general manager assistant and as the deputy
general manager of JRYIREEZER A A from December 2008
to February 2012. From February 2011 to February 2012, Mr. SHI
was redesignated as the deputy general manager of Yongjinwan
project and from February 2012 to September 2013, Mr. SHI was
the deputy general manager (General) of the Zhuhai Company. He
was subsequently transferred to Xi‘an Company as the leader of the
preparatory team in September 2013 and was promoted as general
manager of Xi’an Company in May 2014. He has been redesignated
as senior engineer in the Operating Management Center of CMSK in
September 2017.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. SHI worked in Shenzhen Continental
Ocean Through Enterprise Company* (RINTIARE/GRE AR as
general manager from December 2004 to November 2007.

Mr. SHI graduated from FAZAEKZ 0t in July 1984 and received a
diploma in industrial and domestic construction and was awarded
a Bachelor’s Degree in Engineering. He was qualified as a senior
engineer in December 2004 and as a first-class qualified construction
engineer in December 2011.

Mr. HE Junli, aged 40, is responsible for the management of the
property development projects.

Mr. HE joined CMPD in April 2003 as a planning manager for
the Huangjintai project, later was promoted as senior manager in
December 2005. He was a vice development director of Chongging
(Chengdu) in May 2008 and was promoted as assistant to general
manager of Chongging Company in February 2011. In June 2016,
he was further promoted as vice general manager of Chongqing
Company and also took up the position of a general manager of
Chongging China Merchants Jinshan Yiku Business Management
Company* (EERE < ILEENEEEAF]). He was redesignated
as a general manager of Xi'an Company in September 2017.

Before joining the Group, Mr. He worked in the property department
of Vanke as engineer trainee from August 2001 to April 2002, and
joined Sinolink (Shenzhen) as property development manager from
April 2002 to April 2003.

Mr. HE graduated from Southeast University” in June 2001 with a
bachelor degree in professional architectural engineering.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE
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Ms. JIN Yan, aged 43, the financial controller of the Company for
the period from August 2016 to January 2018. She had held various
positions with CMSK, and some of its subsidiaries. She joined CMSK
in August 1996 as supervisor of financial department and capital
department until March 2000 and held various positions in finance
department of CMPD as senior manager, general manager assistant
and deputy general manager from March 2000 to December 2013.
At the same time, she was also appointed as the financial controller of
M EIBAEEIEBR AR (Shenzhen Fraser Place Management
Company Limited*) from December 2005 to February 2012 and from
February 2012 to December 2013, she acted as the financial controller
of China Merchants (Shenzhen) Commercial Property Investment
Co., Ltd.* and Eureka Investment Company Limited. She was the
deputy general manager of capital management center of CMPD
from January 2014 to December 2015 and was the deputy general
manager of capital market department of CMSK from January 2016 to
August 2016.

Ms. JIN graduated from the School of Economics of Xiamen
University* with a Bachelor’s Degree in International Finance in July
1996. In September 2003, she obtained a qualification of middle level
accountant in PRC.

Ms. CHEN Yan, aged 40, appointed as the financial controller of
the Company since January 2018. She has served in various roles at
CMSK, a controlling shareholder of the Company. She joined CMSK
in October 2009, and served as a senior manager of the financial
department until July 2016. Meanwhile, she was appointed as a senior
directing finance manager from July 2016 to May 2017. She had been
a vice-financial controller of the Company during the period from May
2017 up to January 2018.

Ms. CHEN Yan was graduated from Sun Yat-Sen Business School*
with a Master’s Degree in Accounting and Business Studies in 2002.
She was qualified as a Certified Public Accountant in the PRC in 2002.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE
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Mr. WANG Yu, aged 44, is responsible for the overseas property
investment and development business.

Mr. WANG joined the Construction Management Center of CMPD as
a deputy engineer in August 2009 and was subsequently promoted
and redesignated to China Merchants Property Development
(Shenzhen) Limited* as general manager assistant of Project
Department of Sea World Huanchuan Plaza™ in February 2011. In
January 2014 and July 2016, he was redesignated as a deputy general
director and the general director, respectively, for investment and
development of the Group.

Prior to joining the group, Mr. WANG served in the Administrative
Department of Ministry of Foreign Affairs of the People’s Republic of
China from August 1996 to June 2007, working as an attaché, an
officer, the third secretary and the second secretary respectively.

Mr. WANG graduated from Tianjin University” with a Bachelor’s
Degree of Civil Structural Engineering in July 1996 and completed the
International Engineering Management Professional supplementary
course. Subsequently, he completed the Infrastructure Project
Management Professional Training in the University of Hong Kong in
May 2007 and obtained a Master’s Degree in Business Administration,
majoring in Corporate Finance and Real Estate in the Business School
of the University of North Carolina in United States of America in May
2009.

Ms. LAU Jeanie, aged 40, appointed as Company Secretary of the
Company since 3 January 2017. Ms. LAU is an associate member of
both The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators and
The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries, and has over 10
years' experience in company secretarial practice.

* For identification purpose only
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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MARKET REVIEW

During 2017, various economic regimes around the world experienced
continuous recovery, and the global macro-economic figures
showed a flourishing condition where stock markets of different
regions climbed up, the global trading rebounded and the business
environment was promising. In the US, Donald Trump was elected as
the new President and his tax plan has been passed. Benefited from
the positive impact of tax cuts, enterprises recorded better profits.
As a result of the recovery of Eurozone economies and the growth
of macro-economic data going back to the right track, enterprises
in Europe had an improved profitability. Albeit the political tension,
there was sound economic growth in all Asian countries. The gross
domestic product (GDP) of the PRC increased by 6.9% in 2017, which
enabled full accomplishment of key targets for the economic and
social development with better-than-expected results.

The real estate market of the Mainland China in 2017 was mainly
driven by core government policies. After the announcement of the
keynote that “Houses are built for residence, not for speculation”
in the Central Economic Work Conference held at the end of 2016,
several supporting policies promulgated subsequently had been
based thereon. Local governments, one after another, implemented
one policy customised for one city or several policies for one city for
controlling purpose. With the policies becoming more extensive, the
real estate markets of the first and the second tier cities had shown
signs of cooling down, while there were considerable results in
destocking in the third and the fourth tier cities. Nevertheless, sales
of the national commodities housings in 2017 jumped up to new
record high, with the area sold for national commodities housing
reached 1,694 million sq.m. in 2017 representing a year-on-year
increase of 7.7%. Besides, in order to response to the state’s long-
term mechanism for the stabilisation of the real estate market, real
estate developers have taken the initiative to participate in rent-sell
and increased their investment in the rental market.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

For the year of 2017, profit amounted to RMB2,938,983,000 (2016:
RMB1,115,054,000), representing an increase of approximately
164% as compared with that of last year. The profit attributable
to the owners of the Company was RMB1,638,124,000 (2016:
RMB811,449,000), representing an increase of approximately 102%
as compared with that of last year. Basic earnings per share was
RMB33.40 cents (2016: RMB16.54 cents), representing an increase of
approximately 102% as compared with that of last year.

Equity attributable to owners of the Company was RMB7,414,598,000
as at 31 December 2017 (2016: RMB5,993,416,000), representing an
increase of approximately 24% as compared with that as at the end of
last year.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

The Group together with its associate and joint ventures, achieved
aggregate contracted sales of RMB24,156,757,000 (2016:
RMB15,986,065,000), representing an increase of approximately
51% over that of last year. Aggregate contracted sales area was
1,382,636 sgq.m. (2016: 1,185,223 sg.m.), representing an increase
of approximately 17% as compared with that of last year. The
average selling price was approximately RMB17,472 per sq.m. (2016:
RMB13,488 per sq.m.), representing an increase of approximately
30% as compared with that of last year.

TURNOVER

For 2017, the Group recorded turnover of RMB17,310,562,000
(2016: RMB11,606,442,000), representing an increase of
approximately 49% as compared with that of last year. The rise was
mainly due to the increase of total gross floor area completed and
delivered during the year of 2017. For the year of 2017, projects
in Foshan, Guangzhou, Chongqging, Nanjing and Jurong and Xi'an
accounted for approximately 22%, 18%, 18%, 33%, and 9%,
respectively, of the total revenue of the Group.

GROSS PROFIT

Gross profit amounted to RMB5,706,458,000 (2016:
RMB3,337,146,000), representing an increase of approximately 71%
as compared with that of last year. The increase in gross profit was
mainly due to the increase in the total gross floor area completed
and delivered during the year of 2017. The gross profit margin
was approximately 33% (2016: 29%), representing an increase of
approximately 4 percentage points as compared with that of last year.

SHARE OF PROFITS OF ASSOCIATES

Share of profits of associates was RMB137,379,000 (2016: loss of
RMB44,030,000), representing a year-on-year surge of approximately
412%, which was attributable to the completion of a project of an
associate Nanjing Shizhaoquansheng Property Company Limited*
(ARTBEREXABRAF]) in 2017 and carrying forward of the
revenue thereof.

FINANCE COSTS

In June 2015, the Company’s direct wholly-owned subsidiary
completed the issuance of a guaranteed convertible bonds due
in June 2020 (credit enhanced until July 2018) in the aggregate
principal amount of US$290,000,000 bearing coupon rate at 0.50%
per annum. In December 2013, the Company issued a five-year
term credit enhanced bonds in an aggregate principal amount of
US$500,000,000 bearing coupon rate of 4.021% per annum.
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FINANCE COSTS (continued)

Total amount of interest of the convertible bonds and
bonds amounted to approximately RMB135,788,000 (2016:
RMB104,667,000) was recognised in the finance costs for the year of
2017.

NET FOREIGN EXCHANGE GAINS

Exchange gains were noted for the year ended 31 December 2017.
The exchange gains recorded during the year of 2017 were mainly due
to the significant appreciation of RMB against United States Dollars
(HUS$H).

BUSINESS REVIEW

Property Development Business

As at 31 December 2017, the Group’s portfolio of property
development projects consisted of 27 projects in Foshan, Guangzhou,
Chonggqing, Nanjing, Jurong and Xi‘an, with a primary focus on
the development of residential properties, as well as residential and
commercial complex properties, products types including apartments,
villas, offices and retail shops, etc.

Below are the breakdown of land bank by cities and a map showing
the geographical locations and the land bank of the projects of
the Group in the PRC. The saleable gross floor area (“GFA") of the
properties comprising the projects which had not been sold or pre-
sold as at 31 December 2017 (“Land Bank”) was 5,732,641 sq.m..
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Property Development Business (continued)

¥ OE )
EiERRER (F)

A map showing the geographical location and land bank of the projects of
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the Group in the PRC as at 31 December 2017
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWRDN

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Property Development Business (continued)

Note: The table below shows the address, existing usage and actual/expected completion

¥TEOE )
EERRER (F)

date of the property development projects of the Group as at 31 December 2017.

Wit TRERAEER -T—tF+-A=+—-HZHEHRRIER
it - REABRER hEHER A -

Actual/expected
completion date

(Year/Month)
G YerH
Project Existing usage Ak A H
bi=f| Address I hE RERR (£/R8)
Foshan (f#L)
Evian Water Bank Northern side of Yuhe Road 2l Residential and July 2012
fREIK and eastern side of BRAMLT commercial —E—ZF+A
Fenjiang South Road e EEREHE
Foshan New Town FEFNBE AL A K
Foshan City Guangdong Province sl il
The PRC
Evian Upper City Northern side of Kuigi Road 2] Residential and May 2013
RE B3 and western side of BRAMLT commercial —Z-=FTAA
Guilan Road (2 TEREE
Chancheng District LA AL B &
Foshan City Guangdong Province =R P )
The PRC
Evian Tianhui Qiandenghu Park Nanping Road =2 Residential and September 2014
REXE Nanhai District BEREHLT commercial —ZT-EFENA
Foshan City Guangdong Province bl FEREE
The PRC RS
FrHRE
Evian Xicheng No. 3 Keji North Road AR Residential and January 2017
REBY Shishan Town BRAHLT commercial —ZF—t%—A
Nanhai District [Eapc1 FEREE
Foshan City Guangdong Province IR
The PRC THE b B8 358
Park 1872 Northern side of A Residential and June 2018
AE1872 Xingye Road and BRA LT commercial —E—N\EXA
eastern side of B & FEREE
Longpan West Road =
Desheng Business District EEEER
Shunde New Town 2 pRAL Bl £
Shunde District BEARTREE R A
Foshan City Guangdong Province
The PRC
China Merchants Western side of 2] Commercial September 2017
Land Centre a planning road EREAELT [SES —E—tEARA
BESH A D eastern side of 2Dt
Guilan Road TS
northern side of a planning road A7 @
and southern side of Haigi Road —HREIREA -
A27 Block of Guicheng Street BRI
Nanhai District —HRBEEA A E
Foshan City Guangdong Province picR ==K il
The PRC
Evian Yongjingwan North to Jihua Bridge L Residential and November 2017
RETESE west to Tung Ping River BEREHLT commercial —T—+tF+—A
Chancheng District BREFEAGILA EEREE

Foshan City Guangdong Province
The PRC

R AR
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BERENWmRD

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Property Development Business (continued)

¥ OE )
EiERRER (F)

Actual/expected
completion date

(Year/Month)
BB
Project Existing usage ER B
bi=g| Address I hE BERR (F&/R)
Evian Huafu “Xinyou Innovative 22l Residential and March 2018
REERT Technology Industrial Park” Beihu 1st BRAMH LT commercial —E—/\§=A
Road e FEREE
Luocun Management Office L $E
Shishan Town Nanhai District BNEEE
Foshan City Guangdong Province b —3 e REXR]
The PRC HER
Evian Gongguan Dazheng Road [ Residential and July 2018
KREDEE Jiujiang Town BERAHLT commercial —T—)\F+tA
Nanhai District [E2p=d FEREE
Foshan City Guangdong Province MR
The PRC KRIEFEHER
China Merchants Zhenyuan East of Wenhua Road 2l Residential and December 2017
BEZEE north of Caihong Road BERA BT commercial —E—+E+=A
Chancheng District Y = FEREE
Foshan City Guangdong Province SCEFEEA
The PRC FULER AL
China Merchants Xian South Jititang Road in the east to Foshan 1st A E Residential, September 2019
HBrEkEs Ring in the west, from Tanzhou Water BRAEFHLT wholesale and retail, —Z—AENA
Channel in the south to Fochen Road in IEE @RS EERME  accommodation
the north Al and catering and
South Side of South Jinchang Road RESEEMK - BE  commercial and
Chencun Town, Shunde District BEIL—IR - IEEMIK  financial usage
Foshan City, Guangdong Province & L EBRE FERMGBRETE T
The PRC BER  BHELER
Guangzhou (M)
Jinshan Valley Fei E Ling 2l Residential and May 2019
EAIIE Zhongcun Town BRA commercial —E—NFHA
Shatou Street BT FEREE
Panyu District 8@
Guangzhou City DI BN ARG
Guangdong Province
The PRC
Huambo Huambo Business District 2l Commercial September 2016
B Nancun Town ERE [EES ZE—XREFNA
Panyu District EIN T
Guangzhou City 8@
Guangdong Province FAFTER
The PRC BEn%E
China Merchants Yongjing The north of No. KS3-2 Gui Hua Road and =] Residential and October 2018

Wan (formerly known as
“Sino-Singapore Guangzhou
Knowledge City”)

RS (R
[ FR M N8 1)

to the east of the northern extension lane
of No. KS4-4 Road at Zhongxin Guangzhou
Zhishicheng Nangibu District

The PRC

RPN AN 58 R
FIEmKS3-257 48 BB A
i+ KS4-45% BE LT 43
AR
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWRDN

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Property Development Business (continued)

¥TEOE )
EERRER (F)

Actual/expected
completion date

(Year/Month)
BB
Project Existing usage b3 A=k
=gz Address I hE BERR (F&/R)
Chongqing (EE)
Changjiahui Danzishi Nan'an District AR Residential and August 2021
ExfE Chongging City BE™ commercial —E-—%)\A
The PRC EREEFA FEREHE
Evian River Bay Eastern side of Babin Road 22l Residential and April 2020
RET and northern side of EEM commercial —E-TFIMA
Neihuan Expressway ErE FEREE
Banan District BB R
Chonggqing City AR B Al
The PRC
Central Avenue Standard Sub-zone F 2l Residential and August 2024
NEKE Lianglu Zone BEEM commercial —ZZIENA
Yubei District ipid FEREE
Chongaing City MRS EEFZE D &
The PRC
Jin Xing Hui Xiao Qu East of Yu Ao Da Dao FE Residential and July 2017
SREME/ R and west of BEM commercial —T—tF+tA
Jian Bei Si zhi Lu A FEREE
Jiang Bei District AR AR A -
Chongging City 320 3% 2% 7 A
The PRC
China Merchants Yundi Nanping Business Centre, 2] Residential and September 2020
BEEER Nanan District, BEM commercial —EZTFHA
Chongging, [E2p=dd= FEREZE
The PRC FAT R
Nanjing & Jurong
(BERER)
Zijinshan No.1 Northeast corner of Zhongshanmen Avenue /@ Residential and November 2013
L& and Taiyangcheng Road TEEERT commercial —E—=F+—A
Qixia District EER TEREE
Nanjing City Jiangsu Province AL PR T ER
The PRC KESMIERIL B
Yonghuafu Southeast corner of Yikang EF' Residential December 2015
T Road and Taishan Road IEEERT = —T-h&F+=A
Jianye District je)
Nanjing City Jiangsu Province TR RRRE B
The PRC TR B
Mr. Mountain South of 12th Xue Road R Residential June 2016
FHILERR east of Wushi Road TEEEART F= —E—REXA
High-tech Park TE&
Jiangning District =mE
Nanjing City Jiangsu Province 2+ KR
The PRC TEEIEIAR
Evian County East of 7th Guihuajing Road Jiangning i E Residential December 2016
KEED Airport Industrial District IEEEAT F= —T—R"F+=A
Nanjing City Jiangsu Province TEEBREE
The PRC HBIEEIRIAR
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BERENWmRD

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Property Development Business (continued)

¥ OE )
EiERRER (F)

Actual/expected
completion date

(Year/Month)
BB fEE
Project Existing usage YR B H
b=z Address I hE BERR (& /R)
Evian Huafu West of Jing 5th Road in phrase 2 i E Residential and June 2019
REERT Maigaogjiao Street IERAE AT commercial —E—NFRA
Qixia District Nanjing City Jiangsu Province &R FEREE
The PRC BREEERL
T — EATE
The Orchid Ravine East of Xing Huo Bei Lu I Residential and September 2018
KILEARTER and south of Yong Xin Lu TEREERM commercial —=—-N\FhA
Pukou Gaoxin Zone SHARHE FEREE
Nanjing City Jiangsu Province =514 383
The PRC FHTEE AR
Century Taoyuan The east to South Rehe Road in the west, 2l Residential and August 2020
{43 Bk E from Chaha’er Road in the south to TEEERmSiER - commercial —E-TFN\A
Nanjing No.52 Middle School in the REZRE BEREW EEkEs
north, Gulou District, Nanjing City R mEEmEE
Jiangsu Province IEEZEERMERTZH
The PRC =
China Merchants East of Baosi Road PEIE#RE AR T Commercial and June 2020
International E City south of Jingjiu Road EEEEIEEA residential TE-TEXRA
R EERER Baohua Town LNBEE A BEREE
Jurong City
Jiangsu Province
The PRC
Nanjing G73 A piece of land (Lot Guo 3 Ban 5), FET#REm A M/ LEE Commercial and June 2021
MR G73 Metro Town, Qilin Street, Jiangning District, #7808 residential —E-—%XA
Nanjing, Jiangsu Province NEBI3YES 1 BMEREE
The PRC
Xi‘an(BER)
Evian Qujiang South of Jinyang Road [ Residential and June 2020
(REghT east of Xinkaimen South Road G PiEETibail commercial —E=TFXA
north of Chuangyi Avenue and #hT R FEREE
west of Xikang Highway ©F B AR
West Fudao PR AR
Qujiang New District BIZRE AL
Xi‘an City Shanxi Province PO = R PO I8 AT
The PRC
North of Chuangyi Avenue 2]
west of Xikang Highway PREEE LT
Quijiang New District HTHE
Xi'an City Shannxi Province BIZRE AL
The PRC PR EIAT
East of Xinkaimen South Road =2
Qujiang New District iRy
Xi‘an City Shanxi Province HT 3
The PRC HBAPIREIAR
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWRDN

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Property Development Business (continued)

Contracted sales

For the year of 2017, the Group, together with its associated
companies and joint venture companies, recorded contracted sales
amount of approximately RMB24,156,757,000 in aggregate from five
cities and the contracted sales area in aggregate was approximately
1,382,636 sg.m..

2017 contracted sales in area by region (sq.m.)

R tFRHBESRHEEER(TEK)

Foshan Nanjing & Jurong

il MRRAR

26% (363,182) *336,428)
Chongging
Xi'an oz
ar 25% (339,384
FH % ( )
10% (132,355) .

Guangzhou
=
15% (211,287)

Xi'an

z
5% (1,146)

Guangzhou

27% (6,557)

¥ E @)

EihERBERHE)

ERHE

RZTBE—tFR AEEEREBHERRAREE
TEESTEAAATMZARBEEAEHNARE
24,156,757,0007t * A RHE LA TELA1,382,636

2017 contracted sales amount by region (RMB million)
—EtFRHECRFEESHE(AREEET)

Nanjing & Jurong
ARkAR
33% (7,958)

Foshan

Bl
18% (4,250)

BEM Chongging
-

17% (4,246)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BERENWmRD

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
Property Development Business (continued)
Newly Acquired Land Bank

During the year of 2017, the newly acquired lands over which the
Group has a majority control as at 31 December 2017 are as follows:

¥ 0 EE o)

it E R ()

i £ s S

RoB-tFE BE-R-EFT-A=-A
AR B R AT BRI LT

Total Average

Total Total permissible land

Projects BB consideration site area area premium
T i AAE BEERE BIREE Figith 8

(RMB million) (sq.m.) (sg.m.) (RMB/sq.m.)

(AE# (ANR#T/

BET (FAK) (FFRK) FEFK)

Foshan Gaoming #8115 88 135 60,122 90,183 1,500
Foshan Jiujiang LT 2,015 81,357 231,867 8,690
Chongging China Merchants Yundi & 187 = &8 581 11,312 89,365 6,501
Foshan Sanshui Ll =K 1,614 70,500 225,600 7.154
Nanjing Jiangning District MULER 2,240 91,000 220,200 10,174
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENmRE DM

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Property Development Business (continued)

Foshan

In 2017, contracted sales amount in Foshan was approximately
RMB4,250 million and contracted sales area was 363,182 sq.m. As
at 31 December 2017, total GFA of the Group’s projects in Foshan
reached 4,326,208 sq.m. and the saleable GFA in the future with
amount to 1,443,710 sq.m.

In 2017, sales of the Group’s projects in Foshan mainly comprised of
Evian Xicheng and Evian Tianhui:

—  Evian Xicheng is the Company’s first project located in Shishan
Town which will be developed into a high-quality residential
community. Comprising of individual villas, semi-detached
houses and high-rise apartments, the first ecological living
community in Shishan Town will be established along the
hillside, which is featured with Spanish style and luxurious design
including three-room boutique apartment of 90 sq.m. to luxury
townhouse of 200 sg.m.

—  Located at Nanping South Road of Guicheng, Nanhai, Foshan,
Evian Tianhui is a one of the few top luxurious residential
projects on sale in Qiandeng Lake, Guicheng, Nanhai District.
The sample room on the 30th floor of block 5 enables buyers to
experience a magnificent lake view room with an area of 260
sg.m., 6 meters height plus horizontal living room. The spacious
room with baronial style makes the project to be known for an
excellent design among luxurious properties in Qiandeng Lake.
Such 6 meters height x 8.1 meters width room coupled with
splendorous design resembles an impressive palace, in which
bedrooms, living rooms and study rooms are all facing south,
showing a panoramic view of Qiandeng Lake.

Computerised photo of Foshan Evian Tianhui
BILKEREBRE

¥ 0 EE o)

EihERBERHE)

1l

ZE—EF BLUZARABEESENAARE
4,250,000,000 7T - & [Fl 8 & M 1& /& 363,182 F /7
Ko R-B—+EFE+-A=+—0 KEENFELT
FIIE B A A EMEIES, 326,208 F 5K » RKAI S5
HAEFEAGIE,443,710F 5% -

ST+ F  AREABLUKEHER X EERER
9 R A B I -

- KEBW ERARFE —EEAMLUNIE
B BAORELFRMESRENEERLR
HEMERHE  EPHIENSEEEMAMK
TEMLEREREERER - HEKILZT
ERRTRABNREHRE - NRERBIEN0
FHOREVN=EHEm P R E|200°F 7 OKEY SR EEF
B

— KREXREEZLBLUTEESENREFERRE @ F
ARERERTERRROBEENTERTE
BRREKRE - EEMNSEI0BEFIRE X
BEER D260 F K T B KK SE + 12
ERNEE  TMEEHEMAE mARK  #
BTEBELARERRZIE - 6KSE - 8.1K
MR R G228k THEAESER
Ef - BEEEE-RBE KB EEPRMAR
BERD TREHSC—EMEE-

Computerised photo of Foshan China Merchants Xi‘an
BB R BURE

T EFFH AEAREHERAR
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENWR DM

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Property Development Business (continued)

Guangzhou

In 2017, contracted sales amount in Guangzhou was approximately
RMB6,557 million and contracted sales area was 211,287 sq.m., As at
31 December 2017, total GFA of the Group's projects in Guangzhou
reached 1,799,295 sg.m. and the saleable GFA in the future will
amount to 517,922 sq.m.

Guangzhou Yonghuafu project has a site area of 56,000 sq.m., a
gross floor area of 169,000 sgq.m. and a plot ratio of 3.0. Situated
in the third core district of Guangzhou where the Olympic Sports
Center is located, the project is a low-density, large-scaled ecological
residential community. Under the current plan, there will be 11
high-rise apartment buildings and 23 originally designed MINI villas,
equipped with a double five-star standard central garden and outdoor
swimming pool.

EX G- 1E )

EihERRERHE)

BEM

ZE—tF ENZEARBEERENRARE
6,557,000,0007C © & R $H EEIE /211,287 F 75
KeBE_ZT—+tF+_A=1+—8  KEEREM
TMHIB B BELE®MEE,799,295F 5K » REKAE
MR A517,922F 5K o

EMNEEFEBEMHNS6EFT K BEEREY
16.98F K REEA3.0 URBEME =P
HEERZRE  ERABHAE  SHEEEERR -
BRIAEIBEREEFE - 23/ RAI R MINIEE ZE
Mmoo HEEFEROFHREN - EINKOH -

Computerised photo of Guangzhou Yonghuafu
BN ZE 2 T R B

Computerised photo of Guangzhou Yonghuafu
BEINEENBRE
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWE D

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Property Development Business (continued)

Chongqing

In 2017, contracted sales amount in Chongging was approximately
RMB4,246 million and contracted sales area was 339,384 sg.m. As at
31 December 2017, total GFA of the Group’s projects in Chongging
reached 4,074,178 sq.m. and the saleable GFA in the future will
amount to 2,798,269 sq.m.

In 2017, sales of the Group's projects in Chongging mainly comprised
of Changjiahui, Central Avenue and Jin Xing Hui Xiao Qu:

—  Changjiahui is an urban complex project comprising multi-
commercial facilities. Located at the junction of Chang Jiang and
Jia Ling Jiang, and the centre of CBD at Nanbin Road, which is
within the same proximity where the CBD of Chongqing People’s
Liberation Monument and the CBD of Jiang Bei Zui are situated.
It has now become the convergence of commercial and financial
golden delta featuring international trends and characteristics in
Chonggqing.

¥ E @)

EihERBERHE)

Y]

I +F  EECZARBEESHENAARE
4,246,000,0007C © & [F #5 & ™ 75 /5 339,384 F 7
KoHEZEZ—tF+_A=+—B AEBMRER
MHIE B AL EEEAL,074,178F K RKAJ &
FEAMIENSA2,798,269F 5K o

—TtF AREREEZHERBEIZEERS
[ AEXERBEE DR

- RREAZEXREBENNMMFAARER
REITEEFERTREZ T » MR F A CBDF
& HELARHRAECBD ~ JTIL W CBDE AN FE -
KTEEDRASABBR(CEBERENDHES
ME=APL -

Computerised photo of Chongging Changjiahui
EEREEURE
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEFWE D

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
Property Development Business (continued)
Chonggqing (continued)

Located at the Standard Sub-zone F, Lianglu Zone, Yubei District,
Chongging, the Central Avenue is a comprehensive community
with residences, retails and office functions covering a total site
area of 40 hectares, where New Aerial Port City is situated. The
Central Avenue is in proximity to Conference and Convention
Centre, Chongging International Expo Centre. This region is
assessable by convenient transportation network. Meanwhile
there are several stops of Light Rail Line 3 and 6 in New Aerial
Port City and Central Avenue is close to the panoramic Central
Park.

Jin Xing Hui Xiao Qu is mainly a residential project comprising
three high-rise buildings, one block of sky shops and frontage
shops. Located at the International Commerce and Trade
Headquarters within the Guanyingiao Commercial Center as well
as the junction of Yao Zi Qiu and Xiao Yuan Pian Qu, the project
links Yu Ao Avenue and all key hot spots. There are commercial,
parks, education, medical facilities as well as supermarkets and
hotels nearby which satisfy various needs in everyday life.

¥ OE )
Eith R 8 ()
BB ()

RERNBAERE BENRIR—BNEE
HE - UREETmRLERKABEFMRED R
W ERHEELA0AE - HIEEEE I - i
BarRTL BEEEREEEDL  ZRERE
B - EHIRR - 6WBRETEFBANELRE
muh - AERKEEMBEENTRAE -

BEENEFERIEER A=ZHaE  —
REPRBNEEEHAEN - ZHEUREE
BrEE ERmEeE]  SFziE/)nh
BRAE  KEONEANE  ERIERAMRE
o BMEEERE  RE HE BE B
moOBEESH—EER  ZEMREREES
ZHAFK

Computerised photo of Chongging Central Avenue
EEFRERBRRE
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENmRE DM

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Property Development Business (continued)

Nanjing and Jurong

In 2017, contracted sales amount in Nanjing and Jurong was
approximately RMB7,958 million and contracted sales area was
336,428 sq.m. As at 31 December 2017, total GFA of the Group’s
projects in Nanjing and Jurong reached 1,971,221 sg.m. and the
saleable GFA in the future will amount to 641,934 sq.m.

In 2017, strong sales of the Group's projects in Nanjing and Jurong
mainly comprised of The Orchid Garden and Yulan Fu:

—  Located in Gulou District and Yan Road, the Orchid Garden is a
residential urban complex project with an area of 550,000 sg.m.
It is the largest urban complex in Nanjing so far, and it also has
the most powerful driving energy.

— Yulan Fu is situated at the Eastern Avenue of Pukou District.
Overturning the original image of Jiangbei where there is
rigid demands, the project has been designed as a brand-
leading high-end real estate which adopts domestic advance
technologies and brands for all components from decoration
standard, level of scenic beauty, facade,hardened flooring to
information technologies. High investment has been devoted to
create an excellent high-end property, providing a new choice for
citizens in Jiangbei.

Computerised photo of Nanjing Yulan Fu
ERREN iy el

¥ 0 EE o)

EihERBERHE)
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Computerised photo of Nanjing China Merchants International E city
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENWR DM

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Property Development Business (continued)

Xi'an

In 2017, contracted sales amount in Xi'an was approximately
RMB1,146 million and contracted sales area was 132,355 sq.m., As at
31 December 2017, total GFA of the Group’s projects in Xi‘an reached
538,534 sg.m. and the saleable GFA in the future will amount to
330,806 sg.m.

Evian Qujiang is a residential project located at the second phase of
Quijiang New Town, Xi‘an., connected to Nan San Huan, Hangtai Main
Road and in proximity to Subway Line 4. The project is close to the top
three parks in the city. It only takes 10 minutes’ drive to directly access
the core of the first phase of Qujiang, which caters for diversified
needs such as shopping, entertainment, and food and beverage.

EX G- 1E )

EihERRERHE)

AR

RZT—LF ATHNEGRBEEBORARE
1,146,000,0007T * iM& REEMEER132,355F 75
KoR—BE—FF+-F=+—H AEEEALH
THH AR EmEEER538,534F 5K - MAKAIERE
EEIE 5330,806F K ©

WEMTIAEEERE LR THINE 8 - &
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Computerised photo of Xi‘an Evian Qujiang
AR KB TIRRE
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENmRE DM

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Electronic Trading Business and Property Related
Procurement Business

The Group will balance the synergies in property related procurement
business and the main business in property development to determine
the resources to be allocated to the trading procurement business.

FINANCIAL AND TREASURY MANAGEMENT
PRINCIPLES

As at 31 December 2017, the net assets attributable to owners
of the Company amounted to RMB7,414,598,000 (2016:
RMB5,993,416,000).

In June 2015, the Company’s direct wholly-owned subsidiary
completed the issuance of the guaranteed convertible bonds due
in June 2020 (credit enhanced until July 2018) in the aggregate
principal amount of US$290,000,000 bearing coupon rate at 0.50%
per annum (“Convertible Bonds”). In December 2013, the Group
completed the issuance of five-year term credit enhanced bonds in
the aggregate principal amount of US$500,000,000 bearing coupon
rate of 4.021% per annum (“Bond”). The rates of the Convertible
Bonds and the Bond, which are fixed and unchanged during their
subsisting period, bear simple interest rather than compound interest
and the interest are payable half-yearly. Both the Convertible Bonds
and the Bond are listed on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”), since 24 June 2015 and 12 December 2013
respectively. The fund raised from the issuance of the Convertible
Bonds and the Bond are for the purpose of general corporate use.

Holders of the Bond exercised redemption right to redeem the Bond
with an aggregate principal amount of US$500,000 during the
period from 1 June 2016 to 30 June 2016. The redemption had been
settled on 14 July 2016 and had no impact to the capital usage of the
Company.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENWR DM

FINANCIAL AND TREASURY MANAGEMENT
PRINCIPLES (continued)

As at 31 December 2017, bank balances and cash was
RMB5,100,692,000 (2016: RMB5,810,922,000). In terms of
currency denomination, bank balances and cash can be divided
into RMB5,087,647,000 in Renminbi, RMB3,140,000 in US$ and
RMB9,905,000 in HK$.

As at 31 December 2017, total interest-bearing debt of the
Group was RMB15,233,460,000 (2016: RMB14,684,380,000).
In terms of maturity, the outstanding total interest-bearing debt
(excluding the Convertible Bonds and the Bonds) can be divided into
RMB6,502,035,000 repayable within one year, RMB896,118,000
repayable after one year but within two years and RMB2,911,877,000
repayable after two years but within five years. In terms of currency
denomination, the outstanding total interest-bearing debt can be
divided into RMB9,653,525,000 in Renminbi and RMB5,579,935,000
in US$.

At 31 December 2017, the Group's net interest-bearing debt (total
interest-bearing debt minus bank balances and cash) to equity ratio
(including non-controlling interests) (the “net gearing ratio”) was
47% (2016: 63%). Although the financial position of the Group is
stable and the potential financing capacity is strong, the Group will
continue to take the relatively stable financial policies and to control
the net gearing ratio at the industry average level.

The monetary assets and liabilities and business transactions of the
Group are mainly carried and conducted in RMB, US$ and HK$.
The Group maintains a prudent strategy in its foreign exchange
risk management, where foreign exchange risks are minimised via
balancing the monetary assets versus monetary liabilities. As the
Convertible Bonds and the Bond were denominated in US$, while the
Group conducts its sales, receivables, payables and expenditures in
RMB for its PRC property development business, the management will
closely monitor the volatility between RMB and US$ exchange rates
and might consider hedging should the need arises.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENmRE DM

NON-COMPETITION DEED

To minimise actual and potential competition, the Group and
China Merchants Property Development Co., Ltd. (“CMPD")(a
company merged with CMSK (as define below) in December 2016)
entered into a non-competition deed on 19 June 2013 as amended
and supplemented on 4 October 2013 (the “Non-Competition
Deed”). On 30 December 2015, the Company, CMPD and
China Merchants Shekou Industrial Zone Holdings Company
Limited (“CMSK")Note ' had entered into a deed of amendment and
novation (“Novation Deed”) pursuant to which all the obligations,
undertakings, interests and benefits of CMPD under the Non-
Competition Deed were novated to and undertaken by CMSK in
replacement of CMPD as if CMSK has been a party to the Non-
Competition Deed in substitution of CMPD with effective from 30
December 2015. Other than that, all the other terms of the Non-
Competition Deed shall remain unchangedt2,

Pursuant to the Non-Competition Deed (as amended by the Novation
Deed), (i) CMSK and its subsidiaries (excluding the Group) (“CMSK
Group”) will not compete with the Group in the cities of Foshan,
Guangzhou, Chongging and Nanjing (“Target Cities”) except for
certain operation transitional assets (“Operation Transitional Assets”)
located in three out of the four Target Cities (“Overlapping Target
Cities") which would be retained by CMSK Group but managed by the
Group under certain operation agreement entered into between the
Group and CMSK; (i) the Group will not compete with CMSK in 21
other cities in the PRC (“CMSK Cities"); (iii) and the Group will have a
right of first refusal to conduct property business in any city in which
neither CMSK nor the Group has any property business as at the date
of the Non-Competition Deed. For details of the Non-Competition
Deed, the Overlapping Target Cities, Operation Transitional Assets and
the CMSK Cities, please refer to the section headed “Relationship with
the Controlling Shareholders” in the circular of the Company dated 10
October 2013.

The independent board committee comprising all the independent
non-executive Directors of the Company, had (i) reviewed the
quarterly reports prepared by the Company’s management containing
latest information on the respective property projects portfolios
of CMSK Group and the Group; (ii) carried out a review on the
implementation of and compliance with the Non-Competition Deed
by CMSK Group and the Group during the year ended 31 December
2017; and (iii) confirmed that the terms of the Non-Competition Deed
had been complied with by CMSK Group and the Group during the
year ended 31 December 2017.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENWR DM

NON-COMPETITION DEED (continued)

The Group will continue focusing on developing its property
development business in the 4 Target Cities and the 2 new cities
entered in 2014.

Notes:

1. According to the announcements published by CMSK and CMPD on the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange, on 30 December 2015, CMSK and CMPD had completed the
major asset restructuring and integration exercise pursuant to which, among
other things, all assets, liabilities, businesses, employees, contracts and all others
rights and obligations of CMPD have been taken up and assumed by CMSK in
replacement of CMPD, CMPD was delisted from the Shenzhen Stock Exchange and
the shares of CMSK became listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, all with effect
from 30 December 2015.

2. In the above paragraphs under the heading of “Non-competition Deed”, for the
avoidance of doubt, references to CMSK should be construed as referring to CMPD
in the context of any time before 30 December 2015.

OUTLOOK AND PROSPECTS

Looking ahead in 2018, sustainable global economic growth is
anticipated. Yet the spring up of trade protectionism, expected
interest rise and the geopolitics remain risky to global economy.

As China is moving towards economic reforms with a key focus on
high quality, the long-term mechanism advocating rental housing is
imperative. It is expected that more rent-sell projects will be launched
in the first and second tier cities in 2018, while the performance of the
third and fourth tier cities will be further fallen back as the spillover
effect subsides. Under the keynote that “Houses are not built for
speculation”, together with more stringent regulation and intensified
marco-controlling policies, the comprehensively strict market controls
involving restrictions on housing purchases, loans, prices and sales will
continue. A new era for the real estate industry of China is going to
kick off in an orderly manner in 2018.

Adhering to the principle of “sustained intensive engagement and
innovative development”, the Group will continue to develop its
business by leveraging on the abundant inventory resources of China
Merchants Group and CMSK and fully capitalizing on the advantages
of overseas listing, so as to facilitate corporate transformation as well
as active exploration and grasping of market opportunities.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENmRE DM

EMPLOYEE REMUNERATION AND RELATIONS

The Group remunerates the employees by reference to their
qualifications, experience, responsibilities, profitability of the Group
and current market conditions.

As at 31 December 2017, the Group had 726 (2016: 661) employees
in the PRC and Hong Kong.

The Group determines its staff remuneration based on factors such as
qualifications, year of experience, market conditions and performance
of the individual employees. A share option scheme was adopted at
the annual general meeting of the Company held on 27 September
2011 (the “2011 Share Option Scheme"”) for the purpose of providing
incentives and rewards to eligible participants who have contributed
to the success of the Group’s operations. No grants under the 2011
Share Option Scheme were made during the year ended 31 December
2017.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

RE - BRERRE

This report covers the environmental, policies and performance
of the Company during the year ended 31 December 2017. The
Environmental, Social and Corporate Governance Report prepared in
accordance with Appendix 27 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) will be published on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange in due course.

GREEN CONSTRUCTION

We have combined the community and environment requirements
into the construction process and conducted investigations in depth
with our cooperative partners to improve construction management
and innovate construction technology. We would consider using
materials available from the neighborhood as much as possible and
to reduce the consumption of materials, energy and water in the
course of construction for creating a clear, clean, comfortable and safe
construction environment. Besides, we also launched a “Harmonious
Neighborhood Scheme” to extensively collect the opinions from the
residents who live nearby with an aim to doing our best to reduce the
effects of construction works on the surrounding natural, cultural and
social environments.

GREEN OFFICE

We have formulated the “Green action guide for employee” to
strengthen the daily management of energy saving and emission
reduction and carry out the education in every corner and to every
employee, making the idea of green development deeply rooted in
their mind to develop the habits of saving energy, water, papers, oil
and gas.

CO-OPERATION WITH INTERNATIONAL
ORGANISATIONS

We build up close ties and co-operative connections with international
organisations like UNEP, UNEP-SBCI, UNEP GI-REC, WWF to combine
each other’s edges to promote the sustainable development.

* For identification purpose only

46 CHINA MERCHANTS LAND LIMITED Annual Report 2017

ARERERE-_T—EF T _A=1T—"HLEER
REZRE  BREERE - REBBBERSHME
BRABI([EERPT])ES LR S27ER 2R
B e REEREAME BERFRA R R K P8
UE T o

BT

B EFRES KA TRE  BEeRAESE
RORAFRTE - okiE TEIR - g3 T - F|ATee
EZEFEEM - R T BREP YT - gEFEEK
FoOBERF - BR R ZENEIIRE - I
BlESTE  BrBEREERER  BHREKEL
HRABBARE AURE HQRFERNTE -

Brepn

BAHIECR TARRITRIES]) - (EAE AT hNoREnsE
BPEREER  UKEEHETHISEAENESR
BT RESEEREREETILY - PREEEH
B FiK - BRAR - Bl - ETREVEIE o

HEREESE

B i S BURIR R EIF (UNEP) ~ ATRFERSEIA
{R{E#E 2 (UNEP-SBCI) ~ BREIOAM M 2R E S
(UNEP GI-REC) * R B AES S (WWF)ZEI RS
BURYNBEESIERR  BEELZERERE
BER o

* (EXE A



ENVIRONMENTAL, POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

RS - BERRERHR

SAFE AND CIVILISED CONSTRUCTION

The headquarters of the Company has set up a Safety Management
Committee. Each project has established its own safety management
team to proactively promote the standardised management of safe
and civilised construction so as to protect the health and safety of
every front line construction workers and back office staff with best
efforts.

REINFORCEMENT OF SAFE AND CIVILISED
CONSTRUCTION MANAGEMENT

We have strengthened the measures to achieve a safe and
standardised construction. We have organised and updated
management requirements and practices for safe and civilised
construction with a precise goal of safe and civilised construction
management. We have strengthened the investigation standard
for hidden dangers on-site. We carry out regular safety check and
introduce the assessment system for subcontractors in order to ensure
the worry-free construction. No fire accident, major equipment safety
and casualty accidents occurred during the year.

PURSUIT OF “ZERO” ENERGY WASTAGE IN
CONSTRUCTION

Following the consolidation process and with many years of
experience, we have gradually forged an ecological and high
efficient green technology system. The development model for green
construction was also upgraded into a comprehensive model with
combination of “Green Planning”, “Technique Application” and
“Energy Saving through Action”. In 2015, the Company built up
a green research and development and application system named
“Green Life+"” and issued the “Green Ranking Guide” and “Energy
Efficiency Management Guide” in order to continuously promote the
innovation and breakthrough of the green technology.

PROTECTING THE BIO-DIVERSITY

We have implemented the idea of protecting the bio-diversity
throughout the core process of our development and operation and
pay attention to protecting the original natural vegetation and the
habitats in the development zone during the process of planning
and project construction. Through these efforts, we systematically
repair the eco-system which is degenerated or damaged by project
development. In addition, by building the landscape water system and
seedling transplantation according to location and situations, we can
reduce the effects of project development on local environment.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, POLICIES AND
RIR - BRERE

EQUAL EMPLOYMENT AND DIVERSITY

Our recruitment principles are on the basis of fairness, justice and
transparency. We provide every employee an equal employment
opportunity. No employee will face differential treatment for their
gender, age, ethnicity or cultural background. We try our best effort
to provide an ideal career environment for their development.

RIGHT PROTECTION OF CONSTRUCTION
WORKERS

The Company is highly concerned about the right protection of
the front line construction workers. It has incorporated a system
to evaluate the performance of potential suppliers in safeguarding
construction worker’s rights. In selecting partners, we have taken
into account the protective measures with our standard evaluation
system. We conduct regular checks and monitor contractors to ensure
they have complied with protective measures and have adequately
implemented the policies, with a view to safeguard the rights of
construction workers.

Wages Guarantee
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Safety Guarantee
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Require the general contractor to open a specialised
account for depositing of workers' wages and deposit
the wages in advance
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Implement real-name system management for workers,
establish an alert mechanism for worker’s wage and
inspect regularly on the payment of worker’s wage by
the construction cooperation units
EMIANEZHEE  BUYTIATEEEKS - 5
BESIERTEMMNTATEERIER

Require the general contractor to pay the wages
of its own workers in priority and consider this as a
compulsory check item in the annual review of qualified
suppliers
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Deploy facilities for safety production and industrial
diseases protection pursuant to the requirements and
provide compliant protective equipment for workers
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Construction unit must execute their works according
to construction practice guidelines on site, and simple
medical facility must be equipped on site
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Strictly implement the Company’s three-tier safety
education system and prevent the occurrence of workers
attending for work without receiving the three-tier
safety education
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ENVIRONMENTAL, POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

RS - BERRERHR

BUILDING UP RESPONSIBLE SUPPLY CHAIN

As the Company regards supply chain competitiveness as one of the
core corporate competitiveness, we have maintained supply chain
management strategy of balancing between quality and efficiency.
Through the standardised and specialised suppliers’ closed-loop
management system and open communication sharing mechanism
between suppliers, we strived to build up a responsible supply chain,
to facilitate and strengthen for mutual interests with the enterprises in
the supply chain.

SAFEGUARD THE INTERESTS OF SUPPLIERS

We have maintained a concept of purchasing under a transparent
and open regime, and hence we have strengthened tendering process
and enhanced the standardisation and specialisation of tendering.
We have strived to explore new paths for purchasing information and
have stringently complied with the contracts, and have safeguarded
the basic rights of suppliers with fairness, justice and openness.

ASSESSMENT AND REVIEW OF SUPPLIERS

We highly recognised a long-term cooperation relationship with our
suppliers and has built up a positive cycle of general purchasing,
annual cooperation and strategic purchasing. We have enhanced the
comprehensiveness and closed-loop management for certification,
selection, examination and assessment towards suppliers from
different levels and types. We have identified and fostered possible
strategic relation with our suppliers through the ERP Purchasing
Management Platform.

UPGRADE OF SUPPLIERS’ CAPABILITIES

The stable operation of the Company and long-term development
are supported by the high-quality supply chain, which also favors
the core concept of our corporation and implementation of our
social responsibilities. We will help the suppliers to enhance their
competitiveness, achieve a mutual development with suppliers and
create a continuous win-win approach and development through
various measures and activities. From unilateral examination to
bilateral examination, we invite professional consultant agency
to conduct satisfaction research to suppliers from engineering,
marketing, design and properties and put their feedback into the
evaluation of the project management. We also build a monthly report
system for key suppliers and have senior management conducting
on-site visit for key suppliers and regularly invite outstanding
partners to share their sophisticated experience in order to mutually
improve the ability to perform both parties’ duties. Meanwhile, we
endeavor to cultivate strategic suppliers with high quality for long-
term cooperation. For those suppliers with high quality, they will be
registered in our selected unit automatically and entitled to higher
percentage of payments upon goods delivered and awarded with
public recognition. For existing issues, we will sort out corresponding
solutions one by one.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

RE - BRERRE

REMUNERATION BENEFITS

While ensuring the market competitiveness of our employees’
remunerations, we implement the remuneration system closely
linked with performance to further create an environment where
the interests of the Company and employees are aligned. Under
the principles of complying with the requirements of the laws and
regulations and providing our employees with assurance, we build a
comprehensive benefit system with multiple levels to ensure a stable
growth and development for our employees.

Subject to shareholders’ approval at general meeting, the emoluments
are determined by the Board of Directors of the Company by reference
to the qualification, experience, job duties, responsibilities and
performance and results of the Group and market conditions. Details
of Directors’ and Chief Executive’s and Employee’s Emoluments are
set out in note 11 to the consolidated financial statements.

DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING

We embrace the core values of the Company to build an
appropriate talent development strategy and talent promotion path,
comprehensively promote a multi-level employees training system,
strive to provide a broad platform for employee’s development and
achieve the goal of enterprise development on the basis of employee’s
development.

EMPLOYEES' DEVELOPMENT PATH

We emphasise the professional and occupational growth of
the employees, and we provide the employees with two major
development paths of managerial talent and professional technical
talent. Employees can choose the development path according to
their own career development direction incorporated with the position
requirement of the Company to realise a win-win situation on both
the Company’s development and the employee’s development.

STAFF TRAINING

We have been maximising the inputs on staff training and accelerating
the optimisation of staff training system. After years of fulfillment,
optimisation and innovation, we have developed a staff training
system with three main elements, which are leadership, professional
capability and general performance, in order to provide a favorable
platform for staff’s development.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

RS - BERRERHR

COMMUNICATION WITH EMPLOYEES

With a view to enhance communication between the staff and the
management, the Group requires every project company to organise
different types of face-to-face communication seminar regularly
throughout the year. Our staff can share their ideas and needs to
the management directly while they can get an instant responses.
Furthermore, it was a brilliant time for the management to point out
their objective and vision to their staff. These seminars can strengthen
both parties’ mutual understandings and break any barriers between
them.

SHAREHOLDERS’ AND INVESTORS’
RELATIONSHIPS

Shareholders’ and investors’ relationships are set out in the section
headed “Corporate Governance Report” on page 81 to 99 of this
annual report.

OPERATION IN COMPLIANCE WITH LAW

The Company strictly complies with the national laws and regulations,
international practices and business ethics, and fulfills the theme
of the central government and China Merchants Group — “Three-
Strictness and Three-Solidness (=& =&)" to strengthen the practice
of building and establishing the implementation of responsibility
and promote the culture of corruption-free and prevention and
punishment system comprehensively. We will consciously accept the
supervision from relevant authorities and strive to become a good
example of operating in compliance with the law and with honesty

and integrity.

The Company is concerned about the establishment of a corporate
legal advising system and has strengthened the legal culture and
research development. The Company has promoted the compliance
works and integration of operation management, so as to enable the
operation of the Company to be in compliance with the applicable law
requirements and contemporary corporate governance requirements
and interests from relevant parties.

We have introduced specific training programmes that meet with
industry’s requirement, with a view to enhance the legal awareness of
our employees, in particular the frontline staff.

We will introduce two-rounds of on-site inspections and promote the
legal risk awareness while building up the precaution mechanism of
legal disputes and achieving an efficient and in advance control of
legal risks.
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STRENGTHENING RISK CONTROL

With a view to achieve strategic targets, we have developed a risk
management system on the basis of forward-looking and systematised
comprehensiveness, which can also serve as a platform connecting to
the risk management system of the professional departments covering
operating level and business level. Meanwhile, we will gradually
incorporate the non-financial risks management systems, including
environmental protection and anti-corruption, into the comprehensive
risk management system and these can further reduce the potential
risks in the operation processes of the Company.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHRSE

The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of China
Merchants Land Limited (the “Company”, and together with its
subsidiaries, the “Group”) are pleased to present to the shareholders
their report together with the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Group for year ended 31 December 2017 (the
"Year").

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
subsidiaries are engaged in the following principal activities:

(i) development, sale, lease, investment and management of
properties; and

(i) sales of electronic and electrical related products and sales of
building related materials and equipment.

Details of the principal activities of the Company’s subsidiaries are set
out in note 41 to the financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The Group's profit for the Year and the state of affairs of the
Company and of the Group as at that date are set out in the financial
statements on page 110.

The Board recommend the payment of a final dividend of HK$0.1
(2016: HK$0.045) per ordinary share. The final dividend will be paid
on or about 1 June 2018 to shareholders whose names appear on the
register of members of the Company on 11 May 2018.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the Year, which
includes an analysis of the Group’s performance using financial key
performance indicators, a discussion on the Group’s future business
development are set out in the section headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis” on page 23 to 45 of this annual report.
The financial risk management objectives and policies of the Group
are set out in note 36 to the consolidated financial statements. The
principal risks and uncertainties that the Group may face, particulars
of important events affecting the Company that have occurred
since the end of the financial year, and an indication of likely future
development in the Company's business are set out in the section
headed “Chairman’s Statement” on page 5 to 8 of this annual report.
A discussion on the Group’s environmental policies and relationships
with its key stakeholders and investors are set out in the sections
headed “Environmental, Policies and Performance” on page 46 to
page 52 of this annual report. An analysis of the Group’s performance
indicators is set out in the Group’s Five-Year Financial Summary on
page 260 of this annual report. The compliance with relevant laws and
regulations which have significant impact on the Group is set out in
this Directors’ report. The reviews form part of this statement.

SUBSIDIARY CORPORATIONS

Particulars of the Company'’s principal subsidiary corporations and
associated corporations as at 31 December 2017 are set out in Note
42 to the consolidated financial statements respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and of
the Group during the Year are set out in note 46 to the financial
statements and in the consolidated statement of changes in equity,
respectively.

The Directors consider that the Company’s reserves available for
distribution to shareholders amounted to RMB5,182,067,000 (2016:
RMB6,115,118,000). Under Chapter 22 of the Companies Law
(Revised) of the Cayman Islands, the share premium of the Company is
available for paying distributions or dividends to shareholders subject
to the provisions of its Memorandum and Articles of Association and
provided that immediately following the distribution of dividend the
Company is able to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course
of business.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the Year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiary
corporations purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s
listed securities.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The aggregate purchases attributable to the Group’s five largest
suppliers were less than 30% of total purchases.

Aggregate sales attributable to the Group's five largest customers
were less than 30% of total turnover.

As far as the Directors are aware of, neither the Directors, their close
associates (as defined in the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules")),
nor any shareholders which, to the knowledge of the Directors, own
more than 5% of the Company's issued share capital, had any interest
in the Group's five largest customers or suppliers.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results, assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years, as extracted from the audited financial
statements and restated as appropriate, is set out on page 260. This
summary does not form part of the audited financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the Year are set out in note 14 to the consolidated
financial statements.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of movements in the investment properties of the Group
during the Year are set out in note 15 to the consolidated financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital during the Year
are set out in note 31 to the consolidated financial statements.
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CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
The Group had contingent liabilities amounted to RMB3,572,819,000
as at 31 December 2017 (31 December 2016: RMB3,636,746,000).

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2017, land located in Chongging and Jurong
with carrying values of approximately RMB430,008,000 (2016:
RMB362,110,000) have been pledged to secure bank borrowings
amounting to RMB152,000,000 (2016: RMB170,000,000) granted to
the Group.

BORROWINGS

Details of the borrowings of the Group are set out in note 28 to the
consolidated financial statements.

BONDS

Details of the bonds of the Group are set out in note 29 to the
consolidated financial statements.

CONVERTIBLE BONDS

Details of the convertible bonds of the Group are set out in note 30 to
the consolidated financial statements.

RETIREMENT SCHEMES

Details of the retirement scheme of the Group are set out in note 34
to the consolidated financial statements.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption available
to the shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s
securities.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the Year and up to the date of
this report were:

Non-executive Directors:
Mr. XU Yongjun

Mr. HUANG Junlong

Dr. YAN Chengda

Ms. LIU Ning

Executive Directors:
Dr. SO Shu Fai

Mr. YU Zhiliang

Mr. WONG King Yuen

Independent non-executive Directors:
Dr. WONG Wing Kuen, Alert

Ms. CHEN Yanping

Dr. SHI Xinping

Mr. HE Qi

In accordance with Article 116 of the Company’s Articles of
Association, Mr. HUANG Junlong, Ms. LIU Ning, Ms. CHEN Yanping
and Mr. HE Qi shall retire at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting
to be held on 27 April 2018 (“AGM"). All the above retiring Directors,
being eligible, shall offer themselves for re-election at the AGM. The
Company has received annual confirmations of independence from
each of the independent non- executive Directors pursuant to Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers all of the independent non-
executive Directors to be independent.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS THAT HAVE A SIGNIFICANT
IMPACT ON THE COMPANY

Throughout the Year, to the best of their knowledge, information and
belief, the Directors were not aware of any non-compliance by the
Company with any relevant laws and regulations that had a significant
impact on the Company.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Insurance cover in respect of liability against the Directors arising from
their offices and execution of their powers, duties and responsibilities
has been arranged and in force during the Year.

DONATIONS

During the Year, the Group had not made any donation.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming AGM has
an unexpired service contract which is not determinable by the Group
within one year without payment of compensation, other than normal
statutory obligations.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

OF THE COMPANY OR ITS ASSOCIATED
CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2017, the interests and short positions of each
Director and chief executives of the Company in the shares or
underlying shares or debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Future Ordinance (Chapter 571) of the Laws of Hong Kong (the
“SFO")) which were required to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests
and short positions in which he was deemed or taken to have under
such provisions of the SFO), or which were required, pursuant to
section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register maintained by the
Company referred to therein, or which were required, pursuant to the
Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
contained in the Listing Rules, to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange were as follows:

Long positions in ordinary shares of the Company
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Percentage of
the Company'’s

Number of issued

ordinary share capital

Name of director Nature of interest shares held EERQATE

EEnE EREME FrEEBEREA BITREABESL

SO Shu Fai Through controlled corporations (Note) 32,054,066 0.65%
BRiG R RIS 2 AeEE (K

Note: These shares are held by Skill China Limited (”Skill China”). Fortune Alliance Group
Limited is entitled to exercise or control the exercise of more than one- third of
the voting power at general meetings (“control”) of Skill China. Hence Fortune
Alliance Group Limited is deemed to be interested in the shares held by Skill China.
Fortune Alliance Group Limited is in turn controlled by Joint profit Limited, which is
beneficially wholly-owned by Dr. SO Shu Fai, an executive Director of the Company.
Hence Dr. SO Shu Fai is deemed to be interested in the shares held by Skill China.
Skill China, Fortune Alliance Group Limited and Joint profit Limited are companies
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited liability.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

OF THE COMPANY OR ITS ASSOCIATED
CORPORATIONS (continued)

BEENESRITHRAENRAQ TSN HEE
/i 2B - HERORESFZERR
K2 m)

Long positions in underlying shares of associated HEEEHEBERO ZHR
corporation
Approximately
Number of percentage (%)
underlying in the
Shares associated
involved®°® corporation
Name of director Nature of interest XL RAEESEE >
EEnR EaEME R &R BABED(%)
XU Yongjun Beneficial owner 704,000 0.00%
FTKE EnEBA
HUANG Junlong Beneficial owner 372,000 0.00%
= BB A
LIU Ning Beneficial owner 372,000 0.00%
= E=n#EEA
YU Zhiliang Beneficial owner 200,000 0.00%
RER BB A

Note: These are the underlying shares involved in the share options granted by CMSK
(an intermediate controlling shareholder indirectly holding 3,646,889,329 shares,
representing approximately 74.35% of the issued share capital of the Company) to
Mr. XU Yongjun, Mr. HUANG Junlong, Ms. LIU Ning and Mr. YU Zhiliang.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2017, none of the
Directors or chief executives of the Company had any interest or
short positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8
of Part XV of the SFO (including the interests and short positions in
which they were deemed or taken to have under such provisions of
the SFO), or which are required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO,
to be entered in the register maintained by the Company referred
to therein, or which were required, pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers contained in the
Listing Rules, to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.

Wi - ZER G REEERR R B O (M55 53,646,889,329/%
B - MERARABEITRAZ74.35%)AFFKELE - &
HEELE - B LT RAERAER L ZBRES &2 HER

3 e

BrEXHEBEEN RZT—tF+A=+—80 #
BESYADNFEETHABRARR B SE A AHE
EE(EERBHF LB GRMNEXVE) 2 ki - 18E8
Bt sk BT B IRIER KB RAIEXVEET R
8 HAME RN A R EfMEmIXE (B

FIRBES MGG 2 B B IR X R ﬁiﬁf’ﬂ?ﬁﬁ
2R NORE) - HIREEF M EIE R HI 352157

RERZIRDIPTIE R AR TTEZ%EEFFHEPZEH%
mIORE  SHARIE ETRBIFTE EM BT AES#E
TRFRHWIZEFANAMERR B R 2T
Atz SAE -

—tFFR AEREHERAR

59



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEGHRE

ARRANGEMENTS TO ENABLE DIRECTORS TO
ACQUIRE SHARES AND DEBENTURES

Apart from the information as disclosed under the heading
“"DIRECTORS" AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES
OF THE COMPANY OR ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS", at no
time during the Year were rights to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company granted to any
of the Directors or their respective spouses or minor children, or were
any such rights exercised by them; nor was the Company, its holding
company, or any of its subsidiary corporations or fellow subsidiary
corporations a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors or
their respective spouses or minor children to acquire such rights in any
other body corporate.

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND OTHER
PERSONS IN THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2017, the following interests of 5% or more of the
issued share capital of the Company were recorded in the register of
interests required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336
of the SFO:
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Percentage of

the Company'’s
Number of ordinary shares held issued share
Capacity and nature ESEElE capital
Name of interest Long position Short position  EERAQAFEH#IT
a8 B RERNE 35} wRE RAEBDE
China Merchants Group Ltd. (“CMG") Through controlled corporations 3,646,889,329 - 74.35%
BEREBAERAR([BERHERE]) BEEE 2 AR
China Merchants Shekou Industrial Zone ~ Through controlled corporations 3,646,889,329 - 74.35%
Holdings Co., Ltd. (“CMSK")
ArERE O IERERKROERAR g /N EE Y ]
(MBawn )
Eureka Investment Company Limited Through controlled corporations 3,646,889,329 - 74.35%
("Eureka”)
hRREEEERAR([HE]) i AN SES 2]
Good Ease Holdings Limited (“Good Ease”) Through controlled corporations 729,377,866 - 14.87%
LSERBRAT(T815]) BEEE 2 DB
Success Well Investments Limited Beneficial interest 3,646,889,329 - 74.35%

("Success Well")
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND OTHER
PERSONS IN THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES OF THE COMPANY (continued)

As at 31 December 2017, approximately 74.35% of the issued share
capital of the Company was directly held by Success Well. Success
Well was owned as to 20% by Good Ease and 100% by Eureka.
Good Ease was wholly-owned by Eureka, which was in turn wholly-
owned by CMSK. CMSK was owned by CMG Limited as to 71.29%.
Accordingly, each of Good Ease, Eureka, CMSK and China Merchants
Group Limited was deemed to be interested in the shares of the
Company registered in the name of Success Well.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2017, no person other
than the Directors and chief executives of the Company whose
interests are set out in the section “INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
OF THE DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND ITS ASSOCIATED
CORPORATIONS" above, had registered an interest or short position
in the shares or underlying shares of the Company that was required
to be recorded pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS AND
DIRECTORS’ CONTRACTUAL BENEFITS

During the Year, no transactions, arrangements or contracts of
significance in relation to the Group’s business to which the Company,
its holding company or any of its subsidiary corporations was a party
and in which a Director had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the Year or at any time during the
Year.

Since the end of the previous financial year, no Director has received
or become entitled to receive a benefit by reason of a contract made
by the Company or a related company with the Director or with a firm
of which he is a shareholder or with a company in which he has a
substantial financial interest.
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CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE WITH
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

Save as disclosed in the paragraphs headed “Continuing Connected
Transactions” in this report, there were no contract of significance
between any member of the Group and a controlling shareholder
of the Company or any of its subsidiaries corporations or contract of
significance for the provision of services to any member of the Group
by a controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries subsisted as at
the end of the Year or during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the Year, all Directors declared that they do not have interests
in the businesses, which compete or are likely to compete, directly or
indirectly, with the businesses of the Group pursuant to the Listing
Rules.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The 2011 Share Option Scheme was adopted at the annual general
meeting of the Company held on 27 September 2011 for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who have
contributed to the success of the Group’s operations. No grants under
the 2011 Share Option Scheme were made during the year ended
31 December 2017. Since the adoption of the 2011 Share Option
Scheme on 27 September 2011 (“Adoption Date”) and up to and
including 31 December 2017, no share option has ever been granted
under it.

A brief summary of the terms of the 2011 Share Option Scheme is set
out below:

1. Purpose of the scheme
The purpose of the scheme is to enable the Group to grant share
options to eligible participants as incentives or rewards for their
contribution to the Group.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEgHRE

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

2.

Participants of the scheme

The Directors may within a period of ten (10) years commencing
from the 2011 Share Option Scheme make offer for the grant of
options to subscribe for Shares to eligible participants, namely,
(a) any full time employee, executive or executive director of the
Company, its subsidiaries or any entity in which any member
of the Group holds any equity interest; (b) any non-executive
directors (including independent non-executive directors) of the
Company, any subsidiary or any entity in which any member of
the Group holds any equity interest (“Invested Entity”); (c) any
supplier of goods or services to any member of the Group or any
Invested Entity; (d) any customer of any member of the Group
or any Invested Entity; (e) any person or entity that provides
research, development or other technological support to any
member of the Group or any Invested Entity; (f) any shareholder
of any member of the Group or any Invested Entity or any
holder of any securities issued by any member of the Group or
any Invested Entity; (g) any adviser (professional or otherwise)
or consultant to any area of business or business development
of any member of the Group or any Invested Entity; and (h) any
other group or classes of participants who have contributed
or may contribute by way of joint venture, business alliance or
other business arrangement to the development and growth of
the Group, and, for the purposes of the scheme, the offer may
be made to any company wholly owned by one or more eligible
participants mentioned above.

Total number of securities available for issue under
the scheme and percentage

According to the scheme mandate limit approved by the
shareholders on the Adoption Date, the Directors are authorised
to grant share options to subscribe up to 106,846,886 Shares,
representing 10% of the total number of issued shares as at
the Adoption Date. As no offer for grant of share options has
ever been made under the scheme, the total number of Shares
underlying the share options available for grant is 106,846,886
Shares, representing approximately 2% of the total number of
issued shares as at the date of this annual report. As there are
no options granted under the scheme and hence there are no
outstanding options under the scheme, the total number of
Shares available for issued under the scheme is zero.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

4,

Maximum entitlement of each participant

The total number of Shares issued and which may fall to be
issued upon exercise of the Options and the options granted
under any other share option scheme of the Group (including
both exercised or outstanding options) to each Grantee in any
12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the issued share capital
of the Company for the time being.

Period within which Shares must be taken up under
an option

The period within which the shares must be taken up under an
option shall not be later than 10 years from the date the option
is granted.

Minimum period before an option can be exercised
There is no minimum period for which an option must be held
before it can be exercised.

Amount payable on acceptance and period within
which payment must be made

HK$1.00 is payable on acceptance of the option within 21 days
from its date of grant.

Basis for determining exercise price

The exercise price in respect of any option shall, subject to any
adjustments made pursuant to the terms of scheme, be at the
discretion of the Directors, provided that it shall be at least the
highest of:

(@) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet for trade in one or more
board lots of the Shares on the date of grant;

(b) the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant; and

(c) the nominal value of a Share.

Life of the scheme

The scheme has a life of 10 years commencing from the
Adoption Date and will expire on the 10th anniversary of the
Adoption Date, namely, 27 September 2021.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEgHRE

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

W)

On 6 March 2017, a cooperation framework agreement (the
“Cooperation Framework Agreement”) was entered into
between Nanjing Merchants Zhaosheng Property Development
Limited* (ARBEAEEFMEARRAF) (“Nanjing
Merchants”), Chongqing Hanzhi Industrial Development
Company Limited* (EEMEEEERAFMRAF]) (“Chongging
Hanzhi”) and Jurong Jinhui Real Estate Construction Company
Limited* (AWM EEFERZZARAF]) (“Jurong Jinhui”)
pursuant to which, among other things, (i) Nanjing Shengxiang
Yuan Property Development Limited* (# R EEE AR
BRAA]) (“Nanjing Shengxiang”) has been established in the
PRC on 3 March 2017 specifically to engage in the development
of a piece of land known as Nanjing 2016G98 Land situated
from South Zhongshan Road in the east to Fengtai Road in the
west, from Yingtian Avenue in the south to Qinhuai River in
the north (REFRILFEE > r MEEAKRE  AZBE A - 4t
ZZfE5) with a total site area of 199,329.26 sq.m.; (ii) each
of Nanjing Merchants, Chongqing Hanzhi and Jurong Jinhui
has respectively contributed an amount of RMB10,200,000,
RMB6,600,000, and RMB3,200,000 to the registered capital
of Nanjing Shengxiang and shall respectively contribute an
amount of RMB3,505,400,000, RMB3,402,300,000 and
RMB3,402,300,000 for the acquisition and development of
the Nanjing 2016G98 Land before 15 August 2017. Century
Lord Limited is a substantial shareholder of Pride Qasis Limited,
an indirect non wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
established in the British Virgin Islands. Century Lord Limited is
a company indirectly controlled by Hongkong Land Holdings
Limited (a company incorporated in Bermuda with limited
liability, being a connected person of the Company at the
subsidiary level) which indirectly controls Chongging Hanzhi.
Accordingly, Chongging Hanzhi is a connected person of the
Company at subsidiary level. Therefore, the formation of Nanjing
Shengxiang as contemplated under the Cooperation Framework
Agreement constitutes a connected transaction of the Company
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. For details of the
Cooperation Framework Agreement, please refer to the circular
of the Company dated 14 July 2017.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

@)

On 21 June 2017, a cooperation agreement (the “Cooperation
Agreement”) was entered into between Guangzhou Merchants
Property Development Limited* (EMBABMESRA
Al) (“Merchants Guangzhou”), Guangdong Poly Property
Development Company Limited* (ERRFEHEMEER
A7) (“Guangdong Poly”), and Shanghai Guanyi Corporate
Management Company Limited* (/8BS EEEFRA
Al) pursuant to which, among other things, Guangzhou Xinhe
Property Development Company Limited* (EM# & B E
BPREEAR]) has been established in the PRC on 11 May
2017 specially to engage in the development of a piece of land
known as Zengcheng Land situated from in the east of Finance
Avenue down to the west of existing plants, in the south of
Changfeng International Commercial Project down to the north
of Chuangxin Avenue (RESRIKNE - BEREBREHEIR
B - BERMREE - ILEAIFTAE) with a total site area of
86,417.35 sg.m. for a consideration of RMB4,350,000,000. Poly
Jiangsu Real Estate Development Co., Limited* (fRF;T &k 2=
ZEREABRAF]) (“Poly Jiangsu”), a substantial shareholder of the
Company’s subsidiary, Nanjing Shanjieyi Property Development
Company Limited* (FARENEFMERZERAF), is a
company directly controlled by Poly Real Estate Group Co., Ltd*
(RFIEHE (£8) KD HBERAE]) which directly controls
Guangdong Poly. Accordingly, Guangdong Poly is a connected
person of the Company at subsidiary level. Accordingly, the
entering into of the Cooperation Agreement constitutes a
connected transaction of the Company under Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules. For details of the Cooperation Agreement,
please refer to the circular of the Company dated 24 August
2017.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(3) On 1 November 2017, CMSK, Happy City Investments Limited
(#=REAFR AT (a company established in Hong Kong
with limited liability and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company) (“Happy City”) and China Merchants Land
(Shenzhen) Limited* (FREBEEH OFYI) BRAF]) (“China
Merchants Land (Shenzhen)”) (a company established in the PRC
with limited liability and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company) entered into a capital increase agreement
(the "Original Capital Increase Agreement”), pursuant to
which, among other things, CMSK and China Merchants
Land (Shenzhen) shall make additional capital contribution
of RMB4,900,000,000 and RMB5,100,000,000, respectively
(the "Additional Capital Contribution”) to Merchants Nanjing
Real Estate Co., Ltd (FBERHE (FR) AR AF]) (“Nanjing
Merchants”) (a company established in the PRC with limited
liability which is owned as to 49% and 51% by CMSK and
Happy City respectively before the completion of the Additional
Capital Contribution, and a non wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company). For details of the Original Capital Increase
Agreement, please refer to the circular of the Company dated 4
December 2017.

Given that there is upward adjustment to the valuation of net
assets of Nanjing Merchants, on 21 November 2017, CMSK,
Happy City and China Merchants Land (Shenzhen) entered into
a supplemental capital increase agreement (the “Supplemental
Capital Increase Agreement”, together with the Original Capital
Increase Agreement, the “Capital Increase Agreements”) to
amend the terms regarding the Additional Capital Contribution.
For details of the Supplemental Capital Increase Agreement,
please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 21
November 2017 and the circular of the Company dated 4
December 2017.

Immediately after the completion of the Additional Capital
Contribution, the enlarged registered capital of Nanjing
Merchants shall be owned as to 49.00%, 9.66%, and 41.34%
by CMSK, Happy City and China Merchants Land (Shenzhen),
respectively. The aggregate indirect interest of the Company
in Nanjing Merchants (held through Happy City and China
Merchants Land (Shenzhen)) shall remain unchanged at 51%.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

3)

(continued)

As one or more of the applicable percentage ratios calculated
by reference to Rules 14.07 and 14.15(2) of the Listing Rules
in respect of the capital commitment by China Merchants Land
(Shenzhen) under the Capital Increase Agreements exceed
25% but are less than 75%, the entering into of the Capital
Increase Agreements and the transactions contemplated
thereunder constitutes a major transaction of the Company
under Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules and is subject to
the reporting, announcement and shareholders’ approval
requirements. CMSK is a controlling shareholder of the Company
which holds approximately 74.35% of the total issued share
capital of the Company, and therefore is a connected person
of the Company at the issuer level. As Nanjing Merchants (a
non wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) is owned as to
49% by CMSK, Nanjing Merchants is a connected subsidiary
of the Company under Rule 14A.16 of the Listing Rules in
respect of the Company’s connected person at the issuer level
and the transactions contemplated under the Capital Increase
Agreements constitutes a connected transaction of the Company
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules subject to the reporting,
announcement and independent shareholders’ approval
requirements.

As at 31 December 2017, CMSK, Happy City and China
Merchants Land (Shenzhen) have made all the payments in
respect of the Additional Capital Contribution.

On 16 November 2017, a shareholders’ agreement (the
“Shareholders’ Agreement”) was entered into between
Chongging Merchants Yicheng Property Development Company
Limited* (EEBREKBEMEMEZEHBRAF]) (“Chongging
Merchants”) and Chongging Hanzhi Beixiang Enterprise
Management Consultancy Company Limited* (EE#E L
EERFEB AR AR (“Chongging Hanzhi Beixiang”), following
the successful bidding of the land use rights of a piece of land
situated at District A23-7/06, Liangjiang New District Lijia Group
A, Chonggqing City, the PRC* (R R EE T, THTERE =40 AZ
A58 A23-7/0655% 57 HE) with a total site area of approximately
94,631.2 sq.m., designated for the second category of residential
land (the “Chongging Land”). Pursuant to the Shareholders’
Agreement, Chongqging Merchants and Chongging Hanzhi
Beixiang shall form a joint venture company to jointly develop
the Chongging Land. The total investment value is estimated
at approximately RMB2,360,000,000. Century Lord Limited is a
substantial shareholder of Pride Oasis Limited, an indirect non
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company established in the
British Virgin Islands.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(@)

(continued)

Century Lord Limited is a company indirectly controlled by
Hongkong Land Holdings Limited (a company incorporated
in Bermuda with limited liability, being a connected person of
the Company at the subsidiary level) which indirectly controls
Chongqging Hanzhi Beixiang. Accordingly, Chongging Hanzhi
Beixiang is a connected person of the Company at subsidiary
level. Therefore, the entering into of the Shareholders’
Agreement constitutes a connected transaction of the Company
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

For details of the Shareholders’ Agreement, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 17 November 2017.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(M

On 29 December 2015, the Company entered into an
operational agreement (“Operational Agreement”) with the then
China Merchants Property Development Co., Ltd. (“CMPD"),
which has merged with CMSK on 30 December 2015, pursuant
to which the Group shall provide project operational support
services (i.e. including but not limited to taking charge of land
acquisition, project development and sales) to certain project
companies currently owned by CMSK, for a fixed term of 3 years
commencing from 1 January 2016 up to 31 December 2018
(both days inclusive). The management fees for each transaction
under the Operation Agreement shall be paid on a quarterly basis
and will be settled in cash.

The cap of the service charges payable by CMSK to the Group
for the Year under the Operational Agreement was set at
RMB13,000,000.

On 29 December 2015, the Company also entered into
a property management master agreement (“Property
Management Master Agreement”) with Merchants Property
Management Co., Ltd. (FRERYWEEIEHB R A F]) (“Merchants
Property Management”), a company established in the PRC and
wholly-owned by the then CMPD, pursuant to which, Merchants
Property Management shall provide property management
services to the Group’s PRC operating subsidiaries, for a fixed
term of 3 years commencing from 1 January 2016 up to 31
December 2018 (both days inclusive). The property management
fees for each transaction under the Property Management
Master Agreement will be paid on a monthly basis and will be
settled in cash.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

)

(continued)

The cap of the service charges payable by the Group to
Merchants Property Management for the Year under
the Property Management Master Agreement was set at
RMB110,000,000.

Details of the terms of the Operational Agreement and Property
Management Master Agreement are set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 29 December 2015 for information.

On 24 May 2017, the Company and Merchants Property
Management entered into a supplemental agreement in relation
to increase of the annual caps of the property management fees
payable by the Group under the Property Management Master
Agreement for each of the financial years ending 31 December
2017 and 2018 from RMB 110,000,000 to RMB153,000,000.

CMPD is the former controlling shareholder of the Company,
which has merged with CMSK on 30 December 2015, after
which CMSK become the Company’s intermediate controlling
shareholder and indirectly holds approximately 74.35% of the
issued share capital of the Company. Currently, Merchants
Property Management is a wholly-owned subsidiary of CMSK.
Since each of CMSK and Merchants Property Management
is a connected person of the Company under the Listing
Rules, the transactions contemplated under the Operational
Agreement and the Property Management Master Agreement
constitute continuing connected transactions under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules. Since none of the relevant applicable
percentage ratios (defined under the Listing Rules) of the
proposed annual caps of the transactions contemplated under
the Operational Agreement and the Property Management
Master Agreement has exceeded 5%, the continuing connected
transactions under the Operational Agreement and the Property
Management Master Agreement are subject to the reporting
and announcement requirements and exempt from independent
shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.
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EEgHRE

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

M

(continued)

The terms of each of the Operational Agreement and the
Property Management Master Agreement have been arrived at
after arm'’s length negotiations between the relevant parties. The
Directors (including the independent non-executive Directors)
have confirmed that the terms of each of the Operational
Agreement and the Property Management Master Agreement
and the transactions contemplated thereunder are fair and
reasonable, on normal commercial terms or better and in the
interests of the Company and its shareholders as a whole.

On 7 April 2017, Merchants Guangzhou as landlord and
Guangzhou China Merchants — Colisée Senior Care Services Co.,
Ltd. (BB S M EEZRBER A F]) (“Merchants — Colisée
Senior Care”) (a company established under the laws of the
PRC with limited liability, which is an indirect non-wholly owned
subsidiary of CMSK), as tenant entered into a tenancy agreement
(the “Tenancy Agreement”) in respect of a four-storey building
located at Block 12, No. 139, Dongyi Road, Donghuan Street,
Panyu District, the Hills Ecool, Guangzhou City, Guangdong
Province, the PRC (the “Property”), for a rental term of three
years subject to automatic renewal for three times, the aggregate
of which will be ten years.

The annual aggregate maximum amount payable by Merchants —
Colisée Senior Care to Merchants Guangzhou under the
Tenancy Agreement for each of the 11 financial years ending
31 December 2027 will be subject to the cap amounts on the
basis that (i) the lease term shall commence on the Delivery Date
(as defined below); and (ii) that the rental shall be calculated and
charged from the first day of the month after the Delivery Date
(as defined below). The annual cap amount to be payable by
Merchants — Colisée Senior Care to Merchants Guangzhou for
the Year under the Tenancy Agreement was set at RMB976,000.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

@)

(continued)

The delivery date (the “Delivery Date”) is the date on which
Merchants Guangzhou and Merchants — Colisée Senior Care
will sign and confirm the passing of possession of the Property.
It was initially expected to take place no later than 31 October
2017 or such other date as mutually agreed by the parties. Since
extra time is required for finalisation of the construction work
on the Property, both parties have mutually agreed to extend
the Delivery Date to around the second quarter of the 2018, the
expected date by which the construction work to be finalised.
As the possession of the Property has not yet been passed on to
Merchants — Colisée Senior Care, no rental payment has been
paid to Merchants Guangzhou by Merchants — Colisée Senior
Care in respect of the Year.

Details of the terms of the Tenancy Agreement are set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 7 April 2017 for information.

Merchants — Colisée Senior Care is an indirect non-wholly owned
subsidiary of CMSK which is the intermediate holding company
of the Company. Accordingly, the Tenancy Agreement entered
into by Merchants Guangzhou and Merchants — Colisée Senior
Care, and the transaction contemplated thereby constitutes
a continuing connected transaction for the Company under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. However, as the maximum
annual rental receivable under the Tenancy Agreement is not
expected to exceed 5% of the applicable percentage ratios
calculated under the Listing Rules, the transaction contemplated
under the Tenancy Agreement is only subject to the reporting,
annual review and announcement requirements but exempt
from the circular (including independent financial advice) and
shareholders’ approval requirements pursuant to Rule 14A.76(2)
of the Listing Rules.

Given that the terms of the Tenancy Agreement were negotiated
on an arm'’s length basis with reference to the market standard,
the Directors (including the independent non-executive Directors)
consider that the terms of the Tenancy Agreement are fair and
reasonable, on normal commercial terms and in the ordinary and
usual course of business of the Group, and in the interests of the
Group and the shareholders of the Company as a whole.
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EEgHRE

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(continued)

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the
above continuing connected transactions and confirmed that the
transactions had been entered into:

(i) inthe ordinary and usual course of the business of the Group;
(i) on normal commercial terms or better; and

(iiiy in accordance with the relevant agreements governing them and
on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
Company and the shareholders of the Company as a whole.

The Company’s auditor Messrs. Shinewing (HK) CPA Limited,
pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, confirmed in their
letter made in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance
Engagements 3000 (revised) “Assurance Engagements Other Than
Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with
reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing
Connected Transactions Under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants that the
subject continuing connected transactions had received the approval
of the Board, were in accordance with the pricing policies of the
Company, had been entered into in accordance with the Operational
Agreement and the Property Management Master Agreement and
had not exceeded the caps disclosed in the announcements dated 29
December 2015, 24 May 2017 and 7 April 2017.

Save as the aforesaid, there were no other discloseable non- exempted
connected transaction or non-exempted continuing connected
transaction under the Listing Rules during the Year and up to the date
of this report.

Save as aforesaid, none of the “Related Party Disclosures” as disclosed
in Note 40 to the consolidated financial statements for the Year
constituted discloseable non-exempted connected transaction or non-
exempted continuing connected transaction under the Listing Rules.

To the extent of the above “Related Party Disclosures” constituted
connected transactions or continuing connected transactions as
defined in the Listing Rules, the company had complied with the
relevant requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules during
the Year.
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)

a cooperation agreement dated 8 December 2017 was entered
into between Merchants Nanjing Real Estate Co., Ltd.* (FAFEH
HE (R ) BEAF]) (an indirect non wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company) (“Merchants Nanjing”) and Nanjing Vanke
Zhiye Co., Ltd.* (ARERIEFEABRAF]) (“Nanjing Vanke”),
pursuant to which Nanjing Vanke has agreed to transfer 14.28%
of the registered capital of Nanjing Huihe Zhiye Co., Ltd.* (B
EABEAMRAF) (“Nanjing Huihe”) to Merchants Nanjing and
Merchants Nanjing has agreed to bear the previous contribution
made by Nanjing Vanke for acquiring and developing, a piece
of land situated at Lot No. 8-9-17-18-23-24-28, West Area of
South Square, South Station, Jiangning District, Nanjing City,
Jiangsu Province, the PRC (FFEIT & & m R /L& [@ i E
5 b P R 8-9-17-18-23-24-2857 15.38) with a total site area of
130,656.0 sg.m., in proportion to its proposed shareholding in
Nanjing Huihe together with the related fund possession fee in
the total amount of approximately RMB806,324,017. For details,
please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 8
December 2017;

the Original Capital Increase Agreement and the Supplemental
Capital Increase Agreement as disclosed on page 67 to page 68
of this report;

the Shareholders’ Agreement as disclosed on page 68 of this
Report;

a supplemental agreement to the Land Use Rights Grant
Contract (as defined in item (7) below) dated 11 July 2017 was
entered into between Foshan Merchants Property Development
Co., Ltd.* (B LIBAEHESR A F]) (“Foshan Merchants
Property”), Foshan Bureau of Land Resource and City Planning*
(BERAHILME L& RMPBIREFD) (“Foshan Bureau”) and
Foshan Merchants Brilliant Property Development Co., Ltd.*
(I LB AL ERE AR AF]) (“Foshan Merchants Brilliant
Property”), pursuant to which, among other things, Foshan
Merchants Brilliant Property shall take up all the rights, benefits
and obligations of the land use rights of the Foshan Land (as
defined in item (7) below) in place of Foshan Merchants Property.
For details of the supplemental agreement to the Land Use Rights
Grant Contract, please refer to the circular of the Company
dated 24 August 2017;
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MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS (continued)

(5)

a land use rights grant contract (B&ZRAHERELZES
[A]) was entered into between Chongging Merchants Yi Cheng
Property Development Co., Ltd.* (EERAEKREHEREER
A 7)) ("Chongging Merchants Yi Cheng”) and Chongging Land
Resources and Housing Management Bureau* (EE M B+ &R
MEREEEBD) on 23 June 2017, pursuant to which Chongging
Merchants Yi Cheng shall acquire a piece of land situated at
Zone D of Nanping Group, Nan’an District, Chongqing City, the
PRC (Land No. D10-3- 2/02) (Announcement No. 17049) (&
EETRFEETHEEDSED10-3-2/025% R (A&
17049)), with a total site area of 11,312 sq.m. and the total
capacity of building area is less than or equal to 89,365 sq.m., for
a consideration of RMB580,880,000. For details, please refer to
the announcement of the Company dated 23 June 2017,

the Cooperation Agreement as disclosed on page 66 of this
Report;

a land use rights grant contract (BAEZAHERELES
[[@) (the “Land Use Rights Grant Contract”) dated 16 June 2017
was entered into between Foshan Merchants Property and
Foshan Bureau pursuant to which, among other things, Foshan
Merchants Property shall acquire a piece of land situated at Nan
Jin Village Committee Lot, Sha Long Road, Jiujiang Town, Nanhai
District, Foshan City, Guangdong Province, the PRC (R E 5
HFLTEERIHEPEEESNZEHER) with a total site
area of approximately 81,356.9 sq.m. (the “Foshan Land") for a
consideration of RMB2,015,060,000. For details of the Land Use
Rights Grant Contract, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 16 June 2017 and the circular of the Company
dated 24 August 2017;
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MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS (continued) EGNLEESEIE )

(8) a cooperation agreement dated 31 May 2017 was entered into  (8)
between Guangzhou Dingjia Property Development Co., Ltd.*
(BN S =R EAR A F]) ("Guangzhou Dingjia Property”) and
Foshan Merchants Property pursuant to which, among other
things, (i) Guangzhou Dingjia Property and Foshan Merchants
Property shall jointly develop a piece of land situated at the east
side of Jianshe Yilu, Xinan Street, Sanshui District, Foshan City,
Guangdong Province, the PRC* (FREIER A MLt = /KEF
FATE R — B E Al with a total site area of approximately
47,252.97 sq.m. through Foshan Dingtu Property Development
Co., Ltd.* (LR EEHESGRAR]) (the "Project Company”)
which has been established in the PRC on 25 April 2017 by
Guangzhou Dingjia Property; (i) Foshan Merchants Property
shall contribute RMB10,000,000 to the registered capital of
the Project Company and reimburse 50% of the shareholders’
loan of RMB518,950,000 to Guangzhou Dingjia Property; and
(iii) each of Guangzhou Dingjia Property and Foshan Merchants
Property shall bear the land consideration of RMB1,037,900,000
in proportion to their proposed shareholdings in the Project
Company. For details of the cooperation agreement, please refer
to the announcement of the Company dated 31 May 2017; and

(9) the Cooperation Framework Agreement as disclosed on page 65  (9)
of this report.
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SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OBLIGATIONS OF ERRRZEEBITER

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER

Save as disclosed below, the Directors are not aware of any B TXIREEI  EEZMAHE zﬁ*ﬁﬁ%Lm%Fﬁ‘J
circumstances which would be required to disclose herein pursuant to  13.2 1§ 2 3B FE R AR E W E ~ 1SR

the requirements under Rule 13.21 of the Listing Rules.

. On 31 December 2014, the Company as borrower confirmed o
its acceptance of a term loan facility with a bank relating to a
USD 100,000,000 committed term loan facility which has a term
of 36 months commencing from the date of initial drawdown;

e On 31 May 2016, the Company as borrower entered into a loan
agreement with a bank relating to a RMB640,000,000 term loan
facility which has a term of 36 months commencing from the
date of initial drawdown; and
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SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OBLIGATIONS OF
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER (continued)

on 15 May 2017, the Company as a borrower entered into a
facility agreement with a bank in relation to a term loan facility
of up to RMB600,000,000 which has a term of 36 months
commencing from the date of first drawdown.

The following events would trigger breach of one or more of the
above mentioned loan agreements:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

CMSK ceases to beneficially own (directly or indirectly) at least
40% of the issued share capital of the Company;

CMSK ceases to beneficially own (directly or indirectly) at least
51% of the issued share capital of the Company;

the shares of CMSK ceases for any reason to be listed on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange (or its successor) or such listing is
suspended for more than 15 consecutive trading days due to
non-compliance with the rules of the Shenzhen Stock Exchange
(or its successor) or breach of any undertaking given to the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange (or its successor);

China Merchants Group Limited (“CMG") ceases to be the
single largest shareholder of CMSK (beneficially owned,
directly or indirectly, the largest proportionate shareholding or
ownership interest in CMSK from time to time) and ceases to
beneficially own, directly or indirectly, at least 40% of the entire
shareholding or ownership interest in CMSK; or

CMG ceases to be controlled by The State-owned Assets
Supervision and Administration Commission of the State Council
of the PRC or any other similarly empowered authorities of the
PRC government.

ERRRzIEEBTEE @)

e RZTE—+tHFRHA+HAB AAFEAMEBR
A B —RIIRITRI L E B EREE BB A RE
600,000,000 T 7 B¢ & 1% - FHIE B ARAKA
Bt BHI36MEA -

BEUTEMRER B —TARIA L2 BRI

() HAARLTBESEA(THERIM[E)AR
AIELA0% 2 B EHITHRA

(i) BEEOTBEEXZHEA(THAEZEIBE) AR
AEDL51% 2 BBITHRA

(iy BERAZEMETHRETNHRRINESR
SAT(SREETE) Esk R REEETRIF
FR G (REMETE) ZRASERERRY
BEXZAHT(HEETE)EL 2T MAZMIE
h2EEd 15 EEE R 5B

vy HEREEERAR([EHREE)TEAH
Bz E—SARR(TRERREEERE
BRBEO 2RISR EAEED) &
THERIHEESHERRREOED40% 2
DR A R X

(v HAEREETBXTERBEEEEEEEE
BREB g EMBLT EBFE DT
i o

—TLFER BERBRARLE 77



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEGHRE

SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OBLIGATIONS OF
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER (continued)

The loan agreements dated 31 December 2014, 31 May 2016 and
15 May 2017 mentioned above contain cross default provisions
so that if the Company or any of its subsidiaries commits a default
under any other loan agreement(s) to which it is a borrower that
entitles any creditor to declare any borrowed monies under such loan
agreement(s) due and payable and the amount in aggregate exceeds
US$15,000,000, or its equivalent in other currencies it will also
constitute an event of default under those loan agreements.

Details of the above mentioned loan agreements made pursuant to
the requirements of Rule 13.18 of the Listing Rules were disclosed
in the announcements of the Company dated 31 December 2014,
31 May 2016 and 15 May 2017 and the subsequent interim report/
annual report of the Company respectively.

As at 31 December 2017, the aggregate outstanding principal of
loans owed by the Group under the above loan agreements were
US$100,000,000 and RMB1,240,000,000.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, during the Year, no contracts
concerning the management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or
existed.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for disclosure in this report, the Company has not entered into
any equity-linked agreements for the Year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company's
Avrticles of Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEgHRE

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee consists of three members, two of whom
are independent non-executive Directors and one of whom is non-
executive Director. During the Year and at the date of this report, the
Audit Committee comprises the following members:

Dr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert (Chairman)
Ms. LIU Ning
Dr. SHI Xinping

The Audit Committee carries out its functions in accordance with and
the Listing Rules, including the following:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

reviews the audit plans of the internal and external auditors
of the Company, and reviews the internal auditor’s evaluation
of the adequacy of the Company’s and the Group’s system of
internal accounting controls and the assistance given by the
Company’s management to the external and internal auditors;

reviews the annual financial statements of the Company and
of the Group before their submission to the Directors of the
Company and the external auditor’s report thereon;

reviews the half year results announcements on the financial
performance and financial position of the Group before their
submission to the Board;

makes recommendations to the Board on the appointment of
external and internal auditors;

meets with the external auditor, other committees and
management in separate executive sessions to discuss any
matters that these groups believe should be discussed privately
with the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee convened
three meetings during the Year. The Audit Committee has also
met with the Company’s external auditor, without the presence
of the Company’s management, at least once a year. The Audit
Committee has recommended to the Board the nomination
of Messrs. Shinewing (HK) CPA Limited for reappointment as
independent auditor of the Company at the forthcoming AGM.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEGHRSE

RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

The Group has entered into certain related party transactions as
disclosed in Note 41 to the financial statements. Save as disclosed
in this report, none of the “Related Party Disclosures” as disclosed
in Note 41 to the consolidated financial statements for the Year
constituted discloseable non-exempted connected transaction or non-
exempted continuing connected transaction under the Listing Rules.

INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Company is committed to maintaining a sound system of internal
controls. Corporate Governance Details of the corporate governance
are set out in the section headed “Corporate Governance Report”in
this annual report.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Details of the significant events after the reporting period of the
Group are set out in note 45 to the financial statements.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR
The independent auditor, SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited has expressed
its willingness to accept re-appointment as independent auditor
of the Company. SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited will retire and a
resolution for their re-appointment as auditor shall be proposed at the
forthcoming AGM of the Company.

SUFFICIENT PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
with the knowledge of the Directors, the Company had maintained
sufficient public float of at least 25% of the Company’s total issued
share capital as at the date of this report.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD
XU Yongjun
Chairman

Hong Kong
20 March 2018

* For identification purpose only
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
ERERRE

The Board (the “Board”) of Directors (the “Directors”) of China
Merchants Land Limited (the “Company”, together with its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”)) are pleased to
present this Corporate Governance Report in the Group’s annual
report for the year ended 31 December 2017 (the “Year”).

COMPLIANCE WITH CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE CODE

The Board considers that a good corporate governance of the
Company is central to safeguarding the interests of the shareholders
of the Group and enhancing the performance of the Group. The
Board reviews its corporate governance practices from time to time in
order to meet the rising expectations of shareholders and to fulfill its
commitment to excellence in corporate governance.

During the Year, the Company has adopted, for corporate governance
purposes, the code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (the
"HK CG Code") contained in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) (collectively, the “Listing Rules”).

The Company has complied with the HK CG Code (to the extent
that such provisions are applicable) except for below deviations from
code provisions A.4.1, A.6.7 and E.1.2 of the HK CG Code which are
explained in the relevant paragraphs of this report. The Company will
continue to enhance its corporate governance practices appropriate to
the conduct and growth of its businesses and to review such practices
from time to time to ensure that they comply with the HK CG Code.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

SRERRE

THE BOARD

Responsibilities

The primary role of the Board is to lead and control the Company’s
operations and affairs and to protect and enhance long-term
shareholders’ value. The Board oversees the management of the
businesses and affairs of the Group and is responsible for the overall
performance of the Group.

The Board monitors the financial performance and the internal
controls of the Group’s business operations.

The Board is charged with promoting the success of the Group by
directing and supervising its affairs in a responsible and effective
manner. Each Director has a duty to act in good faith in the best
interests of the Company. The Directors are aware of their collective
and individual responsibilities to all shareholders of the Group for
the manner in which the affairs of the Company are managed,
controlled and operated. A Director is required to keep abreast of his
responsibilities as a Director and of the conduct, business activities and
development of the Group.

The Board is also responsible for providing guidance to overall
management of the businesses and affairs of the Group. To facilitate
effective management, certain functions have been delegated
to various Board committees, namely Nomination Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Audit Committee, each of which has its
own written terms of reference and whose actions are reported to and
monitored by the Board. The effectiveness of each committee is also
constantly monitored.

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in Code
Provision D.3.1 of the HK CG Code. During the Year, the Board
has reviewed the corporate governance policy and the Company’s
internal codes for securities dealing. The Board will review, consider
and determine the appropriate policy for corporate governance of the
Company from time to time.

Non-executive Directors have the same duties of care and skill and
fiduciary duties as executive Directors. The functions of non- executive
Directors have included the functions as specified in the code provision
A.6.2(a) to (d) of the HK CG Code.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
ERERRE

THE BOARD (continued) E=gwm)
Board meetings E=ge3
The attendance records of each Director at the meetings of the #R KEZNEEE EREZES REELEEek
Board, the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and the HElZES& 2 HEDREHINWOT -
Remuneration Committee during the Year are set out below:
Audit  Nomination Remuneration
Board Committee Committee Committee
Bxg EREES REZES FHEES
Number of meeting held during the Year FRETEH 2 RE 4 3 1 2
Non-executive Directors FHITEE
Mr. XU Yongjun (Note 1) KB RE(IET) 1/4 - 11 -
Mr. HUANG Junlong (Note 2) =R (FE2) 3/4 - - 12
Dr. YAN Chengda (Note 3) YAN Chengdaf&+ (#773) 1/4 - - -
Ms. LIU Ning F=L L 4/4 3/3 - -
Executive Directors HITEE
Dr. SO Shu Fai (Note 4) ERiEE L (f7t4) 2/4 - - -
Mr. YU Zhiliang RERLE 4/4 - - _
Mr. WONG King Yuen BRRLE 4/4 - - _
Independent non-executive Directors BUFHTEE
Dr. WONG Wing Kuen, Alert FoxEFEL 4/4 3/3 - 2/2
Ms. CHEN Yanping BRAE L L 4/4 - 11 2/2
Dr. SHI Xinping SEHEEL 4/4 3/3 il -
Mr. HE Qi {5 S A 4/4 - - -
Notes: st -

(N

(2)

3)

)

Appointed as non-executive Director, the chairman of the Board and the chairman
of the nomination committee of the Company with effect from 18 March 2016.
Due to business affairs, Mr. XU could not attend the Board Meetings held on 23
August 2017, 14 December 2017 and 19 December 2017. Mr. XU had appointed
Mr. YU, Mr. HUANG and Ms. LIU to act his alternate for the Board Meetings held
on 23 August 2017, 14 December 2017 and 19 December 2017 respectively.

Appointed as non-executive Director and the member of the remuneration
committee of the Company with effect from 18 March 2016. Mr. HUANG acted
as an alternate director to Mr. XU for the Board Meetings held on 14 December
2017. Due to a business affair, Mr. HUANG could not attend the Board Meeting
and Remuneration Committee meeting held on 19 December 2017 and he had
appointed Ms. LIU to act his alternate.

Appointed as non-executive Director of the Company with effect from 18 March
2016. Due to business affairs, Mr. YAN could not attend the Board Meetings held
on 23 August 2017, 14 December 2017 and 19 December 2017. Mr. YAN had
appointed Mr. YU to act his alternate on 23 August 2017.

Due to business affairs, Dr. SO could not attend the Board Meetings held on 7
March 2017 and 23 August 2017.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
ERERRE

THE BOARD (continued)

Board meetings (continued)

Minutes of the Board, the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee were recorded in
sufficient details of matters considered at the meetings and decisions
reached including any concerns or dissenting views raised by the
Directors. All the minutes are kept by the company secretary and are
open for inspection at any time on reasonable notice given by any
Director.

Directors can access to the advice and services of the company
secretary to ensure that Board procedures and applicable rules and
regulations are followed.

In addition, all Directors are regularly updated on corporate
governance and regulatory matters. On a continuing basis, Directors
are encouraged to keep up to date on all matters relevant to the
Group and attend briefings and seminars as appropriate. Guideline
is available for Directors to obtain independent professional advice at
the expense of the Company in the furtherance of their duties. The
Company has also arranged appropriate liability insurance cover in
respect of legal action against its Directors.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
ERERRE

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Mr. XU Yongjun, a non-executive Director, is the chairman of the
Board. The chairman is responsible for leading the Board to ensure its
effectiveness on all aspects of its role and set its agenda.

Mr. YU Zhiliang, an executive Director who has been re-designated
from the chief financial officer to general manager of the Company
since 18 August 2016 is currently responsible for the Group’s strategic
development and operational plans, and in particular, the day-to-
day operations of the Company’s business, which are as same as
the duties discharged by a chief executive officer. Therefore, the
Company considers that the division of responsibilities between the
chairman and the role of a chief executive has been achieved within
the Company'’s written guidelines.

TRAINING FOR DIRECTORS

All Directors should participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. This
is to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed and
relevant.

Each newly appointed Director receives comprehensive, formal and
tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment, so as to
ensure that he/she has appropriate understanding of the business and
operations of the Company and that he/she is fully aware of his/her
responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant
regulatory requirements.

The Directors are responsible for their own training needs and report
to the Company. The Company will provide suitable training course
for the Directors at the Company’s expenses.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
ERERRE

TRAINING FOR DIRECTORS (continued)

The Directors are continually updated on the legal and regulatory
developments, as well as business and market changes, to facilitate
the discharge of their responsibilities. During the Year, all Directors
have complied with code provision A.6.5 of the HK CG Code to
participate in continuous professional development to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills by attending seminars, in-house
briefings or reading materials on the following topics:

EE1ENm)
AATETH AR NE SRR UL ETIE S
b MEERESFEN  AGHEEETNE - &
N REERCATESCEEATATAIES
AGSELEBEEREY  BALESBUTEE
THE - RHENKHEME RRYFHRZ M
TR

Topics of training covered
FOREE I EE

Non-executive Directors FHITESE

Mr. XU Yongjun KB L&

Mr. HUANG Junlong EHRELE

Dr. YAN Chengda YAN Chengdaf$+
Ms. LIU Ning fmL+
Executive Directors HITEE

Dr. SO Shu Fai et

Mr. YU Zhiliang RERKE

Mr. WONG King Yuen =R A
Independent non-executive Directors BUHBITEE
Dr. WONG Wing Kuen, Alert ToxiEE

Ms. CHEN Yanping PRESF 2+

Dr. SHI Xinping SEETTE L

Mr. HE Qi AH A

Notes:

(1) Corporate governance

(2)  Regulatory updates

(3) Finance, accounting or commercial

(4)  Industry updates

(5) Legal

Directors are continually updated on developments in the statutory

and regulatory regime and the business environment to facilitate the
discharge of their responsibilities.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

N lM\Aiﬁﬂ:

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Code provision A.4.1 of the HK CG Code stipulated that non-
executive directors should be appointed for a specific term, subject to
re-election. The non-executive Directors and all the independent non-
executive Directors do not have specific terms of appointment which
is a deviation from the said HK CG Code. However, all of them are
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at annual general
meeting ("AGM") according to the Company’s Articles of Association.
The Board considers that the requirement has the same effect of
accomplishing the same objective as a specific term of appointment.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established a formal and transparent procedure for
formulating policies on remuneration of senior management of the
Group.

The Remuneration Committee comprised of three members:

Independent non-executive Director:
Ms. CHEN Yanping (Chairman)
Dr. WONG Wing Kuen, Alert (Member)

Non-executive Director:
Mr. HUANG Junlong (Member)

The majority of them are independent non-executive Directors.

The principal function of the Remuneration Committee is to ensure
that a formal and transparent set of policies and procedures are
in place for determining executive remuneration and for fixing the
remuneration packages of individual Directors and that no Director
should be involved in deciding his own remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee shall meet at least once a year,
the Remuneration Committee covers all aspects of emoluments,
including but not limited to Directors’ fees, salaries, allowances,
bonuses, options, benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation
payments, including any compensation payable for loss or termination
of their office or appointment. In setting remuneration packages,
the Remuneration Committee takes into consideration the pay
and employment conditions within the industry and in comparable
companies, as well as the Group’s relative performance and their
individual performance. The Remuneration Committee will seek
expert advice on remuneration of all Directors as and when necessary.
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ERERRE

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE (continued) FNEEE @)
The Remuneration Committee is regulated by a set of written terms of ¥ E S e EMMESERE - HT BRI

reference. Its key functions include:

e reviewing and recommending to the Board the Company’s e
policies and structure for all Directors and senior management’s
remuneration as are competitive and appropriate to attract,
retain and motivate Directors and senior management of
the required quality to run the Company successfully and on
the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for
developing remuneration policy;

e reviewing and approving the management’s remuneration .
proposals with reference to the Board'’s corporate goals and
objectives;

e ejther determining (with delegated responsibility) or making e
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of
individual executive Directors and senior management;

e reviewing and approving compensation payable to executive .
Directors and senior management for any loss or termination
of office or appointment to ensure that it is consistent with
contractual terms and is otherwise fair and not excessive; and

e reviewing and approving compensation arrangements relating to .
dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct to ensure that
they are consistent with contractual terms and are otherwise
reasonable and appropriate.

The Remuneration Committee met twice during the Year and has # @R

performed the following duties:

— reviewed the terms of reference of the Remuneration —
Committee;

- reviewed the remuneration policy and structure of the Company, — —
and the remuneration packages of the Directors; and

—  reviewed the remuneration packages of all Directors. —
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

N lM\Aiﬁﬂ:

DIRECTOR’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Group has adopted its code of conduct for securities transactions
by Directors of the Company on terms no less exacting than
the required standard set out in the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set
out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules. Having made specific enquiry
to all Directors, the Company confirms that all Directors have complied
with the required standard set out in the Model Code throughout the
Year.

FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the
financial statements of the Company for the Year.

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and
understandable assessment of annual and interim reports, price-
sensitive announcements and other disclosures required under
the Listing Rules and other applicable statutory and regulatory
requirements.

The Directors acknowledge that it is their responsibilities for
overseeing the preparation of the financial statements for each
financial period which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs
of the Group, and of results and cash flow for the period. In preparing
the financial statements for the Year, the Directors have selected
suitable accounting policies and applied them consistently; adopted
appropriate Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and Hong Kong
Accounting Standards; made prudent and reasonable judgments and
estimates and have prepared the financial statements on a going
concern basis. The Directors also warrant that the Group’s financial
statements will be published in a timely manner.

In presenting the interim and annual financial statements and
announcement to shareholders, it is the aim of the Board to provide
the shareholders with a detailed analysis, explanation and assessment
of the Group's financial position and prospects. The management
currently provides the Board with monthly update on the Group's
performance, position and prospects.

The senior management of the Group has provided to the Board such
explanation and information as are necessary to enable the Board
to carry out an informed assessment of the Company’s financial
statements, which are put to the Board for approval.

The statement of the external auditor of the Company is set out in the
“Independent Auditors’ Report” on pages 101 to 109.
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S 1M\A$Ed:

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board recognises its responsibility for maintaining an adequate
internal control system to safeguard the assets of the Group and the
interests of shareholders and consider the governance of risk. Annual
review on the adequacy and the effectiveness of the internal control
and risk management systems of the Group has been conducted by
the management and reviewed by the Board. The Audit Committee
is satisfied that nothing has come to its attention to cause the Audit
Committee to believe that the internal control system is inadequate.
Review will be made at least annually to monitor the adequacy and the
effectiveness of the risk management and the internal control system
of the Group.

The finance department carries out annual risk assessment on each
audit area and derives an annual audit plan according to their
risk rankings. During the Year, the Company has outsourced its
internal audit function to an independent accounting firm, Messrs.
SHINEWING Risk Services Limited to perform a review of the internal
control system of the Group with a focus on the property business.
During the Year, the Group has complied with code provision
C.2 of the HK CG Code by establishing appropriate and effective
risk management and internal control systems. Management is
responsible for the design, implementation and monitoring of such
systems, while the Board oversees management in performing its
duties on an ongoing basis. Main features of the risk management
and internal control systems are described in the sections below:

Risk Management System

The Group adopts a risk management system which manages the risk
associated with its business and operations. The system comprises the
following phases:

e [dentification: Identify ownership of risks, business objectives and
risks that could affect the achievement of objectives.

e Evaluation: Analyse the likelihood and impact of risks and
evaluate the risk portfolio accordingly.

e Management: Consider the risk responses, ensure effective
communication to the Board and on-going monitor the residual
risks.

Based on the risk assessments conducted in the year 2017, no
significant risk was identified.
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TRERHRE

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(continued)

Internal Control System

The Board is responsible to ensure that the Group maintains sound
and effective internal controls to safeguard the shareholders’
investment and the Group’s assets.

The internal control system will cover all material controls, including
financial, operational and compliance controls and risk management
functions.

The Company has in place an internal control system which is
compatible with the Committee of Sponsoring Organisations of the
Treadway Commission (“COSO") 2013 framework. The framework
enables the Group to achieve objectives regarding effectiveness
and efficiency of operations, reliability of financial reporting and
compliance with applicable laws and regulations.

The components of the framework are shown as follow:

. Control Environment: A set of standards, processes and
structures that provide the basis for carrying out internal control
across the Group.

e Risk Assessment: A dynamic and iterative process for identifying
and analysing risks to achieve the Group's objectives, forming a
basis for determining how risks should be managed.

e Control Activities: Action established by policies and procedures
to help ensure that management directives to mitigate risks to
the achievement of objectives are carried out.

e Information and Communication: Internal and external
communication to provide the Group with the information
needed to carry out day-to-day controls.

e  Monitoring: Ongoing and separate evaluations to ascertain
whether each components of internal control is present and
functioning.
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S 1M\A$Ed:

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(continued)

Internal Control System (continued)

In order to enhance the Group's system of handling inside
information, and to ensure the truthfulness, accuracy, completeness
and timeliness of its public disclosures, the Group has adopted and
implemented an inside information procedure. Certain reasonable
measures have been taken from time to time to ensure that proper
safeguards exist to prevent a breach of a disclosure requirement
in relation to the Group, which include the maintaining of a good
control environment with defined organisational structure, limit of
authority, reporting lines and responsibilities in accordance with the
Company'’s guidelines and the regulatory requirements. An effective
information platform has been created to enable relevant and timely
information are sent to the Board for decision making. Appropriate
control measures have been taken place to facilitate a good control
environment for handling and dissemination of inside information.
The access of information is restricted to a limited number of
employees on a need-to-know basis. Employees who are in possession
of inside information are fully conversant with their obligations to
preserve confidentiality. Confidentiality agreements are in place when
the Group enters into significant negotiations. Where necessary,
Directors to speak on behalf of the Company when communicating
with external parties such as the media, analysts or investors.

Based on the internal control reviews conducted in the year of 2017,
no significant control deficiency was identified.

The Board is responsible for the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group and ensuring review of the effectiveness of
these systems has been conducted at least annually. Several areas
have been considered during the Board's review, which include but
not limited to (i) the changes in the nature and extent of significant
risks since the last annual review, and the Group's ability to respond
to changes in its business and the external environment (i) the scope
and quality of management’s ongoing monitoring of risks and of the
internal control systems.
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;Eﬁ:

ﬁﬂ:

AUDIT COMMITTEE

reviewing the nature and extent of non-audit services provided
by the external auditor;

reviewing cost effectiveness and the independence and
objectivity of the external auditor;

reviewing the significant financial reports so as to ensure the
integrity of the financial statements of the Company and focus
in particular on the changes in accounting policies and practices,
major risk areas, significant adjustments resulting from the audit
and compliance with financial reporting standards;

reviewing interim and annual financial statements and
announcements before submission to the Board for approval;
and

reviewing effectiveness of the Company’s material internal
controls, including financial, operational and compliance controls
and risk management and reviews the findings of the internal
auditor of the Company.

The Audit Committee shall hold at least two regular meetings in
a year. The Audit Committee focuses not only on the impact of
the changes in accounting polices and practices but also on the
compliance with accounting standards, the Listing Rules and relevant
legal requirements.

The Audit Committee has not taken a different view from the Board
regarding the selection, appointment, resignation or dismissal of the
Company’s external auditor.

The Company’s annual results announcement for the year ended 31
December 2017 published on 20 March 2018 was reviewed by the
Audit Committee.
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S 1M\A$Ed:

AUDIT COMMITTEE (continued)

During the Year, the Audit Committee held three meetings and has
performed the following duties:

met with the executive Directors and management of the
Company to review the interim and annual results, the interim
report and annual report and other financial, internal control,
corporate governance and risk management matters of the
Group and made recommendations to the Board;

considered and discussed the reports and presentations by the
senior management and the external auditor, with a view to
ensure that the Group’s consolidated financial statements are
prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong;

met with the external auditor without the presence of
management and discussed about the interim financial report
and its annual audit of the consolidated financial statements and
key audit issues;

assisted the Board in meeting its responsibilities for evaluating,
establishing and maintaining effective systems of internal
control;

carried out the annual review on the continuing connected
transactions of the Group;

reviewed the adequacy of resources qualifications and
experience of staff of the Company’s accounting and financial
reporting functions, and their training programmes and budget;
and

reviewed and discussed significant audit findings in a meeting
with the external auditor.

The Audit Committee also examines any other aspects of the
Company'’s affairs, as it deems necessary where such matters relate
to exposures or risks of regulatory or legal nature, and monitors the
Company’s compliance with its legal, regulatory and contractual

obligations.

The Board is of the view that the members of the Audit Committee
have sufficient accounting or related financial management expertise

and experience to discharge the Audit Committee’s function.

The Audit Committee will report to the Board on any material issues,

and makes recommendations to the Board.
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N lM\Aiﬁﬂ:

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

During the Year, the remuneration in respect of professional services
provided by the Company’s auditor, SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited, is
set out as follows:

24 557 A
RIER - AR TRBEEARA(EE) Bt AHEBH
BRAARUEERY 2 FMRIINT -

(RMB'000)
(AR¥F )
Audit services SEZ R 1,247
Non-audit services FEEAZ RS 571
Non-audit services include the professional services rendered in  JEEZREBIFETHREEYR  BHEHETHEEL
connection with the interim report review, continuing connected R ZfiZ IR -
transactions review and internal controls assessment.
The Audit Committee had considered the Independent Auditors’ E&ZEeCEEELSTMASHBAELeE
independence and objectivity as required under the Code of Ethics EE<FRIIBE T E2 B EHMBT MR ZEM - I
for Professional Accountants issued by the Hong Kong Institute of SR EZIE(GEH - BR s HEREEURBRESIT -

Certified Public Accounts, reviewed the terms of their engagement,
nature and scope of the audit and reporting obligations.

The Audit Committee is satisfied with the findings of their review of
the engagement process, effectiveness, independence and objectivity
of the Independent Auditor.

The Audit Committee has recommended to the Board and the Board
has concurred with the nomination of Messrs. SHINEWING (HK) CPA
LIMITED, for reappointment as independent auditor of the Company
at the forthcoming AGM.

SECURITIES TRANSACTION BY THE RELEVANT
EMPLOYEES

Under the Code Provision A.6.4 of the CG Code, the Board has
established written guidelines on no less exacting terms than the
Model Code for Directors and relevant employees in respect of
their dealings in the Company’s securities. “Relevant employee”
includes any employee of the Group or a Director or employee of a
subsidiary or holding company of the issuer, because of such office
or employment, is likely to be in possession of inside information in
relation to the Group and its securities. Having made specific enquiry
to all Relevant Employees, the Company confirms that all Relevant
Employees have complied with the written guidelines regarding
securities transactions during the Year.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

During the Year, the company secretary, Ms. LAU Jeanie, undertook & A -
at least 15 hours of relevant professional training, was an employee of

the Company.

SHAREHOLDERS’' MEETINGS

Details of Directors’ attendance records of the general meetings held

during the Year were as follows:

DREAME
ARWEREPLL(ARARRE)BETED
[ ERNEYE]EE S El

BRAE
EERENBTZREARZ HREEHEMT -

Annual General Extraordinary Extraordinary

Meeting General General
held on Meeting held ~ Meeting held on

28 April 2017 28 April 2017 19 December 2017

R-B—-+tF R-Z—tF R=Z—+tF
Number of meeting held MAZ+NB#Tz NAZ+NBETZ +ZA+HBE7TZ
during the Year FRETZRERHE BRRBFAE e N REFRIAE
Non-executive Directors HHITEE
Mr. XU Yongjun (Note 1) FKELE(HAT) 0/1 0/1 0/1
Mr. HUANG Junlong (Note 2) =R (1 iE2) 11 11 0/1
Dr. YAN Chengda (Note 3) YAN Chengdaf& £ (##:£3) 11 11 0/1
Ms. LIU Ning (Note 4) AE L+ (Hist4) 01 01 7
Executive Directors HITEF
Dr. SO Shu Fai EREEE L il 171 11
Mr. YU Zhiliang RERTE 11 11 11
Mr. WONG King Yuen ERIREE 171 171 171
Independent non-executive Directors BUHNTEE
Dr. WONG Wing Kuen, Alert FoEEL 11 11 11
Ms. CHEN Yanping PR Lt 11 11 11
Dr. SHI Xinping (Note 5) S EFE L (f75E5) 0/1 0/1 11
Mr. HE Qi (Note 5) AR L (HaE5) 0/1 0/1 11
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/ﬁs lm\Aiﬁﬂ:

SHAREHOLDERS' MEETINGS (continued)

Notes:

(1) Appointed as non-executive Director, the chairman of the Board and the chairman
of the nomination committee of the Company with effect from 18 March 2016.
Due to business affairs, Mr. XU could not attend the annual general meeting held
on 28 April 2017, and the extraordinary general meetings held on 28 April 2017
and 19 December 2017. He had appointed Mr. HUANG to act on his behalf on 28
April 2017 and Ms. LIU to act on his behalf on 19 December 2017.

(2)  Appointed as non-executive Director and the member of the remuneration
committee of the Company with effect from 18 March 2016. Mr. HUANG could not
attend the extraordinary general meeting on 19 December 2017 and had appointed
Ms. LIU to act on his behalf.

(3)  Appointed as non-executive Director of the Company with effect from 18 March
2016. Dr. YAN could not attend the extraordinary general meeting on 19 December
2017 but there were sufficient executive Directors, independent non-executive
Directors and non-executive Directors present to enable the Board to develop a
balanced understanding of the views of the Company’s shareholders.

(4)  Ms. LIU could not attend the annual general meeting and the extraordinary general
meeting held on 28 April 2017 but there were sufficient executive Directors,
independent non-executive Directors and non-executive Directors present to enable
the Board to develop a balanced understanding of the views of the Company’s
shareholders.

(5)  Dr. SHI 'and Mr. HE could not attend the annual general meeting and extraordinary
general meeting on 28 April 2017 but there were sufficient executive Directors,
independent non-executive Directors and non-executive Directors present to enable
the Board to develop a balanced understanding of the views of the Company’s
shareholders.

Code Provision A.6.7 stipulates that independent non-executive
Directors and other non-executive Directors should attend general
meetings, and develop a balanced understanding of the views
of shareholders. Mr. XU Yongjun and Ms. LIU Ning, both are
non-executive Directors and Dr. SHI Xinping and Mr. HE Qi, an
independent non-executive Director, did not attend the AGM and
extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 28 April 2017
due to other business engagement. Mr. XU Yongjon, Mr. HUANG
Junlong, and Dr. YAN Chengda, all are non-executive Directors, did
not attend the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held
on 19 December 2017 due to other business engagement. However,
there were sufficient executive Directors, independent non-executive
Directors and non-executive Directors present to enable the Board
to develop a balanced understanding of the views of the Company’s
shareholders.

Code Provision E.1.2 stipulates that the chairman of the Board should
attend the annual general meeting. Mr. XU Yongjon, chairman of the
Board, could not attend the AGM held on 28 April 2017 due to other
business engagement which was a deviation from Code Provision
E.1.2. However, he had appointed Mr. HUANG Junlong, a non-
executive Director as his alternate director who chaired the AGM and
answered questions for shareholders of the Company.
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S 1M\A$Ed:

SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETINGS (continued)

The Company considers that effective communication with
shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and investor
understanding of the Group’s business performance and strategies.
The Company also recognises the importance of transparency
and timely disclosure of corporate information, which will enable
shareholders and investors to make the best investment decisions.

The Company established different communication channels with
shareholders and investors, including (i) printed copies of corporate
communications (including but not limited to annual reports, interim
reports, notices of meetings, circulars and proxy forms and other
corporate information) required under the Listing Rules; (ii) the
general meetings of the Company provide a forum for communication
between the Board and the shareholders. The Chairman of the Board
as well as the respective chairman of the Nomination Committee,
the Remuneration Committee and the Audit Committee or, in their
absence, other members of the respective committees are available
to answer questions for shareholders and stakeholders at the general
meetings; (iii) the Company’s registrars deal with shareholders for
share registration and related matters; and (iv) the Directors and/or
investor relationship team of the Company handles enquiries from
shareholders and investors generally.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHT

The Company is committed to pursue active dialogue with
shareholders as well as to provide disclosure of information
concerning the Group’s material developments to shareholders,
investors and other stakeholders.

AGM of the Company serves as an effective forum for communication
between shareholders and the Board. Notice of the AGM together
with the meeting materials are despatched to all shareholders not less
than 21 days and not less than 20 business days prior to the AGM.

The chairman of the Board and of Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee, or in their absence, other
members of the respective Committees, are invited to the AGM
to answer questions from shareholders. External auditors are also
invited to attend the AGM to answer questions about the conduct
of the audit, the preparation and content of the auditor’s report, the
accounting policies and auditor independence.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHT (continued)

The Company’s last AGM was held on 28 April 2017 and
extraordinary general meetings were held on 28 April 2017 and 19
December 2017. All the resolutions proposed at these meetings were
approved by shareholders of the Company by poll. Details of the poll
results are available under the “Announcements and Notices” section
of the Company’s website at http://ir.cmland.hk.

Vote of shareholders at general meeting will be taken by poll in
accordance with the Listing Rules, unless otherwise required and
permitted. Detailed procedures for conducting a poll will be explained
to the shareholders at the inception of general meeting to ensure
that shareholders are familiar with such voting procedures. Separate
resolution will be proposed by the chairman of general meeting in
respect of each substantial issue. The poll results will be posted on
the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange on the same
business day of the general meeting.

Pursuant to the Articles of Association of the Company, general
meetings can be convened on the written requisition of any two or
more members of the Company deposited at the principal place of
business of the Company in Hong Kong at:

Room 2603 to 2606, 26/F, China Merchants Tower
Shun Tak Centre

Nos. 168-200 Connaught Road Central

Hong Kong

IRERAER (a1)
RARRERBE—ABREAFAEER_T—LFWMA
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHT (continued)

specifying the objects of the meeting and signed by the requisitionists,
provided that such requisitionists held as at the date of deposit of
the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of
the Company which carries the right of voting at general meetings
of the Company. General meetings may also be convened on the
written requisition of any one member of the Company which is a
recognised clearing house (or its nominee(s)) deposited at the principal
place of business of the Company in Hong Kong as set out above
specifying the objects of the meeting and signed by the requisitionist,
provided that such requisitionist held as at the date of deposit of
the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the
Company which carries the right of voting at general meetings of
the Company. If the Board does not within 21 days from the date
of deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene the meeting
to be held within a further 21 days, the requisitionist(s) themselves
or any of them representing more than one-half of the total voting
rights of all of them, may convene the general meeting in the same
manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which meetings may be
convened by the Board provided that any meeting so convened shall
not be held after the expiration of three months from the date of
deposit of the requisition, and all reasonable expenses incurred by
the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to them by the Company.

CORPORATE COMMUNICATION

The Group should announce its annual results and interim results in
a timely manner before the time limits set out in the Listing Rules.
Separate resolutions are proposed at the annual general meetings
on each separate issue, including the election of individual Directors.
In addition, procedures for demanding a poll at the annual general
meeting will also be included in the circular to shareholders dispatched
together with this report.

The Group maintains a website of http://ir.cmland.hk which enables
shareholders of the Company, investors and the general public to
access to the information of the Group on a timely basis. Financial
information and all corporate communications of the Group are made
available on the Group’s website and updated regularly.

Shareholders should direct their questions about their shareholdings
to the Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar: Tricor Tengis
Limited at Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong
Kong.
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Shi ne‘ZOan

TO THE MEMBERS OF
CHINA MERCHANTS LAND LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Merchants Land Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages
110 to 259, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2017, and the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2017, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA™)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”)
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Carrying value of properties for sale

Refer to note 22 to the consolidated financial statements and the

accounting policies on page 140.

The key audit matter
BREEKER

FRREXEE®)
AEHEYEZREE
Z2HEAFBRRWT22RF140E 2 €5 HE -

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EPRBRENAEEER

The Group has properties for sale with carrying value of
approximately RMB33,293,771,000 as at 31 December
2017. It represents completed properties for sale and
properties under development for sale of approximately
RMB7,311,498,000 and RMB25,982,273,000 respectively,
and is held at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
RZZE—+tF+-A=+—H ESEHEEREBEHNRA
[R#33,293,771,000 T 2 AT E W 3 - AT EE W ¥ 45
FEREERIVERAIHEEERTDEIFINARK
7,311,498,0007T & A R #25,982,273,0007T * M 32K 2 K A]
BHFEME 2 REERE o

Assessments of the net realisable values of completed
properties for sale and properties under development for sales
are carried out at each reporting date and are dependent on
the Group's estimates of selling prices, costs of completion (if
any) and selling expenses.

FEHEERIYERAIHEEERRTYE L AIFRFEL
RN B WE BEETT  WEHUARREREHEE - BT KAE
(B REERZ 2kt -

A change in the Group’s estimate of selling prices, costs of
completion or selling expenses could have a material impact
on the carrying value of properties for sale in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements.
SEHEE RIKASEERI 2t 2 S B AIEHE
iﬁ/\ﬁﬁ%iﬁiqﬂ AIEHEY X RAEBKERLE -

Our procedures were designed to review the management’s
assessment process and understand and assess the
reasonableness of the methods and assumptions used to
estimate the net realisable value of properties for sale.
HAZIEFE ERa EREZRABE - WEE NG
A EME 2 ISR FEMB I ERBRR AR -

We have discussed with management to understand the
status and future plan for each property development project
and assessed the assumptions of management’s assessment
including but not limited to estimated selling prices, costs of
completion and selling expenses. In the assessment process,
we have also considered estimated selling prices against
available recent prices achieved in the relevant real estate
market, if any, the ageing of properties for sale and sufficiency
of provision for slow-moving items.
BMERSEMERZIER MEREHETwm - ARRERH
AR R AR R & - RAHEE R E 2 sk R & (BIFE TR G
SEE - BRIKAREERX) - RAMGEBRES - HATEE
HRMEHET S AR E(WNE)  AIftHEmE L2
EBERARFHEBER BB e EERBMEFEE -
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Valuation of amounts due from associates, joint ventures
and non-controlling equity holders of the Group

Refer to note 23 to the consolidated financial statements and the
accounting policies from pages 144 and 146.

The key audit matter
BREEREE

AREEZEE g

FEWEE NG  EECERSEEFIZERER
BEAREZMHGE

MG AN ERENT23RE144R 1468 2 @K
% °

How the matter was addressed in our audit
RPN EZENEEEE

The Group has amounts due from associates, joint ventures and
non-controlling equity holders of the Group of approximately
RMB801,461,000, RMB7,309,669,000 and RMB3,958,767,000
respectively as at 31 December 2017.

RIZE—tF+-A=+—HB EEESEFRKEEAR - 5%
EEREEEERESFA ATIELH ARE-01,461,000T - AR
#£7,309,669,0007T X A R#3,958,767,0007T °

There are significant judgement and assumptions involved as to the
ability to repay the outstanding amounts by the respective entities.
FEREENREERIE 2N REANHE RRE o
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Our procedures were designed to review the
management’s assessment process and understand
and assess the reasonableness of the methods and
assumptions used to estimate the recoverability of
amounts due from the respective entities.

B2 F B el BEE 2 B2 - WERAR KAT
(b ET RIS B RBRUA 2 AR E TR 2 75 7A R R
R EEME -

We have discussed the indicators of possible
impairment with the management and, where
such indicators were identified, assessed the
management’s impairment testing; and

HBMERMA R 2 BEFREAEREm « M
RZENR - HEEE ZREANGSETTME 0 &

We have understood and assessed the assumptions
and critical judgment used by the management by
assessing the reliability of the management'’s past
estimates and taking into account the calculation
methodologies, economic factors, financial position
of the respective entities and settlements received
after year end, if any.

BB BB EEERA M ZAEERERH
FE - RBEE - REB VIR R G 41 UER
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Income tax

Refer to notes 9 and 21 to the consolidated financial statements and
the accounting policies from pages 156 and 158.

The key audit matter
BREEKER

FRREXEE®)

st
BEGAMIEREMEOR21ARE156 % 158H 2
S -

How the matter was addressed in our audit

MR EXENAEEER

The Group is subject to Land Appreciation Tax (“LAT"”) in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC"). However, the implementation of the
tax varies amongst different cities of the PRC and certain projects of
the Group have not finalised their LAT calculations with their local tax
authorities. Accordingly, significant judgement and estimates from the
management of the Group are required in determining the amount of
LAT and the corresponding deferred tax assets arising from LAT.
BEEEEHMPEARILME([FE]) T #hB BB (IR ER ) -
AT - Bt EBR I EFRBRARMTME - B5 SR AREE T
BHEARTES THEE 2 DB ERTERE - Bt - REE L MIEE
MeRkATMIBETES 2 BRREERIBEEER  ESEERER
B B R H BT R (5T -

As at 31 December 2017, the Group has recognised deferred tax
assets of approximately RMB670,831,000 in the consolidated
statement of financial position, of which approximately
RMB539,414,000 arose from LAT provision. For the year ended 31
December 2017, income tax expense recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
of approximately RMB2,362,495,000, of which approximately
RMB1,168,684,000 and RMB178,353,000 represented LAT charge
and a credit of deferred tax arising from LAT, respectively.
RZE—tFE+-A=+—0  E5BEERGEUBARKREREL
HMIBEENARK670,831,0000T * P ARKS539,414,000TE £
WIRERREEEL BE_T—tFT_R=T—HILLFE  Ri&EE
BakEt2ERERERZMEHAXO/ARE2,362,495,000
T HRKAR1,168,684,0007T 2 AR % 178,353,0007T 5 All#E £
BEN R > M LI IR ETE A 2 RERIEE R -

Our procedures were designed to review the
management’s own calculation of LAT and
corresponding deferred tax assets and assessed the
reasonableness of the methods and assumptions
used in the calculations.

BM2EF B ERAEEER & T g ER RAERE
RIETRIBEE 2 518 - ReHbstERFTR 2 7ERR
RzarM -

We have understood and assessed the assumptions
and critical judgment used by the management in
computing LAT provision by assessing the reliability
of the management’s past estimates and taking into
account the calculation methodologies, relevant laws
and regulations, and stages of completion of the
property development projects.
BMEERTEEEERT A ARERZERENE
TE - MEEEEREEEREIRE 2R TREE
B R AT E IR E AN E T IR ER R 2 B
BEARHE -

TR LHFR BERBERARQE 105



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BB EN RS

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Information Other than the Consolidated Financial
Statements and Auditor’s Report Thereon

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the information
included in the annual report other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Directors of the Company

and Audit Committee for the Consolidated Financial
Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
such internal control as the directors of the Company determine
is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group'’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion, solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

e |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

e  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

e  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors of the Company.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the

Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

e Conclude on the appropriateness of the Company’s directors’
use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

e  Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for
our audit opinion.

We communicate with Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

We also provide Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Wong Hon Kei, Anthony.

SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Wong Hon Kei, Anthony

Practising Certificate Number: P05591
Hong Kong

20 March 2018
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
meaEmRkAtEEKER

For the year ended 31 December 2017
BE—T—+F+-A=1—HIFE

2017 2016
—E—tF —E—RF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt s ARBTT ARBEFIT
Revenue WS 5 17,310,562 11,606,442
Cost of sales SHE KA (11,604,104)  (8,269,296)
Gross profit EF| 5,706,458 3,337,146
Other income Efth g A 7 198,341 213,032
Net foreign exchange gains (losses) M 5 W ws (18 ) JF 3 198,625 (190,249)
Selling and marketing expenses SHE REHET W (323,972) (269,760)
Administrative expenses T H (140,611) (130,201)
Fair value loss on derivative financial instruments #7448 T A2 A (EEE 30 (13,983) (56,524)
Share of profits (losses) of associates B (=1 /NG =TI 5= 17 137,379 (44,030)
Share of profits (losses) of joint ventures DMEEECEZ G (ER) 18 1,139 (20,930
Gain on deemed disposal of joint ventures BIEHEAE N EZ WG 18 1,031 -
Finance costs & fk 2N 8 (462,929) (296,165)
Profit before tax R F A A 10 5,301,478 2,542,319
Income tax expense FTS i 9 (2,362,495)  (1,427,265)
Profit for the year REE i F 2,938,983 1,115,054
Other comprehensive income, Efth 2 E A (FOBRPTIS L)
net of income tax
ltem that may be reclassified subsequently HEpuEyoEE RS yIEE ¢
to profit or loss:
Exchange differences arising on AN E TR EAE VB =5
translating foreign operations (24,365) 20,166
Profit and total comprehensive income AFEEmMREERALEE
for the year 2,914,618 1,135,220
Profit for the year attributable to: IARATEEARFER BT
Owners of the Company RARER A 1,638,124 811,449
Non-controlling interests FEPE AR 2 1,300,859 303,605
2,938,983 1,115,054
Profit and total comprehensive income IATATEEAEE R EREAEK
for the year attributable to: N L
Owners of the Company VIN/NEIE7 2N 1,613,759 831,615
Non-controlling interests VAR 7 1,300,859 303,605
2,914,618 1,135,220
Earnings per share =Tl 13
Basic (RMB cents) ERARESD) 33.40 16.54
Diluted (RMB cents) BE(ARES) 30.61 16.54
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e PRI R

As at 31 December 2017
R-ZFE—+F+-H=+—H

2017 2016
—Z2—+tF CZT—XF
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000

et AR®TT ARETET

Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment YE - R NMERE 14 136,888 61,913
Investment properties BEME 15 1,183,563 801,159
Goodwill [EES 16 160,210 160,210
Interests in associates AN - e 17 330,364 192,985
Interests in joint ventures REELE R 18 1,453,514 108,644
Available-for-sale investments A ERE 19 18,750 -
Other receivables H b U Z008 20 = 745,791
Deferred tax assets RETIBE E 21 670,831 500,662
3,954,120 2,571,364
Current assets REBEE
Properties for sale At E 22 33,293,771 32,035,534
Deposits paid for acquisitions of land use rights W& + & AT 1R S 1,115,000 1,275,940
Trade and other receivables 2R N H th R U Rk e 23 14,030,234 6,307,077
Tax recoverable A Y O] F B 240,241 329,080
Derivative component of convertible bonds AIMRES 2 HTET A D 30 83,254 116,451
Bank balances and cash RITERKIRE 24 5,100,692 5,810,922
53,863,192 45,875,004
Current liabilities RBEE
Deposits received in respect of BERIEEFEEZS
pre-sale of properties 7,272,992 10,350,183
Trade and other payables RS N Ho A FE AN FRIE 25 12,257,572 6,060,389
Loans from equity holders BEREEAER 26 4,078,935 6,443,021
Tax payable e R TE 971,876 624,925
Bank and other borrowings RITREMEE 28 1,773,095 2,572,000
Bonds payable EfHES 29 3,231,826 -
Convertible bonds Al #ARR (& & 30 1,691,604 -
Derivative component of convertible bonds AR ESE 2 TAE T AR D 30 55,892 -

31,333,792 26,050,518

Net current assets RBEERE 22,529,400 19,824,486
Total assets less current liabilities EEABERABAERS 26,483,520 22,395,850
Non-current liabilities FRBERE
Loans from equity holders EwmFEB AR 26 2,456,311 207,374
Other payables H {th fE < R IE 27 23,755 14,748
Bank and other borrowings RITRHMEE 28 1,977,934 2,705,590
Bonds payable FEESH 29 - 3,426,732
Convertible bonds AR ESH 30 = 1,714,915
Derivative component of convertible bonds AR ES 2 ITETAEE S 30 - 73,044
Deferred tax liabilities FEEHIBEE 21 254,294 145,477
4,712,294 8,287,880
Net assets EERE 21,771,226 14,107,970
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e PRI R

As at 31 December 2017
R-ZFE—+F+-H=+—H

2017 2016
—E—+tF —T—RF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
et ARETT AREET T
Capital and reserves EAXR G

Share capital f& A 37 39,132 39,132
Reserves ] 7,375,466 5,954,284

Equity attributable to owners RARER AELEZE
of the Company 7,414,598 5,993,416
Non-controlling interests eI AR HE = 43 14,356,628 8,114,554
Total equity SR 21,771,226 14,107,970

The consolidated financial statements on pages 110 to 259 were
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 20
March 2018 and are signed on its behalf by:

YU ZHILIANG
RER
Director

EZ
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
REERSER

For the year ended 31 December 2017
BE—T—+F+=-A=1—HAIFE

Attributable to the owners of the Company

AARBRERAER
Convertible
Equity bonds Non-
Share Share Other transaction equity Translation  Retained controlling Total
capital  premium  reserves reserve reserve reserve profits Total interests equity
BER5 TRRES
BE  RGEE EREE R RERE  EXRE  REOE @it FERES  ERAE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARBTT ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETT ARETT ARETR
(Note ii) (Note )
(Hiéti) (Ayati)
At 1 January 2016 RZZ—~5-A—-R 39132 6,141972 (2,402,195  (957.977) 414329 27516 1915419 517819 6,506,894 11,685,090
Profit for the year AEREER - - - - = - 811449 811449 303605 1,115,054
Other comprehensive income for the year: AEEEMEZAKE
~ Exchange differences arising on —ENETREEEY
translating of foreign operations EXER - - - - - 20,166 - 20,166 = 20,166
Profit and total comprehensive income REERNR2ERRER
for the year = = = = = 20,166 811,449 831,615 303,605 1,135,220
Deemed disposal of a subsidiary without TEHIERE R TRIELE
change of control (Notes 32 () and (i) —FHBRR(HE320%0)) - - - 4,043 - - - 4,043 (4,043) =
Capital injection from non-controlling equity ~ JRE FEEREREEAZTE
holders (Note i) (Hitii) - - - - - - - - 1030235 1030235
Acquisition of non-wholly owned subsidiaries  {EABEREAE 2 E2 EHE
accounted for as assets acquisition (Note 33) ~ ARIKE(H:233) - - - - - - - - 913712 291372
Incorporation of a non-wholly owned subsidiary Fek—53E2 ENBAT - - - - - - - - 6,000 6,000
Dividend declared to non-controlling RFERERFEATRRE
equity holders (Note 12) (H1i12) - - - - - - - - (19,509)  (19,509)
Dividend declared (Note 12) BERRE(Hit12) - (20438) - - - - - (20439 - (0439)
At 31 December 2016 W=F-~F+-A=1-R 39132 6,121,534 (2,402,195  (953.934) 414329 47,682 2,726,868 5993416 8,114,554 14,107,970
At 1 January 2017 R=F—+5-A—-R 39,132 6,121,534 (2,402,195 (953,934 414,329 47,682 2,726,868 5993416 8,114,554 14,107,970
Profit for the year AEEER - - - = = - 1638124 1638124 1300859 2,938,983
Other comprehensive income for the year:  AEEEf2EME
~ Exchange differences arising on BN EBREEE
translating of foreign operations EXZ® = = = - - (24,365) - (24,365) - (24,365)
Profit and total comprehensive income rEEENR2ERRES
for the year - - - - - (24,365 1,638,124 1613759 1,300,859 2,914,618
Deemed disposal of a subsidliary without ERHRAAES THIELE
change of control (Note 32(i)) —FHBREHE32(i) - - - 3393 - - - 3,393 (3393) =
Capital injection by non-controlling equity ~ REFEHERERRAAZTE
holders (Note i) (isii) - - - - - - - - 5143619 5143619
Dividend declared to non-controlling equity ~ FHEREREEASERE
holders (Note 12) (Kit12) = = = = = = = - (199,011)  (199,011)
Dividend declared (Note 12) EEERE(HE12) - (195970) - - - - - (195970) - (195970)
At 31 December 2017 R-E—+&+-fA=1+-H 39,132 5925564 (2,402,195  (950541) 414,329 23317 4364992 7414598 14,356,628 21,771,226
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 December 2017
B2 —F—+FF+-HA=+—HIEFEF

Notes:

(i) Included in retained profits of approximately RMB586,705,000 (2016:
RMB379,647,000) represents statutory reserve of the subsidiaries established in
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"). According to the relevant laws in the
PRC, wholly foreign-owned enterprises in the PRC are required to transfer their net
profit after tax, as determined under the PRC accounting regulations, to a non-
distributable reserve fund before the distribution of a dividend to equity owners.
Such reserve fund can be used to offset the previous years’ losses, if any, and is non-
distributable other than upon liquidation.

(ii) The other reserves comprise of:

(@  The deemed consideration from the immediate holding company, Success
Well Investments Limited (“Success Well”) arising from the completion of
restructuring in prior years;

(b)  The consideration of the sales shares arising from the restructuring in prior
years as deemed distribution to Success Well; and

(c) The difference between (i) the consideration of the restructuring; and (ii) the
paid-up capital of the entities involved in the restructuring contributed by
intermediate holding company, Eureka Investment Company Limited at the
date of restructuring, deducted by the share capital and share premium of
the Company at the date of restructuring.

(i) During the years ended 31 December 2017 and 2016, non-controlling equity
holders injected capital into the following subsidiaries.

(@  On 30 March 2016, Shenzhen Jiayin Shengshi Investment Management
Partnership Co. Ltd.* (“Jiayin Shengshi”) subscribed registered capital of
Foshan Yi Yun Guan Yuan Property Development Co., Ltd* (“Yi Yun Guan
Yuan”) of RMB20,000,000, a non wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
for details please see note 32(i).

(b)  On 28 December 2016, Shenzhen Lianxin Investment and Management
Company Limited* subscribed registered capital of RMB49,000,000 to
incorporate a subsidiary, FA R AT B R E B R A R

(¢ On 30 June 2016, Nanjing Renyuan Investment Co., Ltd.* (“Nanjing
Renyuan”) and Poly Jiangsu Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.* (“Poly
Jiangsu”) subscribed registered capital of Nanjing Shanjieyi Property
Development Company Limited* (“Nanjing Shanjieyi”), a non wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, of RMB490,000,000 in total. On 28 December
2016, Nanjing Renyuan and Poly Jiangsu further subscribed registered capital
of Nanjing Shanjieyi of RMB470,000,000 and contributed capital reserve
of RMB1,235,000. As a result the registered capital of Nanjing Shanjieyi
increased to RMB1,500,000,000, for details please see note 32(ii).

(d)  On 1 November 2017, the intermediate holding company, China Merchants
Shekou Industrial Zone Holdings Co., Ltd. (“China Merchants Skekou”)
and China Merchants Land (Shenzhen) Limited* (“China Merchants Land
(Shenzhen)”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, subscribed for the
registered capital of Merchants Nanjing Real Estate Co., Ltd.* (“Merchants
Nanjing”) of RMB4,900,000,000 and RMB5,100,000,000 respectively.
As a result, the registered capital and capital reserve of Merchants
Nanjing increased from RMB30,000,000 to RMB158,380,800, and nil to
RMB9,871,619,200 respectively. The proportion effective ownership interest
held by the Group remains unchanged at 51%.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
REERSER

For the year ended 31 December 2017
BE—T—+F+=-A=1—HAIFE

Notes: (continued)

(iii)

(continued)

(e)

On 30 June 2017, Merchants Property Development (Guangzhou) Limited*
(“Merchants Guangzhou”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
EBRFAEEHEEXARDR (ERFEE] and FILTSHEBRRE R
BIRAE ((#LT£5]) had signed an agreement to capitalise advances
to Foshan Kai Da Cheng Investment Development Co., Ltd.* (“Foshan Kai
Da Cheng”) of approximately RMB253,521,000, RMB69,594,000 and
RMB173,985,000 respectively as its registered capital. As a result, the
registered capital of Foshan Kai Da Cheng increased from RMB10,000,000 to
RMB507,100,000. There is no contractual cash inflow to the Group.

On 28 August 2017, certain employees of Foshan Merchants Zhonghuan
Property Development Co., Ltd* (FILBEFREHERZEFR AR
(“Merchants Zhonghuan”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
advanced cash of approximately RMB40,000 to Merchants Zhonghuan. The
advance does not have maturity date and the distribution payments can be
at the discretion of the Group. The advance is classified as equity instrument
and recorded in non-controlling interests.

* Unofficial English translation denotes for identification purpose only

Kt - (%)

(iii)

(%)

(e)

R-E—+&XA=1+8 BEEHEEMNERA
Al BRVEEEEEXERAR([ERMEE]) R
ISR RR MAR AR ([HILT S ]) T R
BT ElERE AR AR AR ([#LmElER ) H 5l
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#507,100,0007C * AEEW EANBEERE °
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
mERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2017
B2 —F—+FF+-HA=+—HIEFEF

2017 2016
—B—tfF —TRF
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARKETR

OPERATING ACTIVITIES R

Profit before tax BR 7% A g A 5,301,478 2,542,319

Adjustments for: BTAIAE
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment Y - BE M RETTE 10,795 5,775
Depreciation of investment properties KREMFEIE 38,764 668
Fair value loss on derivative financial instruments MEeMmIAZ AT EER 13,983 56,524
Finance costs A& A A 462,929 296,165
Gain on deemed disposal of joint ventures B[IEHER S 2 e (1,031) -
Gain on disposal of investment properties HEREME 2 Wk (10,393) (22,179)
Interest income AN (173,066) (151,820)
Loss (gain) on disposal of property, plant HEME - BEREB BBk

and equipment 156 (38)

Share of (profits) losses of associates E(EEEE AR 2 Carl)EE (137,379) 44,030
Share of (profits) losses of joint ventures FEiRE S 7 CHER) EER (1,139) 20,930
Unrealised foreign exchange (gains) losses, net AEIRE N (U ES) B8 35 (334,015) 333,643

Operating cash flows before movements in working #38& ¢ EHp 2 LR RE

capital 5,171,082 3,126,017
Increase in properties for sale A4 & Y E N (890,284) (2,403,159)
Decrease (increase) in deposit paid for acquisition of U & + b {F B4 P s & s > (38 0)

land use rights 160,940 (1,275,940)
Increase in trade and other receivables SRS N L Ath E U R IR 1 0 (641,118) (163,482)
Decrease (increase) in restricted bank deposits for 484 2 7 F7 B 2 BRI $R 1717 20 2>

operating use (3E40) (10,860) (58,530)
(Decrease) increase in deposits received in respect of BUTEE WEiES CF 4 )N

pre-sale of properties (3,077,191) 661,487
Increase in trade and other payables B N ELAth FE A~ FRIEIE AN 2,563,279 108,971
Cash generated from (used in) operations EEEGER)ER S 3,275,848 (4,636)
PRC Enterprise Income Tax paid BB EMmEH (819,373) (552,667)
PRC Land Appreciation Tax (“LAT") paid B AR B A a3 E A ([ -3 E R ) (306,720) (335,485)
Interest received 2 W F B 172,947 132,029
NET CASH GENERATED FROM (USED IN) KETEME(ER)RESFE

OPERATING ACTIVITIES 2,322,702 (760,759)

116 CHINA MERCHANTS LAND LIMITED Annual Report 2017



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
mEHERER

For the year ended 31 December 2017
BE—T—+F+=-A=1—HAIFE

2017 2016
—E—+tF ZZ—XF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TRT ARETTT

INVESTING ACTIVITIES REEE
Advance to joint ventures Aa BT (7,346,567) (1,119,304)
Advance to non-controlling equity holders of 7R &2 (B BT 28 A Rl SE PR AR i 2

subsidiaries of the Group BAARK (2,065,213)  (1,473,041)
Investments in joint ventures REEREZRE (1,342,700) (121,170)
Net cash outflow from acquisition of a wholly-owned k&2 & [ &8 A &30 LA S B Ui AR

subsidiary acquired for as assets acquisition ZBERFE (450,975) =
Net cash outflow from acquisition of non e BE FE 2 BB A Bl LA K E Ui

wholly-owned subsidiaries accounted for as ARRZEEmLF5E

assets acquisition = (359,968)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEWE  BEMEE (86,146) (31,806)
Advance to associates BEESYNEIEZEA (83,113) (1,015,630)
Investment in available-for-sale investment RAHEHERE KA (18,750) —
Advance to fellow subsidiaries EIEERGIEPNSE-S (13,150) (9,926)
Advance to intermediate holding companies BlEEER ey ONGIE=EN (501) -
Repayment from joint ventures EEDEER 1,362,402 360,263
Repayment from non-controlling equity holders of  ZR&=E B A Tl IEZREREE ALY

subsidiaries of the Group B 934,554 =
Repayment from associates NS b 7Y 742,230 926,419
Repayment from fellow subsidiaries CENIEYNGI P S 13,840 -
Proceeds received on disposal of investment properties &% & ¥ 2 FriS 218 11,634 35,953
Repayment from intermediate holding companies — RIE#EIR A 7&K 248 =
Proceeds received on disposal of property, plant HEYE - BEMREATERE

and equipment 220 343
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES REZFBHEAREFH (8,341,987)  (2,807,867)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

AERTRER

For the year ended 31 December 2017
B2 —F—+FF+-HA=+—HIEFEF

2017 2016
—EB—tE —TRF
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥TT ARETT
FINANCING ACTIVITIES mMEES
Repayment to fellow subsidiaries B R B A RlE K (10,808,281) -
Bank borrowings repaid BERITEE (2,876,500)  (1,500,307)
Repayment to non-controlling equity holders of A2 5 [ /B8 2 B FEiE AR i o
subsidiaries of the Group BB ANER (2,629,607)  (1,172,902)
Repayment to intermediate holding company M E B AR A RIE R (1,285,982)  (1,130,156)
Interest paid 255 (812,357) (575,073)
Dividends paid BEfEE (394,981) (39,947)
Repayment to associates NI e (284,200) -
Repayment to joint ventures SEMEER (183,300) =
Redemption of bonds R &S5 - (3,382)
Advance from fellow subsidiaries KERRXMBAT ZEBRK 12,593,678 22,799
Capital contributed by non-controlling equity NE BB A R FEZE RS
holders of subsidiaries of the Group HEATE 4,900,040 1,030,235
Advance from non-controlling equity holders of KEAEBKE A B IR RS
subsidiaries of the Group HEAZEBEK 4,051,528 3,637,821
New bank and other borrowings raised HEERTRAEMES 1,349,939 2,195,406
Advance from intermediate holding companies REFEERAR 28K 923,343 2,683,522
Contribution from non-controlling equity holders of 3k &5 AN B[ B A R SEIEARAE R ZH A A
subsidiary of the Group for incorporation of a AR —RIFEZENBRRZ
non-wholly owned subsidiary HIR - 6,000
Advance from joint ventures REGEDEZBR 453,179 173,800
Advance from associates REHE QR 2K 302,584 266,159
NET CASH GENERATED FROM FINANCING REEEBBESTFE
ACTIVITIES 5,299,083 5,593,975
NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN ReRERBESER (RD) G FEE
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (720,202) 2,025,349
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FOERLRERAELHEB
AT THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 5,751,892 3,696,837
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATE ExgsE
CHANGES (888) 29,706
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FRESRERABELER -
AT THE END OF THE YEAR,
represented by bank balances and cash EIRTTEB MRS 5,030,802 5,751,892
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R a B RAR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2017
BE—T—+F+=-A=1—HAIFE

1.

GENERAL

China Merchants Land Limited (the “Company”, together
with its subsidiaries, collectively referred to as the “Group”) is
incorporated in the Cayman Islands as a limited liability company
and its shares are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The address
of the registered office and principal place of business of the
Company are disclosed in the “Corporate Information” section
to the annual report.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding and
the principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 42.

The Company’s immediate holding company is Success Well,
which is a limited liability company incorporated in the British
Virgin Islands (the “BVI”). The intermediate holding company is
China Merchants Shekou, which is established in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC") and listed on the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange Limited. The ultimate holding company is China
Merchants Group Limited (“CMG"). CMG is a PRC enterprise
regulated and directly managed by the State-owned Assets
Supervision and Administration Commission of the State Council
and is owned and controlled by the PRC government.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Renminbi
(“"RMB"), which is also the functional currency of the Company.

—RER

REREMARAR(AAR]  EAANEL
A [AEE ) ARAERSEMR L ARA
7 HROREBBAERBHRERA T (B
FDERLT - AATZEMBPFEREES
SBNFR [ ARAR ] —HF RE -

ARRZEBXEKAREER - HNB AR Z
FEEBEHI AW ESL2 ©

ARRAZHEEBRARRRE (RN RBRE LR
SERBRZESDEMKILZERAR) - M
BERARABEREA(ARPEARLME
(ThBE DKL ZAR » RRRINEZRZ A
RARLEM) - REEBRARRBERERFR
RE([HAEREE]) - FERKESHEKE
BEEEEEERZBEEEYERER 2T
Bk - HEPBEBUFHAE LSRG -

RAMBHRENARB(TAREDE 82X
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R AR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2017
B2 —F—+FF+-HA=+—HIEFEF

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(“HKFRS(s)")

In the current year, the Group has applied the following new and
revised HKFRSs, which include HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKAS(s)”), amendments and Interpretations
("Int(s)”), issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA").

Amendments to
HKFRSs

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2014 —
2016 Cycle: Amendments to HKFRS 12

Amendments to Disclosure Initiative

HKAS 7
Amendments to Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for
HKAS 12 Unrealised Losses

Except as described below, the application of other new and
revised HKFRSs in the current year has had no material impact
on the Group's financial performance and positions for the
current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 7 Disclosure Initiative

The amendments require entities to provide disclosures that
enable users of financial statements to evaluate changes in
liabilities arising from financing activities, including both changes
arising from cash flows and non-cash changes. The amendments
do not prescribe a specific method to fulfil the new disclosure
requirements. However, the amendments indicate that one way
is to provide a reconciliation between the opening and closing
balances for liabilities arising from financing activities.

The application of amendments to HKAS 7 has resulted in
additional disclosures on the Group’s financing activities,
especially a reconciliation between the opening and closing
balances in the consolidated statement of financial position
for liabilities arising from financing activities is provided in note
37. On initial application of the amendments, the Group is
not required to provide comparative information for preceding
periods. Apart from the additional disclosure in note 37, the
directors of the Company considered that these amendments
have had no impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R PR AR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2017
BE-FT—+F+-FA=1+—HIFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRS(S)") (continued)

New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and revised
HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

HKFRS 9 (2014)
HKFRS 15
HKFRS 16
HKFRS 17

Amendments to
HKFRSs

Amendments to
HKFRSs

Amendments to
HKFRS 2

Amendments to
HKFRS 4

Amendments to
HKFRS 9
Amendments to
HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28
Amendments to
HKAS 28
Amendments to
HKAS 40
HK(IFRIC) — Int 22

HK(IFRIC) — Int 23

A wWN =

Financial Instruments’

Revenue from Contracts with Customers'
Leases’

Insurance Contracts?

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2014 - 2016 Cycle'

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2015 -2017 Cycle?

Classification and Measurement of Share-
based Payment Transactions'

Applying HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments
with HKFRS 4 Insurance Contracts'

Prepayment Features with Negative
Compensation?

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture*

Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint
Ventures?

Transfer of Investment Property’

Foreign Currency Transactions and
Advance Consideration’

Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments?

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018.
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019.
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021.
Effective date not yet been determined
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2017
B2 —F—+FF+-HA=+—HIEFEF

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(“HKFRS(S)") (continued)

New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet effective
(continued)

The directors of the Company anticipate that, except as
described below, the application of other new and revised
HKFRSs will have no material impact on the results and the
financial position of the Group.

HKFRS 9 (2014) Financial Instruments

HKFRS 9 issued in 2009 introduces new requirements for the
classification and measurement of financial assets. HKFRS 9
was amended in 2010 and includes the requirements for the
classification and measurement of financial liabilities and for
derecognition. In 2013, HKFRS 9 was further amended to bring
into effect a substantial overhaul of hedge accounting that will
allow entities to better reflect their risk management activities
in the financial statements. A finalised version of HKFRS 9 was
issued in 2014 to incorporate all the requirements of HKFRS
9 that were issued in previous years with limited amendments
to the classification and measurement by introducing a “fair
value through other comprehensive income” (“FVTOCI")
measurement category for certain financial assets. The finalised
version of HKFRS 9 also introduces an “expected credit loss”
model for impairment assessments.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2017
BE-FT—+F+-FA=1+—HIFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRS(S)") (continued)

New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet effective
(continued)
HKFRS 9 (2014) Financial Instruments (continued)

Key requirements of HKFRS 9 (2014) are described as follows:

—  All recognised financial assets that are within the scope of

HKFRS 9 (2014) to be subsequently measured at amortised
cost or fair value. Specifically, debt investments that are
held within a business model whose objective is to collect
the contractual cash flows, and that have contractual cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal outstanding are generally measured at
amortised cost at the end of subsequent accounting
periods. Debt instruments that are held within a business
model whose objective is achieved both by collecting
contractual cash flows and selling financial assets, and that
have contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding,
are measured at FVTOCI. All other debt investments and
equity investments are measured at their fair values at
the end of subsequent reporting periods. In addition,
under HKFRS 9 (2014), entities may make an irrevocable
election to present subsequent changes in the fair value
of an equity investment (that is not held for trading) in
other comprehensive income, with only dividend income
generally recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2017
B2 —F—+FF+-HA=+—HIEFEF

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRS(S)") (continued)

New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet effective
(continued)
HKFRS 9 (2014) Financial Instruments (continued)

—  With regard to the measurement of financial liabilities
designated as at fair value through profit or loss, HKFRS
9 (2014) requires that the amount of change in the
fair value of the financial liability that is attributable to
changes in the credit risk of that liability is presented
in other comprehensive income, unless the recognition
of the effects of changes in the liability’s credit risk in
other comprehensive income would create or enlarge an
accounting mismatch in profit or loss. Changes in fair value
of financial liabilities attributable to changes in the financial
liabilities’ credit risk are not subsequently reclassified to
profit or loss. Under HKAS 39, the entire amount of the
change in the fair value of the financial liability designated
as fair value through profit or loss was presented in profit or
loss.

— In the aspect of impairment assessments, the impairment
requirements relating to the accounting for an entity’s
expected credit losses on its financial assets and
commitments to extend credit were added. Those
requirements eliminate the threshold that was in HKAS 39
for the recognition of credit losses. Under the impairment
approach in HKFRS 9 (2014), it is no longer necessary for
a credit event to have occurred before credit losses are
recognised. Instead, expected credit losses and changes in
those expected credit losses should always be accounted
for. The amount of expected credit losses is updated at each
reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition and, consequently, more timely information is
provided about expected credit losses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2017
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRS(S)") (continued)

New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet effective
(continued)
HKFRS 9 (2014) Financial Instruments (continued)

HKFRS 9 (2014) introduces a new model which more closely
aligns hedge accounting with risk management activities
undertaken by companies when hedging their financial and
non-financial risk exposures. As a principle-based approach,
HKFRS 9 (2014) looks at whether a risk component can
be identified and measured and does not distinguish
between financial items and non-financial items. The new
model also enables an entity to use information produced
internally for risk management purposes as a basis for
hedge accounting. Under HKAS 39, it is necessary to exhibit
eligibility and compliance with the requirements in HKAS
39 using metrics that are designed solely for accounting
purposes. The new model also includes eligibility criteria but
these are based on an economic assessment of the strength
of the hedging relationship. This can be determined using
risk management data. This should reduce the costs of
implementation compared with those for HKAS 39 hedge
accounting because it reduces the amount of analysis that is
required to be undertaken only for accounting purposes.

HKFRS 9 (2014) will become effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2018 with early application
permitted.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRS(S)") (continued)

New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet effective
(continued)
HKFRS 9 (2014) Financial Instruments (continued)

The directors of the Company has performed a preliminary
analysis of the Group’s financial instruments as at 31 December
2017 based on the fact and circumstances existing at that
date. The directors of the Company have assessed the impact
of adoption of HKFRS 9 (2014) on the Group’s results and
financial position, including the classification categories and the
measurement of financial assets, and disclosures, as follows:

(a) Classification and measurement
The directors of the Company expect to continue
recognising initially at fair value for all financial assets
which are subsequently measured at amortised costs. The
directors of the Company anticipate that the adoption of
HKFRS 9 (2014) will not have a material impact on the
classification and measurement of the financial assets.

(b) Impairment

The directors of the Company expect to apply the simplified
approach and record lifetime expected credit losses that are
estimated based on the present value of all cash shortfalls
over the remaining life of all of its trade receivables. The
application of the expected credit loss model may result
in earlier recognition of credit losses for trade and other
receivables and increase the amount of impairment
allowance recognised for these items.

The directors of the Company will perform a more detailed
analysis which considers all reasonable and supportable
information for the estimation of the effect of adoption
of HKFRS 9 (2014). Based on the preliminary assessment,
the directors of the Company expect that the adoption
of HKFRS 9 (2014) will not have other material impact on
amounts reported in the Group ‘s consolidated financial
statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2017
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2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRS(s)"”) (continued)

New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet effective
(continued)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

The core principle of HKFRS 15 is that an entity should recognise
revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to
customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which
the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods
or services. Thus, HKFRS 15 introduces a model that applies to
contracts with customers, featuring a contract-based five-step
analysis of transactions to determine whether, how much and
when revenue is recognised. The five steps are as follows:

i) Identify the contract with the customer;
i) Identify the performance obligations in the contract;
iii)  Determine the transaction price;

iv) Allocate the transaction price to the performance
obligations; and

v)  Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a
performance obligation.

HKFRS 15 also introduces extensive qualitative and quantitative
disclosure requirements which aim to enable users of the
financial statements to understand the nature, amount, timing
and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from contracts
with customers.

HKFRS 15 will supersede the current revenue recognition
guidance including HKAS 18 Revenue, HKAS 11 Construction
Contracts and the related Interpretations when it becomes
effective.

HKFRS 15 will become effective for annual periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2018 with early application permitted.
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2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRS(s)"”) (continued)

New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet effective
(continued)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
(continued)

The major sources of revenue of the Group are provision of
services, rental income and sales of properties. The directors of
the Company have identified the following areas that may be
affected:

—  Revenue from pre-sales of properties under development
is recognised when or as the control of the asset is
transferred to the customer. Depending on the terms of the
contract and laws that apply to the contract, control of the
properties under development may transfer over time or at
a point in time.

—  The timing of revenue recognition for sale of completed
properties, which is currently based on whether significant
risk and reward of ownership of properties transfer, will
be recognised at a later point in time when the underlying
property is legally or physically transfer to the customer
under the control transfer model.

—  Certain costs incurred for obtaining a pre-sale property
contract (e.g. sale commission), which is currently
expense off in profit and loss directly, will be eligible for
capitalisation under HKFRS 15 and match with revenue
recognition pattern of related contract in the future.

At this stage, the Group is not able to estimate the impact of
the new rules on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
The Group will make detailed assessments of the impact over the
next few months.

HKFRS 16 Leases

HKFRS 16 provides a comprehensive model for the identification
of lease arrangements and their treatment in the financial
statements of both lessors and lessees.

In respect of the lessee accounting, the standard introduces a
single lessee accounting model, requiring lessees to recognise
assets and liabilities for all leases with the lease term of more
than 12 months, unless the underlying asset has a low value.
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2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRS(s)"”) (continued)

New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet effective
(continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (continued)

At the commencement date of the lease, the lessee is required
to recognise a right-of-use asset at cost, which consists of
the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability,
plus any lease payments made to the lessor at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives received, the initial
estimate of restoration costs and any initial direct costs incurred
by the lessee. A lease liability is initially recognised at the present
value of the lease payments that are not paid at that date.

Subsequently, the right-of-use asset is measured at cost less any
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment
losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of the lease liability.
Lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the
carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability, reducing
the carrying amount to reflect the lease payment made, and
remeasuring the carrying amount to reflect any reassessment or
lease modifications or to reflect revised in-substance fixed lease
payments. Depreciation and impairment expenses, if any, on the
right-of-use asset will be charged to profit or loss following the
requirements of HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment, while
interest accrual on lease liability will be charged to profit or loss.

In respect of the lessor accounting, HKFRS 16 substantially carries
forward the lessor accounting requirements in HKAS 17 Leases.
Accordingly, a lessor continues to classify its leases as operating
leases or finance leases, and to account for those two types of
leases differently.

HKFRS 16 will supersede the current lease standards including
HKAS 17 Leases and the related Interpretations when it becomes
effective.

HKFRS 16 will become effective for annual periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2019 with early application permitted provided
that the entity has applied HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts
with Customers at or before the date of initial application of
HKFRS 16.
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2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRS(s)"”) (continued)

New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet effective
(continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (continued)

As at 31 December 2017, the Group has non-cancellable
operating lease commitments of RMB300,750,000 as disclosed
in note 38. Out of this balance, an amount of RMB277,099,000
represents operating leases with original lease terms of over
one year in which the Group will recognise right-to-use assets
and corresponding lease liabilities unless they are exempt
from the reporting obligations under HKFRS 16. The directors
of the Company expect that, apart from the changes in the
measurement, presentation and disclosure as indicated above,
the adoption of HKFRS 16 will not have other material impact
on amounts reported in the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments that
are measured at fair values.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants in the principal (or most advantageous)
market at the measurement date under current market
conditions (i.e. an exit price) regardless of whether that price
is directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Basis of preparation (continued)

In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group
takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability if
market participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.
Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements in determined on such a basis,
except for share-based payment transactions that are within the
scope of HKFRS 2, leasing transactions that are within the scope
of HKAS 17, and measurements that have some similarities to fair
value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS
2 or value in use in HKAS 36.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on
the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements
are observable and the significant of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirely, which are described as follows:

e Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can
access at the measurement date;

e Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included
within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability,

either directly or indirectly; and

e Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company (i.e. its subsidiaries). If a subsidiary prepares its financial
statements using accounting policies other than those adopted
in the consolidated financial statements for like transactions and
events in similar circumstances, appropriate adjustments are
made to that subsidiary’s financial statements in preparing the
consolidated financial statements to ensure conformity with the
group’s accounting policies.

Control is achieved where the Group has: (i) the power over
the investee; (i) exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and (jii) the ability to use its power
over the investee to affect the amount of the Group’s returns.
When the Group has less than a majority of the voting rights of
an investee, power over the investee may be obtained through:
(i) a contractual arrangement with other vote holders; (i) rights
arising from other contractual arrangements; (iii) the Group’s
voting rights and potential voting rights; or (iv) a combination of
the above, based on all relevant facts and circumstances.

The Company reassess whether it controls an investee if facts and
circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of
these elements of control stated above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control of the subsidiary and cease when the Group loses control
of the subsidiary.

Income and expenses of subsidiaries are included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income from the date the Group gains control until the date
when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income of subsidiaries are attributed to the owners of
the Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total
comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners
of the Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this
results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between entities of the Group
are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in
existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group's ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing control
over the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions.
The carrying amounts of the Group’s interests and the non-
controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their
relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference between the
amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and
the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised
directly in equity and attributed to owners of the Company.

Investment in a subsidiary

Investment in a subsidiary is included in the Company’s
statement of financial position at cost less any identified
impairment loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising from a business combination is carried at cost
less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to
each of the Group's cash-generating units (or groups of cash-
generating units) that is expected to benefit from the synergies of
the combination.

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is
tested for impairment annually or more frequently when there
is indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising
on an acquisition in a reporting period, the cash-generating unit
to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
before the end of that reporting period. If the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit is less than its carrying
amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the
carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then
to the other assets of the unit on a pro rata basis based on the
carrying amount of each asset in the unit. Any impairment loss
for goodwill is recognised directly in profit or loss. An impairment
loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in subsequent
periods.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the attributable
amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the
amount of profit or loss on disposal.

The Group's policy for goodwill relating to an associate or a joint
venture that included in the carrying amount of the investment is
set out in investments in associates and joint ventures below.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not
control or joint control of those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that
have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net
assets of the arrangement. Joint control is the contractually
agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists
only when decisions about the relevant activities require the
unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The Group's investments in associates and joint ventures are
accounted for in the consolidated financial statements using
the equity method. Under the equity method, investments in
associates and joint ventures are initially recognised at cost. The
Group’s share of the profit or loss and changes in the other
comprehensive income of the associates and joint ventures are
recognised in profit or loss and other comprehensive income
respectively after the date of acquisition. If the Group’s share
of losses of an associate or a joint venture equals or exceeds its
interest in the associate or joint venture, which determined using
the equity method together with any long-term interests that,
in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the
associate or joint venture, the Group discontinues recognising its
share of further losses. Additional losses are provided for, and
a liability is recognised, only to the extent that the Group has
incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on
behalf of the associate or joint venture.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures
(continued)

If an associate or a joint venture uses accounting policies other
than those of the Group for like transactions and events in similar
circumstances, adjustments are made to make the associate’s or
joint venture’s accounting policies conform to those of the Group
when the associate’s or joint venture’s financial statements are
used by the Group in applying the equity method.

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted for
using the equity method from the date on which the investee
becomes an associate or a joint venture. On acquisition of the
investment, any excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s
share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities
of the associate or joint venture is recognised as goodwill and is
included in the carrying amount of the investment.

Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of acquisition, after
reassessment, is recognised in profit or loss in the period in which
the investment is acquired.

After application of the equity method, including recognising the
associate’s or joint venture’s losses (if any), the Group determines
whether it is necessary to recognise any additional impairment
loss with respect to its investment in the associate or joint
venture. Goodwill that forms part of the carrying amount of an
investment in an associate or a joint venture is not separately
recognised. The entire carrying amount of the investment
(including goodwill) is tested for impairment as a single asset by
comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value-in-use and
fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any
impairment loss recognised forms part of the carrying amount
of the investment in the associate or joint venture. Any reversal
of that impairment loss is recognised to the extent that the
recoverable amount of the investment subsequently increases.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures
(continued)

When the investment ceases to be an associate or a joint venture
upon the Group losing significant influence over the associate
or joint control over the joint venture, the Group discontinues
to apply equity method and any retained interest is measured at
fair value at that date which is regarded as its fair value on initial
recognition as a financial asset in accordance with HKAS 39. Any
difference between the fair value of any retained interest and any
proceeds from disposing of a part interest in the associate or joint
venture and the carrying amount of the investment at the date
the equity method was discontinued is recognised in profit or
loss. Any amount previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in relation to that investment is reclassified to profit or
loss or retained earnings on the same basis as it would have been
required if the investee had directly disposed of the related assets
or liabilities.

When the Group’s ownership interest in an associate or
a joint venture is reduced, but the Group continues to be
classified either as an associate or a joint venture respectively,
the proportion of the gain or loss that had previously been
recognised in other comprehensive income relating to that
reduction in ownership interest is reclassified to profit or loss if
that gain or loss would be required to be reclassified to profit or
loss on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including leasehold land and
buildings held for use in the production or for administrative
purposes are stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to allocate the cost of items
of property, plant and equipment other than properties under
construction less their residual values over their estimated useful
lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives,
residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the
end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to
arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising
on the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and
equipment is determined as the difference between the sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised
in profit or loss.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Leasehold land and buildings

When a lease includes both land and building elements, the
Group assesses the classification of each element as a finance
or an operating lease separately based on the assessment as
to whether substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of each element have been transferred to the Group,
unless it is clear that both elements are operating leases in
which case the entire lease is classified as an operating lease.
Specifically, the minimum lease payments (including any lump-
sum upfront payments) are allocated between the land and the
building elements in proportion to the relative fair values of the
leasehold interests in the land element and building element of
the lease at the inception of the lease.

To the extent the allocation of the lease payments can be made
reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted for as an
operating lease is presented as prepaid lease payments in the
consolidated statement of financial position and is amortised
over the lease term on a straight-line basis. When the lease
payments cannot be allocated reliably between the land and
building elements, the entire lease is generally classified as
a finance lease and accounted for as property, plant and
equipment.

Investment properties
Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or
for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including
any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are stated at cost less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment losses. Depreciation is recognised so as to write off
the cost of investment properties over their estimated useful lives
and after taking into account of their estimated residual value,
using the straight-line method.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Investment properties (continued)

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when
the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and
no future economic benefits are expected from its disposals. Any
gain or loss arising on derecognition of the property (calculated
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset) is included in profit or loss in the
period in which the property is derecognised.

Properties for sale

Properties under development held for sale under current
assets are properties under development held for future sale in
the ordinary course of business and are stated at the lower of
cost and net realisable value. Cost includes the costs of land,
development expenditure incurred and, where appropriate,
borrowing costs capitalised. Net realisable value is determined
based on prevailing market conditions. Net realisable value takes
into account the price ultimately expected to be realised, less
applicable variable selling expenses and the anticipated cost to
completion. Upon completion, the properties are transferred to
completed properties for sale.

Completed properties for sale are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Cost includes the costs of land, development
expenditure incurred and, where appropriate, borrowing costs
capitalised. Net realisable value is determined based on prevailing
market conditions.

The Group transfers a property from properties for sale
to investment property at cost when there is a change of
intention to hold the property to earn rentals or land for
capital appreciation rather than for sale in the ordinary course
of business, which is evidenced by the commencement of an
operating lease to another party.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R a B RAR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2017
BE—T—+F+=-A=1—HAIFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and short-term deposits in the consolidated statement of
financial position comprise cash at banks and on hand and short-
term deposits with a maturity of three months or less.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and short-term
deposits, as defined above.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when a group entity
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair
value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate,
on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to
the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit
or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R AR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2017
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets

The Group's financial assets are classified into financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL"), loans and receivables
and available-for-sale financial assets. The classification
depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets
and is determined at the time of initial recognition. All regular
way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and
derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or
sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that required
delivery of assets within the time frame established by regulation
or convention in the marketplace.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating interest
income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
debt instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the
net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis for
debt instruments.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R PR AR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2017
BE-FT—+F+-FA=1+—HIFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Financial assets at FVTPL

A financial asset may be designated as FVTPL upon initial
recognition if:

e such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a
measurement or recognition inconsistency that would
otherwise arise; or

e the financial asset forms part of a group of financial
assets or financial liabilities or both, which is managed
and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis,
in accordance with the Group’'s documented risk
management or investment strategy, and information
about the grouping is provided internally on that basis; or

e it forms part of a contract containing one or more
embedded derivatives, and HKAS 39 permits the entire
combined contract (asset or liability) to be designated as at
FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value, with changes
in fair value arising from remeasurement recognised directly
in profit or loss in the period in which they arise. Fair value is
determined in the manner described in note 36.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active
market. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables
(including trade and other receivables, and bank balances and
cash) are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method, less any identified impairment loss (see accounting
policy on impairment loss on financial assets below).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale (“AFS"”) financial assets are non-derivatives
that are either designated as AFS or are not classified as (a) loans
and receivables, (b) held-to-maturity investments or (c) financial
assets at FVTPL.

AFS equity investments that do not have a quoted market price
in an active market and whose fair value cannot be reliably
measured and derivatives that are linked to and must be settled
by delivery of such unquoted equity investments are measured
at cost less any identified impairment losses at the end of
each reporting period (see the accounting policy in respect of
impairment loss on financial assets below).

Impairment loss on financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed for
indicators of impairment at the end of each reporting period.
Financial assets are considered to be impaired when there is
objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that
occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the
estimated future cash flows of the financial assets have been
affected.

For an AFS equity investment, a significant or prolonged decline
in the fair value of that investment below its cost is considered to
be objective evidence of impairment.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment loss on financial assets (continued)

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of impairment
could include:

e  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty;
or

e breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in
interest and principal payments; or

e it becoming probable that the borrower will enter into
bankruptcy or financial re-organisation; or

e disappearance of an active market for that financial asset
because of financial difficulties.

For certain categories of financial assets, such as trade and other
receivables that are assessed not to be impaired individually
are, in addition, assessed for impairment on a collective basis.
Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio of receivables
could include the Group’s past experience of collecting
payments, an increase in the number of delayed payments in the
portfolio past the average credit period, observable change in
national or local economic conditions that correlate with default
on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the
impairment loss recognised is the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future
cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s original effective
interest rate.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment loss on financial assets (continued)

For financial assets carried at cost, the amount of the impairment
loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows
discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar
financial asset. Such impairment loss will not be reversed in
subsequent periods.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the
impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the exception
of trade and other receivables, where the carrying amount is
reduced through the use of an allowance account. Changes in
the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised
in profit or loss. When a trade or other receivable is considered
uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are
credited to profit or loss.

When an available-for-sale financial asset is considered to be
impaired, cumulative gains or losses previously recognised in
other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss in
the period in which the impairment takes place.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a
subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss decreases
and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring
after the impairment losses was recognised, the previously
recognised impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss to
the extent that the carrying amount of the asset at the date the
impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost
would have been had the impairment not been recognised.

Impairment losses on available-for-sale equity investments
will not be reversed through profit or loss. Any increase in fair
value subsequent to an impairment loss is recognised directly in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in other reserve.
For available-for-sale debt investments, impairment losses are
subsequently reversed through profit or loss if an increase in the
fair value of the investment can be objectively related to an event
occurring after the recognition of the impairment loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Debts and equity instruments issued by the Group are classified
as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of
a financial liability and an equity instrument.

The Group's financial liabilities are classified as financial liabilities
at FVTPL and other financial liabilities.

Financial liabilities as FVTPL
Financial liabilities are classified as FVTPL when the financial
liabilities are those designated as at FVTPL on initial recognition.

A financial liability may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial
recognition if:

e such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a
measurement or recognition inconsistency that would
otherwise arise; or

e the financial liability forms part of a group of financial
assets or financial liabilities or both, which is managed
and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis,
in accordance with the Group’'s documented risk
management or investment strategy, and information
about the grouping is provided internally on that basis; or

e it forms part of a contract containing one or more
embedded derivatives, and HKAS 39 permits the entire
combined contract (asset or liability) to be designated as at
FVTPL.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL are measured at fair value, with any
gains or losses arising on remeasurement recognised directly
in profit or loss in the period in which they arise. The net gain
or loss is included in the fair value loss on derivative financial
instruments in profit or loss and excludes any interest paid on the
financial liabilities. Fair value is determined in a manner described
in note 36.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (continued)
Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities including trade and other payables,
loans from equity holders, bonds payable and bank and other
borrowings and liability component of convertible bonds are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest method.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the
net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis other
than those financial liabilities classified as at FVTPL, of which the
interest expense is included in net gains or losses.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (continued)
Convertible bonds

Convertible bonds issued by the Group that contain the liability,
equity components and derivatives (which are not closely related
to the host liability component) are classified separately into
respective items on initial recognition. Conversion option that
will be settled by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or
another financial asset for a fixed number of the Company’s
own equity instruments is classified as an equity instrument. At
the date of issue, both the liability and derivative components
are measured at fair value. The difference between the gross
proceeds of the issue of the convertible bonds and the fair values
assigned to the liability and derivatives respectively, representing
the conversion option for the holder to convert the loan notes
into equity, is included in equity (i.e. convertible bonds equity
reserve).

In subsequent periods, the liability component of the convertible
bonds is carried at amortised cost using the effective interest
method. The derivative component is measured at fair value with
changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

The equity component, representing the option to convert the
convertible bonds into ordinary shares of the Company, will
remain in convertible bonds equity reserve until the embedded
option is exercised (in which case the balance stated in
convertible bonds equity reserve will be transferred to share
premium).

Where the option remains unexercised at the expiry date,
the balance stated in convertible bonds equity reserve will be
released to retained profits. No gain or loss is recognised in profit
or loss upon conversion or expiration of the option.

FESHBE @)

SRIA#E)

SHMAEBERRATAH)

A E
AEERTZABRKRESBEEE  #DiD
MTETA(EZBERAILTZIMEE) - 1
MR BIL DR R EAEIE - AR MRE
EEB AR AARBEEHRBEZRATRZ
SREREEAECBHRIEREARAT
H-RBITEH  AERITEBIHARFE
FTE o |ITAMRESF TSR AR E 2 bl i
TRERMTETAEZAFEMERZZRE - B
FEAURERZBRE RSN 2 Sk -
Rz AR (BIAHa R E s i) ©

RERHE  TRRESZBEFOIBRABE
&Qﬂ DEIRB IR AT - ST RAFE
B RFEZEBHANIERER o

ok

EREBOES AT RREFBRAARRREEK
2B BRENATSRRESESRFEN B
ERTHRETERL > BREBERT - JIRA
BRESESREEHRSERERMEE -

HEBEBEERERRBRIARTE - BN AT
BB ERERERBEN - RERH
HgEEEnEng AR BE AL
RSB 1R o

—tFFR BERBELERAA 149



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R AR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2017

#HE=

3.

—tFTZA=+—HIEFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (continued)
Convertible bonds (continued)

Upon redemption of the convertible bonds, the redemption
consideration will be allocated to the liability component and
equity component using the same allocation basis as when the
convertible bonds were originally issued. Differences between
the fair value and the carrying amount of the liability component
will be recognised in profit or loss. The difference between the
redemption consideration and the equity component will be
included in equity (convertible bonds equity reserve) and released
to retained profits.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the convertible bonds
are allocated to the liability, equity and derivative components in
proportion to the allocation of the gross proceeds. Transactions
costs relating to the equity component are charged directly to
equity. Transaction costs relating to conversion derivative are
charged to profit or loss immediately. Transaction costs relating
to the liability component are included in the carrying amount
of the liability portion and amortised over the period of the
convertible bonds using the effective interest method.

Embedded derivatives

Derivatives embedded in non-derivative host contracts are
treated as separate derivatives when they meet the definition of
a derivative, their risks and characteristics are not closely related
to those of the host contracts and the host contracts are not
measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in
profit or loss.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the
issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a
loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment
when due in accordance with the original or modified terms of a
debt instrument.

A financial guarantee contract issued by the Group and not
designated as at FVTPL is recognised initially at its fair value less
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the issue of the
financial guarantee contract. Subsequent to initial recognition,
the Group measures the financial guarantee contract at the
higher of: (i) the amount of obligation under the contract, as
determined in accordance with HKAS 37 Provisions, Contingent
Liabilities and Contingent Assets; and (ii) the amount initially
recognised less, when appropriate, cumulative amortisation
recognised in accordance with the revenue recognition policy.

Derecognition

A financial asset is derecognised only when the contractual rights
to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers
the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received and receivable and the cumulative gain
or loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity is recognised in profit or loss.

A financial liability is derecognised when, and only when,
the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or expire.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial
liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is
recognised in profit or loss.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Impairment losses on tangible assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible assets to determine whether
there is any indication that those assets have suffered an
impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent
of the impairment loss, if any. When it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit
to which the asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent
basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also
allocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they
are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units
for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be
identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for
which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit)
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced
to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount
that would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating unit) in prior years.
A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss
immediately.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R PR AR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2017
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable for goods sold and services rendered in the
normal course of business, net of discounts, and sales related
taxes, estimated customer returns and rebates.

Revenue from sales of properties in the ordinary business course
of business is recognised when the respective properties have
been completed and delivered to the buyers, at which time all the
following conditions are satisfied:

e the Group has transferred to the buyer the significant risks
and rewards of ownership of the properties;

e the Group retains neither continuing managerial
involvement to the degree usually associated with
ownership nor effective control over the properties sold,;

e  the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

e itis probable that the economic benefits associated with the
transaction will flow to the Group; and

e the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the
transaction can be measured reliably.

Deposits and instalments received from purchasers of properties
for sale prior to meeting the above criteria for revenue
recognition are included in the consolidated statement of
financial position as “Deposits received in respect of pre-sale of
properties” under current liabilities.

Properties operation income is recognised when services are
provided.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when it is
probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group
and the amount of income can be measured reliably. Interest
income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal
outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable, which is
the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts
through the expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net
carrying amount on initial recognition.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the
lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessor
Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss
on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

The Group as lessee
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets
until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R PR AR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2017
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Retirement benefits costs

Payments to state-managed retirement benefit schemes/
the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF Scheme”) are
recognised as an expense when employees have rendered service
entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in
respect of wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave in
the period the related service is rendered at the undiscounted
amount of the benefits expected to be paid in exchange for that
service.

Liabilities recognised in respect of short-term employee benefits
are measured at the undiscounted amount of the benefits
expected to be paid in exchange for the related service.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in the
respective functional currency (i.e. the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates) at the rates
of exchanges prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At
the end of the reporting period, monetary items denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at
that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they arise. Exchange
differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items
carried at fair value are included in profit or loss for the period.
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3.

—tFTZA=+—HIEFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of the
Company (i.e. RMB) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of
each reporting period. Income and expenses items are translated
at the average exchange rates for the year. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity under the heading of translation
reserve (attributed to non-controlling interests as appropriate).

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no future related
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
become receivable.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit before tax as reported in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income because it excludes items of income or expense that are
taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items
that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in
the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary difference to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profits will be available against which those deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities
are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the
initial recognition of other assets and liabilities in a transaction
that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, and
interests in joint ventures and associates, except where the
Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference
and it is probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising
from deductible temporary differences associated with such
investments and interests are only recognised to the extent that
it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against
which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and
they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end
of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which
the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover
or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Taxation (continued)

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 3, the directors of the Company are required
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the
amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses reported and
disclosures made in the consolidated financial statements. The
estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant.
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and future
periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period, that have a significant risk of resulting in
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.
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4.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Deferred tax

Deferred tax assets of approximately RMB670,831,000 (2016:
approximately RMB500,662,000) mainly in relation to tax
losses and LAT have been recognised at 31 December 2017
as set out in note 21. The reliability of the deferred tax assets
mainly depends on whether sufficient future profits or taxable
temporary differences will be available in the future. The
directors of the Company determine the deferred tax assets
based on the enacted or substantially enacted tax rates and
the best knowledge of profit projections of the Group for
coming years during which the deferred tax assets are expected
to be utilised. The directors of the Company will review the
assumptions and profit projections by the end of the reporting
period. In cases where the actual future profits generated are
less than expected or there is a downward revision of estimated
future profits, a reversal of deferred tax assets may arise, which
would be recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income for the period in which
such a reversal takes place.

LAT

The Group is subject to LAT in the PRC. However, the
implementation of the tax varies amongst different tax
jurisdictions in various cities of the PRC and certain projects of the
Group have not finalised their LAT calculations with their local
tax authorities in the PRC. Accordingly, significant judgement
is required in determining the amount of land appreciation and
its related income tax provisions. The Group recognised the LAT
based on management’s best estimates. The final tax outcome
could be different from the amounts that were initially recorded,
and these differences will impact the income tax expense and the
related income tax provisions in the periods in which such tax is
finalised with local tax authorities. The carrying amount of LAT
payables is disclosed in note 25.
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4,

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Estimated write down of properties for sale

The Group records properties for sale at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Net realisable value of properties for sale
is calculated as estimated selling price in the ordinary course
of business, minus estimated cost of completion (if any), and
estimated selling expenses which are estimated based on best
available information.

The Group writes down properties for sale to net realisable value
based on assessment of the reliability of properties for sale,
taking into account costs to completion based on past experience
and net sales value based on past experience and prevailing
market conditions. If there is an increase in costs to completion or
a decrease in net sales value, the net realisable value will decrease
and this might result in write-downs of properties for sale to
net realisable value. Write-downs are recorded where events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the balances may not
be realised. The identification of write-downs requires the use
of judgements and estimates. If the expectation is different, it
will impact the carrying value of properties for sale in the period
in which such estimate is changed. The carrying amount of
properties for sale of approximately RMB33,293,771,000 (2016:
RMB32,035,534,000) as at 31 December 2017 are set out in
note 22.

Fair value of derivative components of convertible bonds

The management of the Group uses their judgments in selecting
an appropriate valuation technigue for financial instruments not
quoted in an active market. Valuation techniques commonly
used by market practitioners are applied. For derivatives
financial instruments, assumptions are made based on quoted
market rates adjusted for specific features of the instruments.
If the inputs and estimates applied in the model are different,
the carrying amount of these derivatives may change. The
carrying amounts of derivative financial assets and liabilities of
approximately RMB83,254,000 (2016: RMB116,451,000) and
RMB55,892,000 (2016: RMB73,044,000), respectively, as at 31
December 2017 are set out in note 30.

160 CHINA MERCHANTS LAND LIMITED Annual Report 2017

BT MEETHBMER 2 EEZRIR
(%)

e EETHRER 2 EEFR (&)
i 3 £ OB,
AEBTREENERRARTERFE LB
EEDIRR - T ENE Y TERFEMRN—
REBBRT 2 5 EE - BEHRTAA (M
B) R HERS - it SRR ARERE
RAARHET G -

REERBEHIEEEMERNSEE 2T
K R2EBFELBBHIBIRAURERE
BELRKIRTMASE ZHEFE  §r#
HE V) EMUR Z ] B0 FE o 58 TR AN
MekHEFERD - AR FEBSHD
I AT Bt B 1 2 B 6 T A S ) SO = AT
WHFE RNEETMNEEXBREEBRES
s A B IR - S MORASE o 3B AE R
H i R fhat - BFEHMERSHEMTRE -
BE N ZET AR E R ENEZR
EEER L - MM 228 R=E—+
FH+-A=+—8 AHEEEDEZEEEY
B ARM33,293,771,000T( —T—~4F : AR
#32,035,534,0007T) °

ARREFZTEIERD 2 AFE
AEBEEEEALANEN AT ERMIZEE W
BEvemTAERGR 2 MERN - AEEE
BmSATERZHERN - TESHRI A
REMSRERTETLEZHEHEELH
B R o WA RNER 2 & AE RbET
R ZEMETAEZERESZHRE - #
WKt E30FTE  R—ZE—+tF+_HA=+—
H fTAeREERBBEZREEBES IOA
AR #83,254000(ZF—"F : ARK
116,451,000t ) & A R# 55,892,000t (= F
— N AR¥73,044,0007T) °



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R PR AR MR

Fortheyearended37 December 2017

#HE=

4.

—tFFZA=+—HIEFE

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Impairment of amounts due from associates, joint ventures
and non-controlling equity holders of subsidiaries of the
Group

When there is objective evidence of impairment loss, the
Group takes into consideration the estimation of future cash
flows. The amount of the impairment loss is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present
value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit
losses that have not been incurred) discounted at the financial
asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e. the effective interest
rate computed at initial recognition). Where the actual future
cash flows are less than expected, a material impairment loss
may arise. During the years ended 31 December 2017 and
2016, no allowance for doubtful debts have been made on
the amounts due from associates, joint ventures and non-
controlling equity holders of subsidiaries of the Group. As at 31
December 2017, the carrying amounts of amounts due from
associates, joint ventures and non-controlling equity holders of
subsidiaries of the Group are approximately RMB801,461,000
(2016: RMB1,460,578,000), RMB7,309,669,000 (2016:
RMB1,325,504,000) and RMB3,958,767,000 (2016:
RMB2,828,108,000), respectively (see notes 20 and 23).
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5.

REVENUE

An analysis of the Group’s revenue by major products and service
categories for the year is as follows:

Y &=
BAFETZEMERRBERNE S 2 AEB YK
O :

2017 2016

—E—+tF —T—RF

RMB’'000 RMB’000

AR®T T AR®ET T

Sales of properties for sale SHER L EYE 17,215,170 11,468,458

Properties operation income LI ES=SEAL PN 9,274 78,038
Rental income from investment REFEYEZBEWAHZET0)

properties (Note 10) 86,118 59,946

17,310,562 11,606,442

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group has adopted HKFRS 8 Operating Segments, which
requires operating segments to be identified on the basis of
internal report about the components of the Group that are
regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision makers
("CODM") in order to allocate resources to segments and to
assess their performance. The CODM is the Company’s executive
director.

For the management purpose, the Group is currently organised
into the following two operating and reportable segments:
(i) Development and sales of properties and property leasing
(“Properties Segment”); and (i) sales of electronic and electrical
related products and building related materials and equipment
(“Trading Segment”). Each of which is considered as a separate
operating segment by the CODM.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R a B RAR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2017
BE—T—+F+=-A=1—HAIFE

6.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Segment revenue and results

The following is an analysis of the Group'’s revenue and results by

6. PHER @)

DEE R EE

NTREAEREEEDHE D < AKE KR

reportable and operating segments. REEDHT
Trading  Properties
Segment Segment Consolidated
B9 LS wa
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥BTT AR¥TR AR%¥TR
For the year ended BE-_Z—t&+=A

31 December 2017 =+—HLEE
Segment revenue 5 BB U E

— external customers —HNERR - 17,310,562 17,310,562
Segment results DEPFER - 539,118 5,396,118
Net foreign exchange gains P& H W F 5 198,638
Unallocated income RO A 40,425
Fair value loss on derivative TEEMIAZ

financial instruments AFEREIE (13,983)
Unallocated expenses RAMZH (35,909)
Unallocated finance costs RO BECRLE AR (283,811)
Profit before tax B B B A 5,301,478

Trading Properties
Segment Segment  Consolidated
B0 Y% 5 EB e
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETFT ARETT ARETT
For the year ended BE-—Z—X<¥+=A

31 December 2016 =t+—HLEE
Segment revenue pan=idl &

— external customers —HNERR - 11,606,442 11,606,442
Segment results DEELE 5 30427495888 3/0427495
Net foreign exchange losses b 5 B85 (190,534)
Unallocated income Ao BLUA 3,381
Fair value loss on derivative TEEMIAZ

financial instruments AFEEE (56,524)
Unallocated expenses RAOMEZH (45,490)
Unallocated finance costs R BE @& AN (211,009)
Profit before tax PR 7% A& A 2,542,319
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6.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Segment revenue and results (continued)

There were no inter-segment sales during the years ended 31
December 2017 and 2016.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the
same as the Group’s accounting policies described in note 3.
Segment results represent the profit earned by each segment
without allocation of unallocated corporate costs, fair value loss
on derivative financial instruments, net of certain finance costs,
certain interest income and certain net foreign exchange losses.
This is the measure reported to the CODM for the purposes of
resource allocation and performance assessment.

Segment assets and liabilities
The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities by
reportable and operating segments:

D EER @)

a4 &Y SESAE )
R-B—tFR_F-—A"E+-_A=1+—HLt
FENRN - WEHBHEHEE -

REDBz BT BRANEIMAANEE 2 &5
BERAR - DRRAES D BELEDERD
RARKAE  TESRMI A AFEEE &
TREXAFE ETHEBARETELES
BFRAAEEZERN o WA EEEERR
EEREERNELRAFERGE 2 GEEE -

THEERER
NTREAZEREBEDHE N 2 ARBEE
REBOH

Trading Properties

Segment Segment Consolidated
B9 L Eal wE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BT T AR¥Tr AR¥Tx

At 31 December 2017 RN-—Z2—t&E+=-A=+—8H
Segment assets HEEE - 56,886,277 56,886,277
Goodwill [EES 160,210
Other unallocated assets HEMARDBELEE 770,825
Total assets BEHAE 57,817,312
Segment liabilities DEEE - 25,829,938 25,829,938
Other unallocated liabilities EfRDE AR 10,216,148
Total liabilities BERRE 36,046,086
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Segment assets and liabilities (continued)

6. PHER @)

PMEEREEH)
Trading Properties
Segment Segment  Consolidated
B 50 E ME D& o8

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETT ARBTT ARETET

At 31 December 2016
Segment assets

1,588 46,569,999 46,571,587

Goodwill RS 160,210
Other unallocated assets Hi kDAL EE 1,714,571
Total assets BEME 48,446,368
Segment liabilities DEPEE 2,039 26,745,164 26,747,203
Other unallocated liabilities HEtARDREE 7,591,195
Total liabilities BERE 34,338,398

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and

allocating resources between segments:

e all assets, other than derivative component of convertible
bonds, goodwill and assets of the investment holding
companies, are allocated to reportable and operating

segments; and

e all liabilities, other than bonds payable, loans from equity
holders of the investment holding companies, liability
component of convertible bonds, derivative component of
convertible bonds and bank and other borrowings of the
investment holding companies, are allocated to reportable

and operating segments.

ESBRARRABHSRARDS :

EBE(TERABRBRESZITET AN
7 BELREERAREE)HORER

EMREEDE R

mERBE(TERRBNES  REZBRA
AIEERFEARR BB ESZAER
o ABEBESFZITET AR RIREE
BRARZRITREMEE)GDEEF 2R
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For the year ended 31 December 2017
B2 —F—+FF+-HA=+—HIEFEF

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6.
Other segment information
Amounts included in the measure of segment profit or loss or
segment assets.

o EBE K @)
Hih o EpER
HE D IR SRS S A R ZUE -

Trading Properties
Segment Segment Consolidated
BEZ 0% MED I wa
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR#TT ARBTRT AR%¥TR
For the year ended 31 December 2017 BE-—Z2—+tH&+=A
=t—HLEHFE
Addition to non-current assets (Note) ERBEERNE (MiE) - 1,880,568 1,880,568
Interest income 2 U A - 132,641 132,641
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment #% - fiE RSB ETE - 10,795 10,795
Depreciation of investment properties KEMETE - 38,764 38,764
For the year ended 31 December 2016 BE-—ZE—-X<Ft+=A
=t—BLEHFE
Addition to non-current assets (Note) FERBEENE (K1) 5 946,815 946,820
Interest income T B2 U A - 148,439 148,439
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 1% - HE LR EHITE 2 5,773 5,775
Depreciation of investment properties KREMERE - 668 668

Note: Non-current assets exclude deferred tax assets and financial assets.

The Group's revenue from external customers is derived from the
PRC. No single customer of the Group contributed 10% or more
to the Group’s revenue for the years ended 31 December 2017
and 2016.

Substantially all of the Group’s non-current assets, excluding
deferred tax assets and available-for-sale investments, are
located in the PRC.

Geographical information

The Group’s Properties Segment is located in Foshan,
Guangzhou, Nanjing and Jurong, Chongging, Xi‘an and Hong
Kong.

Information about the revenue from external customers of

Properties Segment and the assets of Properties Segment is
presented based on the location of the assets.
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

6. PHER @)

Geographical information (continued) 32 E R ()
Revenue from
external customers Segment assets
REIMBEF 2 Wz PBWEE
2017 2016 2017 2016
=2t —T-RF ZEB—tF —T—RF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TRT ARETT AR%¥TR AR%Trx
Foshan 1L 3,872,741 3,601,719 16,674,902 11,708,430
Guangzhou = 3,186,358 4,062,667 7,964,597 6,061,642
Nanjing and Jurong RSN 5,663,082 2,715,367 16,809,335 14,641,387
Chongging 5E 3,075,552 1,226,689 14,063,967 12,321,770
Xi‘an itk 1,500,513 - 951,128 1,836,770
Hong Kong a5 12,316 - 422,348 -
17,310,562 11,606,442 56,886,277 46,569,999
7. OTHER INCOME 7. HMA
2017 2016
—E—+tF —E-REF
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBFT
Bank interest income RITHBUA 44,506 33,258
Gain on disposal of investment properties HEREMEZ W 10,393 22,179
Government grants (Note) B B (M aE) - 25,111
Interest income from associates DYELEUNCIA SN PN 76,714 87,072
Interest income from joint ventures REGAEEZFERA 51,846 31,490
Others =) 14,882 13,922
198,341 213,032

Note: The amount of government grants was received in respect of certain property
development projects of the Group in Chongging, the PRC, the Group fulfill

the relevant granting criteria which immediately recognised as other income. BB HER BHA U A
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8. FINANCE COSTS L E=42%S
2017 2016
—E—+tF —E—RF
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR¥T T AREEFIT
Interest on: AE
— bank and other borrowings —RITREMEE 258,720 300,291
— loans from a fellow subsidiary —B—RXERNBRABZER - 199
— loans from an intermediate holding company —B—REBEZERARZER 95,161 44,571
— loans from non-controlling equity holders of — BAREE M B A A JEIER RS
subsidiaries of the Group BEAZER 224,562 148,904
— bonds — &% 163,784 166,350
— convertible bonds (Notes 13 and 30) — AR ESH (M 13%30) 88,655 83,234
Total borrowing costs RSB A 830,882 743,549
Less: amounts capitalised in the cost of W EERNMEREEREEKRAZ
qualifying assets HIF (367,953) (447,384)
462,929 296,165

Borrowing costs capitalised to properties under development
for sale were determined by the contracted interest rates of
respective borrowings as disclosed in notes 26, 28 and 29.

Borrowing costs were capitalised at the weighted average rate
of general borrowings at 4.69% per annum (2016: 4.85%) per

annum.

KM REE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2017
BE—T—+F+=-A=1—HAIFE

9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 9. FIEHXZH
2017 2016
—E—+tF —E—RF
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBETIT
The charge comprises: X HBE

PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT") FEIEMER (TSR]
— Current year —REE 1,257,661 719,072
— Qver provision in prior year —BAFEBRERE (2,498) =
LAT + b I (E L 1,168,684 753,088
2,423,847 1,472,160
Deferred tax (Note 21) RIERRIB (HaE21) (61,352) (44,895)

2,362,495 1,427,265

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT
Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the
statutory EIT rate of the subsidiaries incorporated in the PRC is
25%. Further, 5% or 10% withholding income tax is generally
imposed on dividends relating to profits earned by the PRC
entities that are owned by non-PRC entities within the Group.

LAT is levied at progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60% on
the appreciation of land value, being the proceeds of sales of
properties less deductible expenditures including cost of land use
right and all property development expenditures.

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made as the
Group has no assessable profits in Hong Kong for the years
ended 31 December 2017 and 2016.

R B0 EFBRA (R EMBRE ) R
S PTG BOEE BRG] + 3o B R R 2 B
AR ZEE L EFEHBIER25% - loh - A
EHETHFEERFRAZ PEEB— KA
B FTBRER R 2 18 U5 9% 510% 2 TB 1R A
8% -

+ b 3B R % b8 (E (BD & W P15 5B R
BETHERERARMAENERRAIENRN
Z AR ) M F30% Z 60% & ik 12 5 R 14
U o

HRAEEREBEEZE_E—+FR_T—RF
TA=ZT—ALFEIERERRTEH
B EER B BN SHEE -
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9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued) 9. PRI H )
The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the REFAGH RS B e &OH 2 H W e
profit before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss RARTADET S ERMOT
and other comprehensive income as follows:
2017 2016
—E—tF —E—RF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREBFT

Profit before tax P& % A Yk ) 5,301,478 2,542,319
Tax at the income tax rate of 25% (Note) R25%FTS TR R aT B 2 MIB (A7) 1,325,370 635,580
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for DA HIF 2 Z 2 B e 2

tax purposes 285,723 143,314
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purposes  HZERE 2 WA~ KL (253,216) (65,384)
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses previously FHABAERERZRIBEIBY

not recognised MissE (25,992) (37,265)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised AERHBAEEB G E 14,346 4,452
PRC LAT AP I E R 1,168,684 753,088
Tax effect of PRC LAT B I E R B2 (292,171) (188,272)
Over provision in prior year BAFEBREEE (2,498) -
Tax effect of deductible temporary differences not R#ER A H15: T AF =58 2

recognised M2 41,378 60,507
Tax effect of utilisation of deductible temporary FRBARER UM ERER

differences previously not recognised 2R E (35,513) (4,611)
Dividend withholding tax expense AR B FEMFL R 108,817 86,814
Effect of different tax rates in other jurisdictions — H#h AERE R TR R 7 2 27,567 39,042
Income tax expense FRfS i 2,362,495 1,427,265
Note: It represents the tax rate where the operation of the Group is substantially Kist - e Ty AR EB A IS G 2 FiE -

based.
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10. PROFIT BEFORE TAX 10. BR%E AT F
2017 2016
—E—tF —T—RF
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBTT
Profit before tax has been arrived at after B B BT A A 0B (B &) R 31 %38
charging (crediting): &i5H -
Employee benefits expenses (including EERFAZ(BEESHH)
directors’ remuneration):
Salaries and other allowances T R E 2B 302,235 234,598
Pension scheme contributions RN FTEIHR 18,945 32,774
Total staff costs BIFAXMEE 321,180 267,372
Less: Amount capitalised to properties under B BEERNE AR HEHERRFR
development for sale W 7 FRIE (178,049) (140,872)
143,131 126,500
Gross rental income from investment EMEETAS WA (B17E5)
properties (Note 5) (86,118) (59,946)
Less: Direct operating expenses incurred W MEECEELERY 88,569 38,253
2,451 (21,693)
Cost of properties for sale recognised as HERIER X 2 Al i E WA
an expense 11,515,535 8,269,296
Depreciation of investment properties KREYEITE 38,764 668
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ME - BENREITE 10,795 5,775
Auditor’s remuneration ZE A< 3,842 3,464
Loss (gain) on disposal of property, plant HEWE BB MEEEE ()
and equipment 156 (38)
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11. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’

EMOLUMENTS

(@ The emoluments paid or payable to each of the 11 (2016:

12) directors were as follows:

For year ended 31 December 2017

M. EEREEZFHFMH

(@) BENHENNME(ZZE—RF: 128)&EF
ZEMESIT

BE_2—+tH+-A=t—-HILEE

Dr. So Mr. Yu Mr. Wong
Shu Fai Zhiliang  King Yuen Total
BEEET REREE  ERREL @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB000
ARBTR AR¥TR AR¥TR AR¥TR
A) EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS: HTES:
Emoluments paid or receivable in RIERARAIHE
respect of a person’s services as a HEARZEZ
director, whether of the Company and R E [ EK
its subsidiaries Fr
Fees ik = = - -
Emoluments paid or receivable in REFEEEWEALAR
respect of director’s other services in HINBARIEH 2 Eft
connection with the management of RSB ok e e
the affairs of the Company and its
subsidiaries
Other emoluments: HeEa :
Salaries and allowances e M2 35 1,151 35 1,221
Performance related incentive KB BB RENTR
payments bonus TEA - 724 - 724
Pension scheme contributions RN EIH R = = 2
Sub-total emoluments EA N 35 1,875 37 1,947
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11. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(@) (continued)

For year ended 31 December 2017 (continued)

MNEEREEZFMN @)
@) (%)

BE_Z-—tHF+-A=+t—-HILFE

(%)
Mr. Huang Dr. Yan Mr. Xu
Junlong Chengda Yongjun  Ms. Liu Ning Total
Yan Chengda
YL Bt HAERE flEL+ @zt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR AR®TR ARETT AR¥TrR ARETR
B) NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS: B) H#H{TES:
Emoluments paid or receivable in HERARAIRA
respect of a person’s services WEARZESZ
as a director, whether of the PR B SR e
Company and its subsidiaries il
Fees ik 35 35 35 35 140
Emoluments paid or receivable HRESERERALA
in respect of director’s other REMBRRES
services in connection with the ZEMRBE MK
management of the affairs of the FE M Bl
Company and its subsidiaries
Other emoluments: HiErH -
Salaries and allowances e k2 = - - - -
Pension scheme contributions RAETEIRR = - - - -
Sub-total emoluments 2 S 35 35 35 35 140
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11. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’

EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(@) (continued)

For year ended 31 December 2017 (continued)

M. EEZEREEZFMN @)

(@) (#&)

BE_Z—+tHF+-A=+t—-HILFE

(&)
Dr. Wong
Wing Kuen, Ms. Chen Dr. Shi
Albert Yanping Xinping Mr. He Qi Total
TxEfET REFR: EHTEL A& EE @t
RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB000
AR®TT ARETR AR%Tn ARETR ARETR
C)  INDEPENDENT NON- 0 BUFHTES:
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS:
Emoluments paid or receivable in FERARARE
respect of a person’s services WEARESZ
as a director, whether of the RBENEL
Company and its subsidiaries Ez3v]
Fees e 104 104 104 104 416
Emoluments paid or receivable NEZEEFEAR
in respect of director's other AREMBAR
services in connection with the S5z Btk
management of the affairs of the B sl e
Company and its subsidiaries
Other emoluments: Hith 3 -
Salaries and allowances Hre R = = - - -
Pension scheme contributions RREEIfT = = - - -
Sub-total emoluments BN 104 104 104 104 416
Total emoluments ekl 2,503
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11. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(@) (continued)

For year ended 31 December 2016

MNEEREEZFMN @)

(@) (#&)

BE_B2-—AF+-A=t—-RALEE

Mr. Wong
Dr. So Mr. Yu King Yuen
Shu Fai Zhiliang (Note i) Total
ERRLE
BEhEELT  REREA (Hiiti) @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARE®TT ARETT ARETRH
A) EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS: A) BTEE:
Emoluments paid or receivable in respect EAARARIRE
of a person’s services as a director, WBARESZ
whether of the Company and its FRBE ML
subsidiaries i
Fees e = - - -
Emoluments paid or receivable in HESERBARAF
respect of director's other services in KEMBLARAIER
connection with the management of Hib RSB EK
the affairs of the Company and its a0
subsidiaries
Other emoluments: HibEm -
Salaries and allowances He Rz 34 1,015 27 1,076
Performance related incentive el IR
payments bonus TEfL = 595 - 595
Pension scheme contributions RING BT - - - -
Sub-total emoluments ZENEt 34 1,610 27 1,671
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11. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ N EBRESZFHFM @)
EMOLUMENTS (continued)
(@) (continued) (@) (#&)
For year ended 31 December 2016 (continued) BE-Z—R"F+ZA=+t—HLEE
(#)
Mr. Huang Dr. Yan Mr. Xu Ms. Wu
Junlong Chengda Yongjun Zhengin Ms. Liu
(Note ) (Note ) (Note ) (Note i) Ning Total
Yan Chengda
BHREE Bt FPKEERE  REHLT
(Hii#i) (Hzti) (Hzti) (Frzti) ES &t

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTE  ARETR ARETT ARETZ ARETR ARETR

B)  NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS: B) F#{TE%:
Emoluments paid or receivable HERARAR
in respect of a person’s HBARE
services as a director, 22 REBEH
whether of the Company o FE L
and its subsidiaries
Fees we 27 27 27 - 34 115
Emoluments paid or receivable HEEEEEH
in respect of director's other RRRREM
services in connection with BLRAZEKZ
the management of the EtbRBAE
affairs of the Company and o FE L
its subsidiaries
Other emoluments: H b -
Salaries and allowances FekEh = - - - - -
Pension scheme Bl
contributions 3 = - - - - -
Sub-total emoluments FBNG 27 27 27 - 34 115
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11. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’

EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(@) (continued)

For year ended 31 December 2016 (continued)

MNEEREEZFMN @)

(@) (#&)

BE_Z-"F+-A=t—-HILFE
(&)

Dr. Wong
Wing Kuen, Ms. Chen Dr. Shi
Albert Yanping Xinping Mr. He Qi Total
TR BEYRE  LHTEL (lizpitaa st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARETT ARBTT ARETT ARETR
A) INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE A) BUFHTEE
DIRECTORS:
Emoluments paid or receivable in RERAARRE
respect of a person’s services WEARESZ
as a director, whether of the BB REYR
Company and its subsidiaries i
Fees e 103 103 103 103 412
Emoluments paid or receivable REZERERAR
in respect of director's other EPELIENG
services in connection with the £z Btk
management of the affairs of the B S o
Company and its subsidiaries
Other emoluments: HinEH
Salaries and allowances e kit - - - - -
Pension scheme contributions RRE R = - - - -
Sub-total emoluments i 103 103 103 103 412
Total emoluments e 2,198
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11. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ M. EEZREEZFM =)

EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(@) (continued) (@) (#&)

Notes: Mz -

(i)  Appointed on 18 March 2016. (i) RZZE—RE=ZA+/\BEZT -

(i)  Resigned on 18 March 2016. iy RZZ—AR"F=A+/\BEE-

(i) ~ The discretionary bonus was determined with reference to the iy #HEZZ—FNF+-_A=+—HLEFE BB
individual performance during the year ended 31 December 2016. TEALTRIEARREE ©

(iv)  The Company does not have any chief executive which functions are (iv)  ARFBEEEMAITRES (KBALH 2 ENT
carried out by all the executive directors. EERET)

(v)  There was no arrangement under which a director waived or agreed )  RER - BESERRES R B REERM
to waive any remuneration during the year. SR -

(v)  No emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the directors as v) AEEFEEAEMESEZAETH - SMEREM
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for AR A SR B 2 52 E) sk (/3 H RE B A
loss of office. &

(b) Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in by AEERUESHFMALH  —R(ZF
the Group, one (2016: one) was director of the Company —NF . —RB)ALTAFHN LXK E
whose emoluments are included in the disclosures in note M@QBEBZARBESFE - A THZ(ZE
11(a) above. The emoluments of the remaining four (2016: —ANFEmB)ATZEHHMET ¢

four) individuals were as follows:

2017 2016
—E-—tF —TAF
RMB’'000 RMB’000

AR¥TR AR®TE

Salaries, allowances and other benefits He - 2R EMET] 1,362 1,989
Contributions to retirement schemes RORETEI K 383 379
Discretionary and performance related )15 K 3% 35 48 B SR B 5 5k
incentive payments 5,043 5,360
6,788 7,728
No emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the five 7N = [ 4 (AR AL R = A+ %
highest-paid individuals as inducement to join or upon O EAEMASAR AR E B 2
joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office. 1B (e B E B o
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R a B RAR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2017
BE—T—+F+=-A=1—HAIFE

11. DIRECTORS' AND EMPLOYEES'’
EMOLUMENTS (continued)
(b) (continued)

Their emoluments were within the following bands:

MNEEREEZFMN @)

(b) (%)
BEHHNFATEE :

Number of employees
EEAH
2017 2016
—E—tF —E—RF

HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 (2017:
approximately RMB 1,300,501 to
RMB1,734,000; 2016: approximately
RMB1,283,401 to RMB1,711,200)

HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 (2017:
approximately RMB 1,734,001 to
RMB2,167,500; 2016: approximately
RMB1,711,201 to RMB2,139,000 in 2016)

HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 (2017:
approximately RMB2,167,501 to
RMB2,601,000; 2016: approximately
RMB2,139,001 to RMB2,566,800)

751,500,001 7T 5 75 8

2,000,0007C( =T —+4F :

#ANR¥1,300,501 TE AR

1,734,0007T : —ZF—75F ¢

HANRE1,283,401 TEARKE

1,711,2007T) 3 2
752,000,001 7T & 75 8

2,500,0007C( =T —+4F :

HANREN,734,001 TEARE

2,167,5007T : —F—/NF ¢

GARKE1,711,201 TEARE

2,139,0007T) = 2
752,500,001 JT & 75 8

3,000,0007C(=ZF —+4F :

HANRE2,167,501 TE AR

2,601,0007T : —F— /X% ¢

HARHE2,139,001 TEARKE

2,566,8007T) 1 =

“TLFFR BERBERARAR 179



12. DIVIDENDS

During the year ended 31 December 2017, a final dividend of
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$") HK$0.045 per ordinary share in
respect of the year ended 31 December 2016 (2016: HK$0.005
per ordinary share in respect of the year ended 31 December
2015) was declared and paid to the shareholders of the
Company. The aggregate amount of final dividend declared
from share premium of the Company and paid during the
year amounted to approximately RMB195,970,000 (2016:
RMB20,438,000).

During the year ended 31 December 2017, subsidiaries of
the Group declared dividends of RMB879,030,000 (2016:
RMB39,018,000) to its shareholders, of which approximately
RMB199,011,000 (2016: RMB19,509,000) was paid to its non-
controlling equity holders.

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, a final dividend
in respect of the year ended 31 December 2017 of HK$0.1
(equivalent to approximately RMBO0.08) per share has been
proposed by the directors of the Company and is subject to
approval by the shareholders of the Company in the forthcoming
general meeting.
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BE—T—+F+-A=1—HIFE

12. KRB

REBEZ-Z—+tF+-_A=+—RHLEFE &
AREREE-ZTE—A"F+_A=+—HILHF
EzARBAREGREBREL0045T(ZE
—RE HEZZE—RAF+=-_A=+—HLHF
fE G E AR B #0.0057T) W AIARA BB R
AT o REARR B 485 FEA) A K% 195,970,0007T
(ZZT—7"%F : AR#¥20,438,0007T) v 8 KA
ARMBETIRK  WHRFRIRS ©

HE-_ZT—+tF+=-_A=+—BLFE "
AEEBWBRARAMNERESTKKREAR
879,030,000 L (ZE —NF : AE®
39,018,0007T) « ERMHEIZERERFTEAST
A% B AR #199,011,0007T ( ZF — /K4 ¢
AR#19,509,0007T) °

RBEREEERR  ARREFERFEKN
BRBE—_T & T -_A=T"BLFEZ
RER S FBRERK0NT(HERH ARK0.08
7o) HEAFBRERREEBRRASHER - 7]
FE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R a B RAR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2017
BE—T—+F+=-A=1—HAIFE

13. EARNINGS PER SHARE 13. BREF
The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share AAEIEEAEBLEERERREZRFTIRT
attributable to owners of the Company is based on the following FIEIRAE
data:
2017 2016
—E2—tF “T—RF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBFT
Earnings BEF
Earning for the purpose of basic earnings per STEGRERREF(BIAAREE A
share, being profit for the year attributable EEFERRF) 2 BF|
to owners of the Company 1,638,124 811,449
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares: BEEELBER I ZE
— Fair value changes on convertible bonds — AR EE 2 AT EES 13,983 -
— Interest on convertible bonds (Notes 8 and 30)  — A3 (ESF 8 (A1:E8/230) 88,655 -
Earnings for the purpose of diluted earnings STEEREERTR 2 BF
per share 1,740,762 811,449
2017 2016
—EB—tF —E-REF
‘000 ‘000
TR T %
Number of shares R EE
Weighted average number of ordinary shares STEGRERBR 2 LB NE
for the purpose of basic earnings per share FiH 8 4,905,258 4,905,258
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares: BEEELBER I ZE
— Convertible bonds (Note 30) — AR &S (f75£30) 780,976 -
Weighted average number of ordinary shares STESGREERR 2 SR
for the purpose of diluted earnings per share SEHER 5,686,234 4,905,258
Basic earnings per share (RMB cents) BREAEBF(ARES) 33.40 16.54
Diluted earnings per share (RMB cents) EREEREF(ARES) 30.61 16.54

R 1T G SR B 2 T AR 5 6 2 T R
Al SHERE-P-ATTZASt-AL
75 2 5 IR B L A BRAR 4K 55 TR R
HRHHS -

The computation of diluted earnings per share for the year ended
31 December 2016 did not assume the conversion of the Group’s
convertible bonds since its exercise would result in an increase in
earnings per share.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R AR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2017
BE—T—+F+-A=1—HIFE

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. ¥)3% - BERRE

Land and Leasehold Motor Office
buildings improvements vehicles  equipment Total
tREF BENEEE RE BAERE @t
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETR AR¥ETT ARETR ARETR AR¥TT
COST A
At 1 January 2016 RZE—~"E—A—H 28,453 - 12,060 14,318 54,831
Additions NE - 31,591 198 17 31,806
Additions through acquisition of BRUERBARAE
subsidiaries (Note 33(j)) (H1:2330)) - - - 2 2
Disposals HeE - - (2,548) (946) (3,494)
At 31 December 2016 and RIE-—N"ET-A=1t-EBR
1 January 2017 —E—+%—f—H 28,453 31,591 9.710 13,391 83,145
Additions hE = 82,803 1,055 2,288 86,146
Disposals HeE - - (1,622) (2,107) (3,729
At 31 December 2017 RZZ—tF+=A=1+—-H 28,453 114,394 9,143 13,572 165,562
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION Zithe
At 1 January 2016 RZE—R"E—A—H 4,187 - 7,176 7,283 18,646
Provided for the year FREME 1,026 2,519 936 1,294 5,775
Eliminated on disposals NEERLHE - - (2,540) (649) (3,189)
At 31 December 2016 and RZB—RET-A=+-HBRk
1 January 2017 “E—+%—f—H 5213 2,519 5,572 7,928 21,232
Provided for the year FREMRE 1,026 5,246 1,837 2,686 10,795
Eliminated on disposals NHEERLE - - (1,482) (1,871) (3,353)
At 31 December 2017 RZE—+&+-A=+—H 6,239 7,765 5,927 8,743 28,674
CARRYING VALUES FREE
At 31 December 2017 R-E—+&+-A=+—H 22,214 106,629 3,216 4,829 136,888
At 31 December 2016 RZE—~"F+-A=1+-H 23,240 29,072 4,138 5,463 61,913
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For the year ended 31 December 2017
BE—T—+F+=-A=1—HAIFE

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(continued)
The Group'’s land and buildings are erected on land located in the
PRC.

The above items of property, plant and equipment are
depreciated using the straight-line basis, after taking into
account of their estimated residual values, at the following rates
per annum:

Land and buildings 5% or over the lease terms of the
relevant land, if shorter

Leasehold improvements 5% or over the lease terms of the
relevant properties, if shorter

Motor vehicles 15% - 20%

Office equipment 15% - 20%

14. 9% - BERRE@®)

AEEL M RETERPELE -

Hidix - BmERREEEKLEREMHRE
BRIBATFRABGREFENE -

THREFT 5% (MHE5E) LA/ 1 E
HEMERE 5%R(HEE)IZAMYEEL

RE 15%-20%
PR E RN 15%-20%
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BE—T—+F+-A=1—HIFE

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 15. REW
Land Buildings Total
b BF #Et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000

ARETT AREBTT ARBTET

COST BN
At 1 January 2016 R-ZE—XRF—HF—H - 25,798 25,798
Transfer from properties for sale EEOHEHEYE - 793,842 793,842
Disposals HE - (16,741) (16,741)
At 1 December 2016 and R=E—R"F+-_A—HXK

1 January 2017 —E—+F—HF—H - 802,899 802,899
Additions through acquisition of assets Z:BWEEEZAE

(Note 33 (ii) (H15£33(ii) 239,576 212,146 451,722
Disposals e - (1,520) (1,520)
Exchange realignment [E 5 A (15,695) (13,899) (29,594)
At 31 December 2017 R_ZE—+t&+-_A=+—H 223,881 999,626 1,223,507
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION ZEtine
At 1 January 2016 R-_ZE—XRF—H—H - 4,039 4,039
Provided for the year FEREAE - 668 668
Eliminated on disposals A B - (2,967) (2,967)
At 31 December 2016 and R-E—XRF+-_A=+—H

1 January 2017 rE=—ZFT—+%—HF—H - 1,740 1,740
Provided for the year FRNEA 263 38,501 38,764
Eliminated on disposals W e B 4 - (279) (279)
Exchange realignment BEE 5, =& 7 (288) (281)
At 31 December 2017 R-_ZB—+tF+_-_A=+—H 270 39,674 39,944
CARRYING VALUES FREE
At 31 December 2017 R-ZE—+t&F+-_A=+—H 223,611 959,952 1,183,563
At 31 December 2016 R-ZE—R"E+-_A=+—H - 801,159 801,159
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15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 15. REW = (@)

The Group's investment properties are erected on land located in
the PRC and Hong Kong.

The fair values of investment properties as at 31 December
2017 and 2016 of RMB1,291,002,000 and RMB821,700,000,
respectively, have been arrived at on the basis of valuations
carried out on the respective dates by Jones Lang LaSalle
Corporate Appraisal and Advisory Limited (“Jones Lang”), an
independent qualified professional valuer, not connected to the
Group.

As at 31 December 2017, the fair value of investment properties
of RMB31,678,000 (2016: RMB13,700,000) in Guangzhou, the
PRC, is determined with reference to recent market prices for
similar properties in similar locations and conditions for both
years.

As at 31 December 2017, the fair value of investment
properties of RMB828,000,000 and RMB431,324,000 (2016:
RMB808,000,000 and nil) in Nanjing, the PRC and Hong Kong
respectively, are determined based on the income approach, by
taking into account the net rental income of a property derived
from its existing leases and/or achievable in the existing market
with due allowance for the reversionary income potential of the
leases which have then been capitalised to determine the fair
value at an appropriate capitalisation rate.

The fair value hierarchy as at 31 December 2017 and 2016 of
the investment properties of the Group are at Level 3. There
were no transfers between fair value hierarchies during the year.
There has been no change to the valuation technique on the
investment properties in Guangzhou and Nanjing, the PRC, used
in the prior years. In estimating the fair value of the properties,
the highest and best use of the properties is their current use.

The above investment properties are depreciated on a
straight-line basis at the following rates per annum:

Leasehold land Over the term of the lease
Buildings Over the shorter of the term of the lease
and 25 years

AEBREMEENTEREA L E -

REYWEZATFER_TE—LER_T—KF
+TZA=+—Ha k&R ARK1,291,002,0007T
T AR%821,700,0007T © Jhik 7R £ B ££RF
BBV EREEMGBEMPERITEENE
FEAERAE([{h28T ) RAERE B 8 ATE
HEER -

R-ZE—+tFE+-_A=+—8 HEENEE
MEZ N FESANRE31,678,0007t( —F—N
&£ . AR%13,700,0007T) * JY2EBLIMEE K
AR Z R ERREFE 2 KT EETE -

R-ZE—+F+_A=+—"H FABRERERAE
BIREMERNTER R A ARKS28,000,0007T
M AR®431,324,0000(ZF—RF : AR
808,000,000t X E L) + IR AJAERE » 5T
k—EMERBERBHEER KRB ETH
EAREBzHe WA FE  UhZEHEECE
BWAEBENEEERE BEERCREEER
bR T AB R ABEE A FE -

AEEREMEZ AFERIR=Z—tFR
—E—AREFT+_A=+—"HBAF=ZH - NF
RN ATFELRzEREER - BEFEPEH
BMEkEREEMENB 2 EERY &2
) o Gt ZEWELATER ZSWERR
2R RESSNEERS -

BRREMERATFRABREHENE -

HELH  REH
BF RHHE S FE R E 2 BEE
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For the year ended 31 December 2017
BE—T—+F+-A=1—HIFE

16. GOODWILL 16. B&
RMB’000
AR¥TT
COST AND CARRYING VALUE R K BRTEE
At 1 January 2016, 31 December 2016, RZE—RF—-—RA—H ZF—X%F
1 January 2017 and 31 December 2017 +=—A=+—H —ZE—+t&—HF—H8K
—E—+tF+=ZA=1+—H 160,210

Note: Goodwill was arising from the restructuring during the year ended 31
December 2013. Goodwill has been allocated to the group of cash
generating units (“CGUs") comprising the Properties Segment, that is
expected to benefit from the synergies of the acquisition in prior years.

The directors of the Company have performed the assessment
on impairment and determined that the recoverable amount of

iz ) 45 e

Kt - BBRERBE_T—=F+-A=+—HIFEZ
EH - HEEDREBRAZ BN —FURE Z BRK
BZERMESIBREELEN ( [REELE

ARBEZCHRELTIBALRRECELE
NzBANEETREELEU KOS RREHE

CGUs was higher than the carrying amount of goodwill based on BREESS
the profitability of the CGU:s.
17. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 17. REEE DR 2R

2017 2016
—E—tF —E—RF
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
AR¥T T AR®ET T
Costs of investments in associates WA AN T Z KR 273,500 273,500
Share of post-acquisition results SEUREE1R EE 56,864 (80,515)
330,364 192,985
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BE—T—+F+=-A=1—HAIFE

17. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

Details of the associates at 31 December 2017 are as follows:

17. REBEE DB 2 = ()

RZZE—+FE+-A=+—B2BHE AR
HANT ¢

Place of Proportion of
incorporation/ ownership interests Proportion of
Name of company Form of entity operation Registered share capital held by the Group voting power held  Principal activity
HREL/ AREFRER
ARER {370 X% AR B FERERME  TEXH
2017 2016 2017 2016
ZE-tf ZERRE ZE-tE CEF

Guangzhou Lianzhou Real Estate ~ Incorporated The PRC RMB200,000,000 34% 34% 34% 34% Property development
Company Limited* ek i 200,000,007 ESE
("Guangzhou Lianzhou")

BAENEEERAT
(TN )

Guangzhou Liansen Real Estate Incorporated The PRC RMB200,000,000 34% 34% 34% 34% Property development
Company Limited* ek e 200,000,007 ESE
("Guangzhou Liansen”)

BNERRERRAT
(TEMER))

Nanjing Shizhaoguansheng Property  Incorporated The PRC RMB250,000,000 24.99%  2499% 49% 49%  Property development
Company Limited* ek e 250,000,000 ESE
("Nanjing Shizhao")

Rt AEREEERAA
([ERt )

Gezhouba Nanjing Property Incorporated The PRC RMB50,000,000 1530%  15.30% 30% 30% Property development
Company Limited* Gl i ARH50,0000007C (Note) ~ (Note) LT
(“Gezhouba Nanjing”) W) (W)

ENGEREXERART
(E-1i )

* Unofficial English translation denotes for identification purpose only. * B HEEE  BEHEE

Note: The Group is able to exercise significant influence over Gezhouba Nanjing
because it has 30% voting interest in shareholders’ meetings to influence the
relevant activities of this entity.

Hiat : ARBAHENBRRITREAZE ) - ERAKE
RERASHEEI0% I RERGUTEZERZE
BEE o
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17. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

The associates are accounted for using the equity method
in these consolidated financial statements. In the opinion of
the directors of the Company, Nanjing Shizhao, Guangzhou
Liansen and Guangzhou Lianzhou are the material associates of
the Group for the years ended 31 December 2017 and 2016.
Summarised financial information of the Group’s material
associates were set out below, which represented amounts
shown in the respective associates’ financial statements prepared
in accordance with HKFRSs.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R AR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2017
BE—T—+F+-A=1—HIFE

REBE QT 2R @)

ZEBERNRRN L FHRAMBHRRERERDE
AR - RRAREERA  RBE_FT—LtFRK
“E-RE+_A=+—BIEE Ext
B BEMNBREEMNBEMND DA EE 2 EAH
BRA  ARBEBEABMERA 2 HBEHNEE
I T (RREBETEMBHREEANRRZ SB
LERAYBREALZEHE) °

Nanjing Shizhao 2017 2016
MARtE —E—tF —E—RF
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T AREBFT

Current assets MBNE E 677,772 1,835,645
Non-current assets FEREEE 17,165 12435
Current liabilities Ve A= (138,027)  (1,635,262)
Non-current liabilities ERBEE - -
Revenue U %5 1,750,914 -
Profit (loss) for the year FPE | (EE) 344,092 (28,457)
Other comprehensive income for the year FREMEEA - -
Total comprehensive income (expense) for the year £ A2 E U A (2 i) 4258 344,092 (28,457)
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BE—T—+F+=-A=1—HAIFE

17. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

Reconciliation of the summarised financial information presented
above to the carrying amount of the interest in Nanjing Shizhao

was set out below:

17. R E R TR 2R (@)
b SRR R B S A R B A R S R A 26 B
EEHERINT -

2017 2016

—F-tF T KF

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARBFT

Net assets of Nanjing Shizhao BRiERzBEFE 556,910 212,818
Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest in 7N & [ A /g At 38 1 A 1

Nanjing Shizhao LA 49% 49%

Carrying amount of the Group’s interest in REE PR Rt s

Nanjing Shizhao ZAREE 272,886 104,280

Guangzhou Liansen 2017 2016

[ N Bk 7R —E—+tF —E—REF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TT AR¥EFTT

Current assets RENEE 2,334,855 1,539,172

Non-current assets FEMENE E 22,643 18,262

Current liabilities mEBEE (2,277,630)  (1,438,772)

Non-current liabilities FERBEE - -

Revenue Weas - -

Loss for the year FNERE (38,794) (30,313)

Other comprehensive income for the year FREMEERHRA = =

Total comprehensive expense for the year FARRES HEZE (38,794) (30,313)
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17. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

17.

Reconciliation of the summarised financial information presented
above to the carrying amount of the interest in Guangzhou

Liansen was set out below:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R AR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2017
BE—T—+F+-A=1—HIFE

REE RNT 2= @)
£ TR RS B RHE T BRI BN B R 2
EEEHERIMT ;

2017 2016
—E—+tfF —E—RF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARET T
Net assets of Guangzhou Liansen BN R 2 BEFE 79,868 118,662
Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest in 7N 5 [E] B 3 & M Bt R 1 5 42
Guangzhou Liansen HEz= LBl 34% 34%
Carrying amount of the Group's interest in AN B BT N B AR 2
Guangzhou Liansen Z BRHEIE 27,155 40,345
Guangzhou Lianzhou 2017 2016
& M B M —E—tF —E—REF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT AR¥ETTT
Current assets RENVEE 1,798,219 1,302,319
Non-current assets FEMBNEE 21,354 15,561
Current liabilities mBEE (1,630,388)  (1,188,095)
Non-current liabilities FERBBE (100,000) =
Revenue & - -
Loss for the year FANERE (40,600) (26,508)
Other comprehensive income for the year FREMEERHA = =
Total comprehensive expense for the year FRNEES HERE (40,600) (26,508)
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BE_F—+F I _A=1—HAILFE

17. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 17. REBEE DB 2 = ()
Reconciliation of the summarised financial information presented EXPTRE S B R B E N BN R A 2 BR
above to the carrying amount of the interest in Guangzhou EELHREWT

Lianzhou was set out below:

2017 2016
—E2—tF —TRF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBFT
Net assets of Guangzhou Lianzhou BB 2 BEFE 89,185 129,785
Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest in R B P W B M B A A
Guangzhou Lianzhou s Ll 34% 34%
Carrying amount of the Group's interest in N5 B BT N e M i 2
Guangzhou Lianzhou ZBRE{E 30,323 44,127
The financial information and carrying amount, in aggregate, BRI E X ERNREEREARZAEBR
of the Group's interests in associates, that are not individually BN Al e 2 [E AR BT S B R R BREE & 51 a0
material and are accounted for using the equity method are set T 3
out below:
2017 2016
—E—+tHF —E—RF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBFT
The Groups' shares of loss and total AEESMBEREE Y KB
comprehensive expense (4,233) (10,767)
Aggregate carrying amount of the Group's REENIFE AR L N E R
interests in immaterial associates Z REEERR - 4,233
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17. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)
The Group has stopped recognising its share of losses of
Gezhouba Nanjing when applying the equity method. The
unrecognised share of Gezhouba Nanjing, for the both years and

cumulatively, are set out below:

17. REE& DB 2R ()

EMNFEREINOT

RIERRERER  AEE= 5
BERZER - RNMESERFRERDIEZ

REDEEN

2017 2016
—E—tF T —RF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBETTT
Unrecognised share of losses of an associate REFRERD(h—REEE Q7]

for the year ZEE 1,851 -
2017 2016
—E—+F —T—RF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARBETTT

Accumulated unrecognised share of losses of Rt RER D —REL AR ZEE
an associate 1,851 -

18. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES 18. REELERZER

2017 2016
—E—+tF —T—REF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREBFT
Costs of investments in joint ventures REGEDEZKA 1,479,124 136,424
Share of post-acquisition results IR BRI 45 (25,610) (27,780)
1,453,514 108,644
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18. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued) 18. REELE I B W
Details of each of the Group's joint ventures at the end of the AEESESELERRERARZFBET ¢

reporting period are as follows:

Place of Proportion of
incorporation/ ownership interests Proportion of
Name of company Form of entity operation Registered share capital held by the Group voting power held  Principal activity
HREL/ 5@k
AR L1317 EXHY HRRA ERRREZLA FERERME  TEXH
2017 2016 2017 2016
Z3-tF 2 F 2Bt F0f
Nanjing Aojian Property Company  Incorporated The PRC RMB2,000,000,000 3.0753%  3.0753% 6.03% 6.03% Property development
Limited* (“Nanjing Aojian”) i ATA P (2016: RMB2,000,000,000) NELE
(Note a) ARE2,000,000,0007
HREREXARAR (Z2-7F: ARK
(ERER ) (Hita) 2,000,000,0007C)
Nanjing Zhaoyang Property Incorporated The PRC RMB20,000,000 B5212% 235212%  46.12%  46.12% Property development
Development Company Limited* ~ 5gi 3z i (2016: RMB20,000,000) NELR
(“Nanjing Zhaoyang") AR 20,000,000
ArAGREREARAA (Z2-7F: ARK
(TR 20,000,0007%)
Nanjing Huilong Real Estate Company Incorporated The PRC RMB1,500,000,000 16.83%  16.83% 33% 33% Property development
Limited* ("Nanjing Hulong") ~~ 5fgiaz i (2016: RMB20,000,000) NxER
(Notes a and b) ARE1,500,000,0007
HREERNERRAT (Z2-7F: ARK
(TamER ) (fakb) 20,000,0007%)
Foshan Dingtu Property Development Incorporated The PRC RMBT,100,000,000 50% /A 50% N/A - Property development
Co, Ltd.* ("Foshan Dingtu”) ~ EMEL i ABRH1,100,000,0007 MR MR NEER

(Note ¢)
BULRERHEERAR
(MBLEE ) (Hac)
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18. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued) 18. REELE R W
Place of Proportion of
incorporation/ ownership interests Proportion of
Name of company Form of entity operation Registered share capital held by the Group voting power held  Principal activity
HREL/ F5BfR
AIER ERFA XNy R FaRRRL FeRERLl  TEEH

2017 2016 2017 2016
ZE-tF 3R ZE-tfE ZEF

Guangzhou Xinhe Property Incorporated The PRC RMB100,000,000 34% /A 34% N/A * Property development
Development Company Limited * - 55ffigiz GilET ABR#100,000,0007 Naf NER MEER
(“Guangzhou Xinhe) (Note ¢)

BMFaptERRR AR
([BMEra ) (Hitc)

BARLABEEHERSERAT  Incororated The PRC RMB765,000,000 17.34% N/A 34% N/A  Property development
("EIRLEUE") (Notesa, cande) R hE ARH765,000,0007C TER TER NEER

BRREREREARAR
(TERLES ) (Hita - cke)

Nanjing Shengxiang Yuan Property  Incorporated The PRC RMB30,000,000 17.34% /A 34% N/A " Property development
Development Limited* Rl B AK30,000,00070 @R MER MEER
("Nanjing Shengxiang Yuan")
(Notes a, cand )
AR ERRHERERRAA
([EREER])Wita  cke)

ERHERARMETLBRA  Incorporated The PRC RMB20,000,000 50% NA 50% /A Property development
('ERHE") (Note ) Gl el AB#20,000,0007 TER TER NEER
ERHERERNEREERAA
([2EHE ) Hitd)
Nanjing Huhe Zhiye Co., Ltd.* Incorporated The PRC RMB20,000,000 1.28% NA  14.28% N/A " Property development
(*Nanjing Huihe") (Notes a and ) AL il ARH20,000,0007 TER TER NRER
BREREXERAT
([&EREa ) (Hitakd)
e Unofficial English translation denotes for identification purpose only. * FFENEXEE  EHE2E -
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For the year

18. INT

Notes:

(a)

ERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued)

The directors of the Company considered Nanjing Aojian, Nanjing Huilong,
FAR5AEES, Nanjing Shengxiang Yuan and Nanjing Huihe, in which the
Group has 3.08%, 16.83%, 17.34%, 17.34% and 7.28% equity interest
respectively, are joint ventures of the Group as decision making process
about the relevant activities of these companies require unanimous consent
from the Group and other parties pursuant to the signed agreements.

On 22 June 2017, the Group and other joint venturers further injected
capital of RMB1,480,000,000 into Nanjing Huilong in accordance to their
proportionate shareholding, in which the Group injected RMB488,400,000.
As a result, the registered capital of Nanjing Huilong increased from
RMB20,000,000 to RMB1,500,000,000.

The Group has set up four new joint ventures, Foshan Dingtu on 25 April
2017, Guangzhou Xinhe on 11 May 2017, F 5 5AEE% on 11 January 2017
and Nanjing Shengxiang Yuan on 3 March 2017 and paid up capital of
RMB550,000,000, RMB34,000,000 RMB260, 100,000 and RMB10,200,000
respectively.

In 2017, the Group has set up two new joint ventures, EE#E and Nanjing
Huihe without paying up any capital up to the end of the reporting period.

On 27 April 2017, upon additional capital contribution being made by two
of the shareholders of Nanjing Shengxiang Yuan, the registered capital of
Nanjing Shengxiang Yuan was enlarged from approximately RMB20,000,000
to approximately RMB30,000,000 and the Group's equity interest in Nanjing
Shengxiang Yuan was diluted from approximately 26.01% to approximately
17.34%, resulting in a gain on deemed disposal of approximately
RMB778,000. Immediately upon completion of the capital increase, Nanjing
Shengxiang Yuan continued to be classified as a joint venture.

On 20 June 2017, upon additional capital contribution being made by
two of the shareholders of R 5AELES, the registered capital of 5 5AEK
&% was enlarged from approximately RMB510,000,000 to approximately
RMB765,000,000 and the Group’s equity interest in I R 5AEE was diluted
from approximately 26.01% to approximately 17.34%, resulting in a gain
on deemed disposal of approximately RMB253,000. Immediately upon
completion of the capital increase, B 5AEB% continued to be classified as
a joint venture.

EELEIRELE W)

HREBRRRE BRERE BRGARSE  ERARE
TRFARE SRS 2R BRBRIEHET HEI
BAEEEEMIINF —BRAE  RAAREFRARE
RAZE BRERE BRABE EREETLRER
EE(DABEANEEAEH3.08% * 16.83% * 17.34% -
17.34% % 7.28% M) RASE 2 & &3 o

R-ZZE—tFENA-+t=-B  AEEREMAEH
REBEEFREOIMBARERE - S ETEARK
1,480,000,0007T * H 1 7 & [#)* & 488,400,000 7T °
Et - FRER 2 7 E A B AR 20,000,0007T 5 00
= AR#1,500,000,0007T °

AEEESRHR-_Z—+tFMA=-+HH - —ZT—+
FRAA+—R ZFT—+tF—A+—-BR=Z—tF
SA=ZHREMHFALECE  BGLSE - BN
A BRLAHBEEREREEER G THNBREARA
R ¥ 550,000,000 + A K#34,000,0007C + AR
260,100,0007T }2 A R #10,200,0007T °

REIZT—+F  AEBEERIMEFTCECEEENE
LERER  AEEAREHRWLABEEMER -

RZF—tFMA=1T+H REXREERERKRE
EHENEER  BRRBEZEMERHOARE
20,000,000 7T # A % #) A & #630,000,0007T + i A &
BN R B R 2 RIERA126.01% D BE#17.34% +
BHGREHE RSN ARKET78,0007T  BEEIINE AN
TR BRREREER SRR MEERE -

RZZE—tFRA=-TH RERLEEMERR
EHBINEIER  BRUBBEZEMERADAR
#510,000,000 7T 1% K & 47 A B # 765,000,000 7T *
i A 52 B B IR SA BB 2 BN R 4926.01% D = 49
17.34% » BERGIEHERBEHARE253,0007T © 5
BEIEIMEATTKIL @ FRCARBEBR S BER—HAE
3% o
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18. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued) 18. REE ¥R @)

The joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method
in these consolidated financial statements. In the opinion of the
directors of the Company, Foshan Dingtu is the material joint
venture of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2017
(2016: None of the joint ventures were material to the Group).
Summarised financial information of the Group’s material joint
venture was set out below, which represented amounts shown
in the respective joint venture’s financial statements prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs.

EELMERAESEINZEFEREMBRRA
R - ARAEERAR REE_FT—tFt+=
A=+ -BLFEHRLREAREEEAEE
EE(CTRF  BERELRUAKEME
BEX)  ARBEEASLEEZPBERGTM
FIWT - E2FRREBMBREELN R
ZHBEREMEBINEALELRZEE -

Foshan Dingtu 2017 2016
1L B E —=E—+tfF —E—REF
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T AREBFT

Current assets MENEE 1,176,054 -
Non-current assets FEREEE 1,227 -
Current liabilities nEEE (31,060) =
Non-current liabilities ERBEE (50,000) -
Revenue Wiz = -
Loss for the year FREE (3.779) =
Other comprehensive income for the year FREMEEA - -
Total comprehensive expense for the year FREMEFEX AR (3.779) -
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18. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued)

Reconciliation of the summarised financial information presented
above to the carrying amount of the interest in Foshan Dingtu

was set out below:

18. RE ¥R @)
FXRRRME AR E ER LS E S EEE
HEEBFILT -

2017 2016

—E2—tF “T—RF

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARBFT

Net assets of Foshan Dingtu 1L SR8 2 & EFE 1,096,221 =
Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest in 75 B 7235 || 5 [B 1 & RE R 5t

Foshan Dingtu 50% =

Carrying amount of the Group’s interest in AEBERBILSE#ED ZREE
Foshan Dingtu 548,110 -

The financial information and carrying amount, in aggregate, of
the Group's interests in joint ventures, that are not individually

ERIME L TEARREREARZAEE S
BEZEAMBERRREESRIIWNT

material and are accounted for using the equity method are set

out below:
2017 2016
—E—+tF —EREF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBFT
The Groups' shares of profits (losses) and AEED MR (EE) &
total comprehensive income (expense) 2EA (K H) @58 3,029 (20,930)
Aggregate carrying amount of the Group's AEBRITTERELEDE
interests in immaterial joint ventures e BREEAR 905,404 108,644
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18. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued) 18.

The Group has stopped recognising its share of losses of Nanjing
Zhaoyang when applying the equity method. The unrecognised
share of Nanjing Zhaoyang, for the both years and cumulatively,
are set out below:

REeEghEoER @)
REENERESEEE LR B RES
TR RAEEEREH AR AR
BEHIIMT -

2017 2016
N e
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TR AR®BTE

Unrecognised share of losses of a joint venture for AT ERIER D

the year —RALDEZER 5,032 3,827
2017 2016

—E-tF —TAF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR ARBTE

Accumulated unrecognised share of losses of it REROE—RELEZER
a joint venture 8,859 3,827
19. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS 19. A EHERE
Available-for-sale investments comprise: A EERE R
2017 2016
—E—tF —E—RF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR AR®BTE

Unlisted investments in the PRC equity securities, RAHE 2 IF FRARZEHEE -

at cost B

18,750 =
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19. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS (continued) 19. AJft HERE (&)

Analysed for reporting purposes as: MEFMSOWMAE :

2017 2016
—E—tF ZERF
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARBFIT
Non-current assets ERBEE 18,750 -
The amount represented the Group’s 15% equity interest in Z e AL RN — e B AL E
the registered capital of a unlisted company incorporated in the MEREZIELETMARIZEMERPFEE15%
PRC, in which is engaged in property development. They are it o B RS BRI AR RUR ERT 2 Th B R
measured at cost less impairment at the end of the reporting SERATEFEHEBNERERNARAES

period because the range of reasonable fair value estimates is so REELHRE 2 AT EETASEE o

significant that the directors of the Company are of the opinion
that their fair values cannot be measured reliably.

20. OTHER RECEIVABLES 20. HtEWFKRIE
As at 31 December 2016, the amounts included approximately RZZE-—RFE+ZA=+—Hit AEKEE R
RMB342,276,000 and RMB403,515,000 due from associates, AEMBMNEEMNBRZ SO RIHARE
Guangzhou Lianzhou and Guangzhou Liansen, respectively, 342,276,0007T & A R#403,515,0007T © &5
which are unsecured, interest bearing at 6.6% per annum, and EIRE MR FHE6.6%t BX AR T —N\F
repayable in November 2018. The whole amount was classified +—AEE R=ZTE—tF+=ZA=+—8"
as current assets under other receivables as at 31 December 2017 EEHHREESBEEHEMEWHIER N 2 RBE
(see note 23). E(RHiFE23) ©

21. DEFERRED TAXATION 21. IEERIE
The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for AT RIRIEFR IR A A 2 AT AMER TS RS 2 A

financial reporting purposes:

2017 2016
—E—tF CZT—RF
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARETT

Deferred tax assets EER IR E = 670,831 500,662
Deferred tax liabilities EERIBEE (254,294) (145,477)
416,537 355,185
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21. DEFERRED TAXATION (continued)

21, BB E ()

The followings are the major deferred tax assets (liabilities) INTAERFRAERZ EZEERELEE(ARE)
recognised and movements thereon during the year: REREE
Temporary
differences Dividend
on LAT withholding
provision  Tax losses tax Others Total
T IBER
BEz
BRES BEEE REENH Hity Mt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
AREBTRT ARSI AR%¥TR AR¥ETR AR¥ETR
At 1 January 2016 RZT—RF
—H—H 269,467 100,769 (58,663) (1,283) 310,290
Credit (charge) to profit or loss RiEzRA(FIR)
(Note 9) (K17£9) 91,594 38,832 (86,814) 1,283 44,895
At 31 December 2016 and R-ZE—RF
1 January 2017 +=—A=+—8H
M-
—H—H 361,061 139,601 (145,477) - 355,185
Credit (charge) to profit or loss RiERRET A (IR)
(Note 9) (Kt5£9) 178,353 (8,184)  (108,817) - 61,352
At 31 December 2017 RZZE—tF
+=—B=+—H 539,414 131,417 (254,294) - 416,537

At 31 December 2017, the Group had unused tax losses of
approximately RMB547,780,000 (2016: RMB687,988,000),
available to offset against future profits. Deferred tax assets have
been recognised in respect of such losses of RMB525,668,000
(2016: RMB558,404,000) at 31 December 2017. No deferred
tax asset has been recognised in respect of the remaining
RMB22,112,000 (2016: RMB129,584,000) as at 31 December
2017 due to the unpredictability of future profits streams.
Included in unrecognised tax losses are losses of RMB525,000
(2016: RMB117,946,000) as at 31 December 2017 that will
expire in five years from the dates they were incurred. Other
losses may be carried forward indefinitely.

As at 31 December 2017, the Group had unrecognised
deductible temporary difference of RMB430,515,000 (2016:
RMB236,194,000) attributable to the capitalised interest
expenses arising from the intra-group borrowings. No deferred
tax asset has been recognised due to the unpredictability of
future profit streams.
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R-E—+F+_F=+—H XEEHEE X
AR IEEELN AR%547,780,000t (=&
— N4 AR#687,988,0007T) ¢ Al K B
#mF o HEEEEARKS525,668,000L (==
— N AR¥558,404,0007T) ER=F
—tF+ A=+ BHRRELEHBEEE - B
AT TERIAR RS F R » AR =T —tF
TZA=T—HILEHBR T AREE22,112,000
TL(ZE—RF : AR¥129,584,0007T ) FERIE
ERBEE - N _E—+F+-_HF=+—Hzt
ARERPIIAEE 2 BB ARK525,0007T (=
T—XFE  ARM117,946,00070) BREA R
HARBET A 1& fE M o HAb BB MR Bi4EES -

RZZE—+tFE+-_A=+—HB AEEERHE
A FHRER =5 AR 430,515,000 (=
T—NF : AR#236,194,0007T) © I hEER
REBAAREBEELEZENMEFERE - B
T B] BRI 2R 2R 5% Fl) SRR - i 48 RE R R I B
HEEE -
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22. PROPERTIES FOR SALE 22. A HHEYE
2017 2016
—E—+tHF —E—RF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFIT
Completed properties for sale DRI HtHENmE 7,311,498 6,378,266
Properties under development for sale At ERRRYE 25,982,273 25,657,268
33,293,771 32,035,534

The Group’s completed properties for sale are located in the PRC.
They are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

The properties under development for sale are located in the PRC
and represent properties under development for subsequent sale
in the ordinary course of business upon completion.

Included in the properties under development for sale as
at 31 December 2017 is carrying value of approximately
RMB19,290,566,000 (2016: RMB9,043,574,000), which
represents the carrying value of the properties expected to be
completed and available for sale after twelve months from the
end of the reporting period.

As at 31 December 2017, land located in Chongqging and
Jurong with carrying values of approximately RMB362,110,000
(2016: RMB362,110,000) and RMB67,898,000 (2016: nil)
respectively have been pledged to secure bank borrowings
amounting to RMB110,000,000 (2016: RMB170,000,000) and
RMB42,000,000 (2016: nil) respectively granted to the Group
(see note 28).

AEEDRIAELEDRURNTE - ZFY
ERRARAZFRFEME ZBEEAR -

AHEEERTYMECNDE - ERRIEE
AREXFBRETHERBEECERTYE -

N_E—+tF+-A=t+—BAftEEERSD
YEF - BREEHARE19,290,566,0007T (=
T— N AR¥9,043,574,0007T) Z ¥ ¥45
BHEREHHEERART T ZEARETIR
A EYE 2 REE ©

R-ZE—+tHF+-_A=+—H XEEEB
ERUREERDAEABEI NN AAR
362,110,000 L (Z T — RN F : AR
362,110,000 ) X A R#67,898,000L (=&
—NE Bz URBETFAREE ZRTE
ED R AARK110,000,000T (=T —/N4F :
AR #170,000,0007T) & A K #42,000,0007T
(ZZ—RF : )ERER(RMEE28) -

“TLFFR BERBERARDIA 201



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R AR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2017
BE—T—+F+-A=1—HIFE

23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 23. ¥ R EMEWFEIE
2017 2016
—E—t5F —E—RHF
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TT ARETT

Trade receivables (Note a) ER UGB (M ita) 5,550 2,163
Other receivables H th fE U 3R I8
Prepaid LAT FEf LB E RS 334,065 453,376
Other prepaid non-income tax H b IB IEATSHR 352,272 387,785
Other receivables and prepayments H th JE W SR IE R TR SRR 1,256,036 582,238
Amounts due from intermediate holding JiE Uk B AR A R R IE (B atb)

companies (Note b)

590 337

Amounts due from non-controlling equity holders & U 7< 8= @ &8 A =) JE 12 Bk hE 2k

of subsidiaries of the Group (Note b) BB ATIE(Kb) 3,958,767 2,828,108
Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries (Note b) JE U [ 2Bt B A B AR IA (B ath) 11,824 12,779
Amounts due from associates (Note c) JE U Bk A& N B k0 (B aEc) 801,461 714,787
Amounts due from joint ventures (Note d) AL ERE(HiEd) 7,309,669 1,325,504

14,024,684 6,304,914
14,030,234 6,307,077
Notes: HfaE

(a)  Trade receivables mainly arise from Trading Segment.

The Group's credit terms with its trade customers are generally O to 30 days.
The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables
in order to minimise credit risk. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly
by senior management. At the end of the reporting period, the Group had
certain concentration of credit risk as approximately 11% (2016: 87%) and
13% (2016: 100%) of the Group's trade receivables from Trading Segment
were due from the Group's largest trade debtor and the five largest trade
debtors, respectively.

Considerations in respect of properties sold are paid in accordance with
the terms of the related sales and purchase agreements, normally within
60 days from the date of agreement. As at 31 December 2017, there were
rental receivables of RMB1,681,000 (2016: RMB575,000) from Properties
Segment.
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(a)

EBRERERELERESDE ©

REBEREE SR 2 EEH—MRA0E30H - A%
B kg R HIE R U 2 FEUGRIE © AURE R B R
& - MAREIEABTEHEMAIER - RS HRE
HH HRAEEEBERZENI% (Z2—X
F:87%) R13% (ZZT—7"F : 100%) HHIKA
REBBAEBEBARTEZRAEBEBA + A
SEE—EEEERRR °

EEMEZRBEREABEEHRIER BRI
FAMBAOARIMT - R=ZFT—tF+=A
=+—B  RAMESBzASREFTEBAARE
1,681,0007c(=ZF—7<4F : AR¥575,0007T) °
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23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)  23. (7 & H i FEWERIE (@)

The ageing analysis of trade receivables at the end of the
reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

(@ RBREHHEZEAREEARAEZED
FEYRIARRE D ATIA T

2017 2016

—E—+F —E—RF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARBETTT

180 days or less 180H AT 4,809 575
181 days to 365 days 181HE365H 38 =
Over 365 days HRiB365H 703 1,588
5,550 2,163

Before accepting any new customers, the Group maintains
an internal credit assessment process to assess the potential
trade customer’s credit quality and defines credit limits by
customers. Limits attributed to customers are reviewed by
management regularly.

As at 31 December 2017, included in the Group's trade
receivables balance with aggregate carrying amount of
approximately RMB703,000 (2016: RMB1,588,000) which
are past due over one year as at the reporting date for
which the Group has not provided for impairment loss. The
directors of the Company, after assessment, consider the
debts are collectible. The Group does not hold any collateral
over these balances.

RERETAHELA - ARBERAAE
R EREFEEEEB TP ZERER
TARAEEEREE  BEFZERBEESH
EEABEHRER -

MR-E—+F+_A=+—0  X&£E
¥BRERARELEHANEEDELEOA
R¥703,00 T (=T —~F: AR¥
1,588,0007T ) R & B & H B 2 m B
B—F o MAE B AR EE L REES
B  ARRESERTEERBEB AT
el - AEBE W ERZEEHRITHETMK
e
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23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

(b)

(0

The amounts are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on
demand.

Included in the balances as at 31 December 2017,
amounts of approximately RMB333,229,000 (2016:
RMB403,515,000 (see note 20)) and RMB275,204,000
(2016: RMB342,276,000 (see note 20)) are due from
Guangzhou Liansen and Guangzhou Lianzhou respectively
which are unsecured, interest bearing at 6.6% per
annum and repayable in November 2018. The remaining
balances as at 31 December 2017 of approximately
RMB193,028,000 (2016: RMB714,787,000) are unsecured,
interest bearing at fixed interest rate at 7.8% (2016: 5.7%
to 7.8%) per annum and repayable on demand.

The effective interest rates on the Group’s amounts due
from associates ranged from 6.6% to 7.8% (2016: from
5.7% to 7.8%) per annum.

Included in the amounts are approximately
RMB505,505,000 (2016: RMB1,119,304,000) and
RMB148,660,000 (2016: nil) due from Nanjing Huilong
and FERAEES respectively, which are unsecured and
repayable on demand. The amount due from Nanjing
Huilong is interest bearing at RMB Benchmark Loan Rates
offered by the People’s Bank of China and the amount due
from EIARSLEE is interest bearing at RMB Benchmark
Loan Rates offered by the People’s Bank of China times
110% per annum. The remaining balances as at 31
December 2017 of approximately RMB6,655,504,000
are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.
The remaining balances as at 31 December 2016 of
approximately RMB206,200,000 due from Nanjing
Zhaoyang were unsecured, interest bearing at RMB
Benchmark Loan Rates offered by the People’s Bank of
China times 110% per annum and repayable on demand.
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(b)

(d)
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AEEg R—_ZE—+tF+=-A=+—802Z
fREE 4 AR ¥ 193,028,0007T (ZZF — X
£ ANR#714,787,0007T ) & EE IR -
R78%MEEFMEFE(ZE—RF -
5.7%%27.8%)WIREKIEE ©
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23.

24.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

Analysis of trade and other receivables denominated in
currencies other than the functional currency of the entities of
the Group to which they relate:

23. ¥R H A EWFEE @)
A EE AR AR T A M AN B Y
1 REMBEIZIE AT :

2017 2016

—B—tF& —TRF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T AREETTT

Denominated in HK$ LAVS B EHE 3,985 5,651

BANK BALANCES AND CASH

Bank balances and cash comprise cash and short-term bank
deposits with an original maturity of three months or less. The
bank balances carry variable interest rates from 0.001% to
1.70% (2016: 0.001% to 1.35%) per annum.

Cash and cash equivalents include the following for the purposes
of the consolidated statement of cash flows:

24. SBITHRRRE
BITHBEEeRERSREIHB A=A
AT ZRERITER o RITEBRIBZFFEN
F0.001% E1.70% (ZF— /X% : 0.001% =
1.35%) 2 /FBFEKETE -

REERRERERMNE BEMFRRLER
BRENATHRE :

2017 2016

—®—tF —T-XF

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥T ARBTIT

Bank balances and cash RITEBRIRS 5,100,692 5,810,922
Less: Restricted bank deposits not classified B S BEARERERREIER

as cash and cash equivalents 2 ZRFIRITIFER (69,890) (59,030)

5,030,802 5,751,892

Analysis of bank balances and cash denominated in currencies
other than the functional currency of the entities of the Group to
which they relate:

NAEERAERINGEERUIINERFHEZR
THRHERRESTMT ¢

2017 2016

—E—+tF ZE—RF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARBT T

Denominated in HK$ LA EHE 2,252 3,241
Denominated in United States dollars (“US$") ETHE(ET]) 3,001 461,344
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25. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 25. X R H A FIE
2017 2016
—E—+tF ZE—RF
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARET T AREEFIT
Trade payables (Note a) EE RN RRIE (f7Fa)
- Trading Segment -850 = 2,039
— Properties Segment —WEDEP 4,562,561 2,396,871
4,562,561 2,398,910
Other payables H At fE T FRIE
Other non-income tax payables H hIEFTIS B 1 E 305,250 28,439
Other payables and accrued charges H At JE A FRIE R EET R 2 480,003 420,970
LAT payable FE £ 38 2,155,923 1,413,270
Amounts due to intermediate holding FEN —KEEER A BRIE
companies (Note b) (Ktatb) 833,865 82,926
Amounts due to non-controlling equity holders — FE{I 782 B /B A =) JEFE BR A5
of subsidiaries of the Group (Note b) BB AFKE(H D) 427,613 288,170
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries (Note b) FEAST R Z [ B A B ZKIE (MY ath) 1,802,104 25,714
Amounts due to joint ventures (Note b) BT & & ERE(H D) 443,679 173,800
Amounts due to associates (Note b) JE (<B4 BRI (Kt aEb) 284,543 266,159
Dividend payable to non-controlling JERTIEIE A a FE R ARR B
equity holder (Note b) (Ki7tb) 962,031 962,031
7,695,011 3,661,479
12,257,572 6,060,389
Notes: Htat -
(a)  Trade payables from Properties Segment comprise construction costs and (@) MEDIZEBENFIRBIFEERERAR R EAIEE R

other project-related expenses which are payable based on project progress
and the average credit period of these trade payables is 60 days. The average
credit period on purchase of goods is generally from 30 days extending up to
90 days for major suppliers from Trading Segment. The Group has financial

risk management policies in place to ensure that all payables are within the A °

credit timeframe.
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25. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued)

Notes: (continued)

The following is an aged analysis of trade payables, based on the invoice

25. ¥R R HMESFIE @)

Wi - (&)

AT ARBERRAE B IRE R B E 2 EBEAR

date, at the end of the reporting period: THERER DA
2017 2016
—B—tF ZZ—RF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT T AREFT
0 to 60 days 0£60H 2,223,239 1,418,012
61 to 180 days 61£180H 949,020 156,757
181 to 365 days 1812365H 574,129 189,009
Over 365 days #BiB365H 816,173 635,132
4,562,561 2,398,910

The amounts are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

Analysis of trade and other payables denominated in currencies other than

FEEAEER  REWRRBEREE -

AR SEEFERI BB D A B M AN S RHE 2 E R R E A

the functional currency of the entities of the Group to which they relate: ENFRIRESITAT
2017 2016
—B—+tHF —E—RE
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARKT T AREETT
Denominated in HK$ AEHEHE 2,860 386
Denominated in US$ AZETTEHE 192,779 169,794
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26. LOANS FROM EQUITY HOLDERS

26. EEFEAZER

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R AR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2017
BE—T—+F+-A=1—HIFE

2017 2016
—E—+tHF —ET—RF
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR®T T AR®ET T
Non-current FERED
Loans from non-controlling equity holder of AN BT R A A IEERE R A A
subsidiaries of the Group (Note a) 2B (Hita) 2,456,311 7,374
Loans from an intermediate holding company —REEBER AR ZER
(Note ¢) (Ktatc) - 200,000
2,456,311 207,374
Current E
Loans from non-controlling equity holders of AEBME R A FEERERTE A
subsidiaries of the Group (Note b) ZER(HEDb) 2,591,329 4,041,837
Loans from an intermediate holding company —XEERER AR ZER
(Note c) (Ktatc) 1,487,606 2,401,184
4,078,935 6,443,021
Notes: HfaE
(@)  Asat 31 December 2017, the balance of approximately RMB1,799,806,000 @ RZT—EtHFF+-_A=+—H H#HHARYE

is unsecured, interest bearing at RMB Benchmark Loan Rates offered by the
People’s Bank of China, in which balances of approximately RMB7,374,000
and RMB1,792,432,000 were repayable in 2019 and 2020 respectively.
The remaining balances of RMB656,505,000 are denominated in US$,
unsecured, interest bearing at fixed interest rate of 4% per annum and

repayable in 2020.

As at 31 December 2016, the balance of approximately RMB7,374,000 was
unsecured, interest bearing at RMB Benchmark Loan Rates offered by the

People’s Bank of China, and repayable in 2019.

g -

EEGRMES -
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26. LOANS FROM EQUITY HOLDERS (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(b)

As at 31 December 2017, the amounts of approximately RMB67,222,000
are unsecured, interest bearing at fixed interest rate of 6.6% per annum
and repayable on demand or in 2018. The amounts of approximately
RMB118,367,000 are unsecured, interest bearing at RMB Benchmark Loan
Rates offered by the People’s Bank of China and repayable on demand or
in 2018. The amounts of approximately RMB2,405,740,000 are unsecured,
interest bearing at fixed interest rate of 4.35% per annum and repayable on
demand or in 2018.

As at 31 December 2016, the amounts of approximately RMB596,722,000
were unsecured, interest bearing at fixed interest rate of 6.6% per annum,
and repayable in 2017. The amounts of approximately RMB470,702,000
were unsecured, interest bearing at RMB Benchmark Loan Rates offered
by the People’s Bank of China, and repayable in 2017 or on demand. The
amounts of approximately RMB2,221,164,000 were unsecured, interest
bearing at fixed interest rate of 4.35% per annum and repayable in 2017.
The remaining balances of RMB753,249,000 were denominated in US$,
unsecured, interest bearing at fixed interest rate of 4% per annum and
repayable in 2017.

As at 31 December 2017, the balances of approximately RMB1,487,606,000
are unsecured, interest bearing at RMB Benchmark Loan Rates offered by the
People’s Bank of China and repayable on demand or in 2018.

As at 31 December 2016, the balance of approximately RMB2,400,000,000
was unsecured, interest-free and repayable in 2017. The balances of
approximately RMB201,184,000 were unsecured, interest bearing at RMB
Benchmark Loan Rates offered by the People’s Bank of China, in which
approximately RMB200,000,000 and RMB1,184,000 were repayable in 2018
and 2017 respectively.

Analysis of loans from equity holders denominated in currencies
other than the functional currency of the entities of the Group to
which they relate:

26. BB EAZER @)

Mzt - (%)
(b) R=F—tF+=—A=+—H HAR%67,222,000T

AEEE  REEENR66%BWIRERANR —F
—\FEE - HARM118,367,0007T BEKIF - L
B ARBITIREZ ARBEERN K BWRBERIK =
T \FEEE - HARY2,405,740,0007T A EHK A -
RETEFEFNRA35% BB RBRIN =T — \EHE

B o

RZT—RFE+-A=+—H ' Y AR¥596,722,000
TZEBAEER  RETFHE6.6%TRLAERZ
T—LFEE - HARMA70,702,0007T BERKIR - 1%
REARBITIRMZ ARBEETRFIRT S RARZ
T+ FHIREREE - REHARB2,221,164,000
TAERR  REEFFERL35%TEXER T —+

o 838 AR #753,249,0007T © JhAETTEHE -

EARIR - REEFFIEA%TBWAR T~ FHE -

(o ®m=

E—+E+-_/=+—8

BHROARE

1,487,606,000 T & ER - IHRBEARBTREZ A
RUSEEFR BIWIRERFN T — )\ FEE -

»w =

E-RFTZA=+T—H BBEDHDARK

2,400,000,0007T A EHEIF - LRWAR-_ZT—t+FE
i o BREBHARK201,184,000T AEEKM - HHBEA

RBTRHZ ARBEER R X

AR ERHAR

#200,000,0007C f2 A R#1,184,0007T 5 BIZBR =&
—NER=F—EFEE-

NAKRERBERNEEEAINERTTE 2R
BREBEAERITAT :

2017 2016

—E—+F —E—RF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR® T AREET T

Denominated in US$ LAZETTEHE 656,505 753,249
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27. OTHER PAYABLES 27. HibEFRIE
As at 31 December 2017 and 2016, the amount represents loans RZE—+tFR=ZT—AR"F+=ZA=+—8"
from a fellow subsidiary which is unsecured, interest bearing ZRBEEEN—ZRXEARMNBARNER » ZE
at RMB Benchmark Loan Rates offered by the People’s Bank of REEER  RPBEARBITREZARBE
China and repayable in 2020 (2016: 2018). EEFMNEFENVEARZ_TF (=T —~
F T N\F)EE-
28. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 28. |ITRHMEE
2017 2016
—E—+tF —T—RF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBT T
Bank borrowings (Note i) IRITIEE (KaEi) 2,999,029 4,507,590
Other borrowings (Note ii) HEEE (Kati) 600,000 600,000
Total unsecured borrowings mIRRE AR 3,599,029 5,107,590
Bank borrowings, secured BEMBITEE 152,000 170,000
3,751,029 5,277,590
Less: Amounts classified as current liabilities B oA RSEBZEREE (1,773,095)  (2,572,000)
Amounts as non-current JEMENEEE 1,977,934 2,705,590
Carrying amount repayable:* JEEEREE - *
Within one year —&FR 1,773,095 2,572,000
More than one year but not BB —FETNBAMRE
more than two years 873,995 1,851,595
More than two years but not TRIBM RN BRRFE
more than five years 1,103,939 853,995
3,751,029 5,277,590
Unsecured borrowings mEAREER 3,599,029 5,107,590
Secured borrowings (Note iii) BEBEE (B 2Fiii) 152,000 170,000
3,751,029 5,277,590

* The amounts due are based on scheduled repayment dates set out in the
loan agreements.
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For the year

28. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (continued)

The Group’s bank and other borrowings were subject to

varia

ble-rate interest at RMB Benchmark Loan Rates offered

by the People’s Bank of China, London Interbank offered Rate

(“LIB
Benc

OR") + 2.1% per annum or fixed-rate interest at RMB
hmark Loan Rates offered by the People’s Bank of China

at the respective date of borrowings’ agreements. The effective
interest rates on the Group’s bank and other borrowings ranged

from
Notes:

@)

(iii)

3.8% 10 5.4% (2016: 2.25% to 6.6%) per annum.

Amounts of RMB262,790,000 (2016: RMB113,029,000) are bank
borrowings from China Merchants Bank (“CMB"”) which is an associate
of CMG. Also, included in the balance was borrowings of approximately
RMB493,229,000 (2016: RMB2,464,790,000) that are guaranteed by the
non-controlling equity holders of subsidiaries of the Group and by the
Company.

At 31 December 2017 and 2016, the amount of approximately
RMB600,000,000 was borrowing from ABC-CA Fund Management, which
was repayable upon maturity in 2018. The loan was guaranteed by an
intermediate holding company of the Company.

As at 31 December 2017, land located in Chongging and Jurong with
carrying values of approximately RMB362,110,000 (2016: RMB362,110,000)
and RMB67,898,000 (2016: nil) have been pledged to secure bank
borrowings amounting to RMB110,000,000 (2016: RMB170,000,000) and
RMB42,000,000 (2016: nil) granted to the Group.

28. RITRHMIEE @)
AEEYRTREMESRRS A EEHE
BEL R EARRTIRME Y ARELESHF
X pEBRTRERA((RBBRTRLEL])
MEFR2.1% BEM Y ZBHERFUPEAR
BITRE ARBERARAERY Bx 8 X

e

c ARBRITREMEREZERFEMNEN

F3.8%%E5.4%(—ZF—"F :12.25%%6.6%) °

Wiz -

(i)

(i)

(iii)

B AR 262,790,000t (Z T —RF : AR
113,029,0007T) &% B HBE B 5 E 2 B & N B BERIT
(TBEBIT ZRITEE - I BRAEHRADNAR
#493,229,0007t (—=Z — "4 : AR#¥%2,464,790,000
To) AR EE M B A IR ER A ARK AR E
RZIEE -

RZZB—+tFERZZ-—R"FTZA=1+—H FH<
BRAOARBERBESRHEZEELNARKG600,000,000
T ARZE— \FRHEEN - BRHAA R —RM
BEERR A RIVEEIR ©

R-F—tF+-A=1+—8 AEECERURE
BERARKEEN B ARKE362,110,000T(=F—7x
F: AR¥362,110,000) I A R#67,898,0007T (=&
—RE )z LM URBRTFASEZRITEEAR
#110,000,0007% (= — X F : AR# 170,000,000
70) R AR #42,000,0007T (= F —784F  T)EHER -
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HE-_F—+FF+-_A=1+—HIFE
29. BONDS PAYABLE 29. EfHES
2017 2016
—E—+tF —E—RF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T AREFIT
Bonds payable ERES 3,231,826 3,426,732
Less: Amount classified as current liabilities B o BARBEEZESRE (3.231,826) -
Amount as non-current EME SRR - 3,426,732
Carrying amount repayable: FEEEIREE
Within one year —FR 3,231,826 -
More than one year but not more than two years #838— {8 T BB E - 3,426,732
3,231,826 3,426,732

In December 2013, the Group issued the credit enhanced
bonds (the “Bonds”) with an aggregate principal amount of
US$500,000,000. The Bonds bear fixed interest at 4.021%
per annum, payable semi-annually each year. During the year
ended 31 December 2016, the Group redeemed US$500,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB3,382,000) (2017: nil). The
Bonds are listed on the Stock Exchange and will mature in
December 2018.

The fair value of the bonds payable at 31 December 2017
amounted to approximately RMB3,299,376,000 (2016:
RMB3,559,756,000). The fair value is calculated using the market
price of the Bonds at the end of the reporting period.
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#HE=

—tFFZA=+—HIEFE

30. CONVERTIBLE BONDS

On 23 June 2015, the Company’s wholly owned subsidiary,
Cosmos Boom Investment Limited (“Cosmos”) issued 0.50%
convertible bonds (“CBs") which will be due on 23 June 2020
with an aggregate principal amount of US$290,000,000. The
CBs were denominated in US$ and entitle the holders to convert
them into ordinary shares of the Company at a conversion price
of HK$2.9875 per share (subject to adjustment) with fixed
exchange rate of HK$7.7559 equal to US$1.00 at any time on or
after 2 August 2015 and thereafter up to the close of business
on the tenth day prior to the maturity date or if such bonds shall
have been called for redemption by Cosmos before maturity
date, then up to and including the close of business on a date no
later than 15 days prior to the date fixed for redemption thereof.
The conversion price of the CBs was adjusted to HK$2.8800
per share with effect from 10 May 2017, pursuant to the terms
and conditions of the CBs, as a result of the approval by the
shareholders of the final dividend of HK$0.045 per share for the
year ended 31 December 2016. Unless previously redeemed,
converted, purchased and cancelled, all CBs outstanding on
maturity date shall be repaid by Cosmos at its principal amount
outstanding on maturity date plus accrued interest. Cosmos
may, on giving not less than 30 nor more than 90 days’ notice
to bondholders at any time on or after 23 December 2016 prior
to the maturity date redeem all the outstanding CBs in whole
at the outstanding principal amount and accrued interest. The
bondholders have the right to require the Group to redeem all or
some of the CBs on 23 June 2018 afterwards at their principal
amount together with accrued and unpaid interest to the
respective dates fixed for redemption.

At the issue date, the CBs were bifurcated into liability, equity
and derivative components. The equity element is presented
in equity under “Convertible bonds equity reserve” at initial
recognition. The effective interest rate of the liability component
is5.196% per annum.

30. TRRESH

RZZE—RFERNA=-FT=H  RXAGIZ2&HK
BRARARKREEARAR([REBETASE
¥8290,000,000 X TR T _ZTF A =-+=
HE 82 0.50E AT AR E ([ AT AR EH]) ©
AR ESFAETTEHE - W THE AR A
R-E—RAFENA-_BR2EEZIHBERE
+ B & 3 B 8 45 SR L ) BRR D Bk i K B 4 I B
BAIZKERZEES  WEZERBIETER
IETER B+ RR 2 B 22 ¥R
R AERE 29875 2 BIR B IR B K
7.75597T 5.,1.002 7T 2 [ 7 & & % Al R ik (5 5
ERAARNREBER - dHARERERBE=
;fﬁ¢+—ﬂ:+f5¢¢FﬁH$%%ﬁ

VS #50.0457T + BUAR IR AT AR (B 25 O 16 3
Mﬁ ARBEFZERECEARASRBE
28800 HE_E—tFRATHEBEMN - B
JEERIEER - B BERGTH  BRIXRE
5 AR HA B & R R 2 AN S S N R R R B EE
FIHAR M ARER Z FTB A MRES - RETR
TR ANFtTZ A=A ZEEREEB
ATER BB RESIFEAZT L TDN30AR
INRRBEO0 R 2 @A » IRMARBIR Y RS
SR FESTFI B 2 208 | 14 R 85 R 2 FT A A R AR
BEH - BEFBEABERERAEER =T —N
FERA-T=ZHEUARAGRERE IR EER
Z AR BB AT AN S BRI T A S
ATRRES -

RETHEY  ATREESFSRAE - %E&ﬁ
B c MY FHERR RO EEZRIA N [A]
BRESESFHEIZY) - BESD 2ERER

R 5.196% °
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30. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued)
The movements of the liability, equity and derivatives
components of the CBs and the reconciliation of Level 3 fair value
measurement during the reporting period are set out below:

30. TRRREH #m)

AMRESZAE B RITERORREH
AZBBHRF=RRFEFEZHEHIDOT

Derivative
Liability = Derivative financial Equity
component financial liabilities component
of CBs assets of CBs of CBs of CBs Total
AR Gk
MRRESR EF2TE BHE2TE TRRES
ZEERD CREE cREE ZERES st
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®BTRT ARBTr AR%TR AR¥ETR AR¥ETR
At 1 January 2016 R=ZZ—"F—H—H 1,533,339 (168,570) 72,675 414,329 1,851,773
Changes in fair value AN EZS = 60,922 (4,398) = 56,524
Imputed interest expense HEFIEHX
(Notes 8 and 13) (K1et8%13) 83,234 - - - 83,234
Interest paid BAFE (9,630) - - - (9,630)
Exchange realignment HNE TR 107,972 (8,803) 4,767 = 103,936
At 31 December 2016 and RZT—RF
1 January 2017 TZRA=+—-BK
“ZT—t%—fA—H 1,714,915 (116,451) 73,044 414,329 2,085,837
Changes in fair value ANTEEE) = 27,333 (13,350) = 13,983
Imputed interest expense HEEM S X
(Notes 8 and 13) (Hzt8%13) 88,655 - - - 88,655
Interest paid BERFIE (9,797) = = = (9,797)
Exchange realignment GNIE 2 (102,169) 5,864 (3,802) = (100,107)
At 31 December 2017 RZE—+4F
+=—A=+—H 1,691,604 (83,254) 55,892 414,329 2,078,571
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30. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued) 30. TR KRESH @)

No CBs were converted into ordinary shares of the Company
during the years ended 31 December 2017 and 2016. As at 31
December 2017, the principal amount of the CBs that remained
outstanding amounted to US$290,000,000 of which a maximum
amount of 780,976,042 (2016: 752,873,974) shares may fall
to be issued upon their conversions, subject to adjustments
provided in the terms of the CBs. For details of the terms of the
CBs, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 3
June 2015.

At 31 December 2017 and 2016, the fair values of the derivative
financial assets and liabilities were valued by Jones Lang, an
independent qualified professional valuer, not connected with
the Group. The fair values of the derivative financial assets/
liabilities were estimated at the end of reporting periods,
respectively using the Binomial model. The changes in fair value
of derivative financial assets/liabilities were recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss. The inputs into the
model were as follows:

BHE-_FT—tFR-_FT—X"F+t=-A=+—H
IEFE MEITRRESFERAEAQNG LB
e R-_ZTE—+F+-_A=+—8 ' NxEH
2 AR EH A LR A290,000,000% T - H
%%780,976,042 8 (=Z — /< : 752,873,974
f%) B An AT R B IARE 31T - HMRIBAIRES 2
EFRER TRAE - AIMRRES 2 ERFIEH
2HARTRHA-Z—AEANA=ZEZAE -

REZFB—+tFRZE—ARF+=ZA=+—8
MESHEERBEZATFETHERNEEW
BEAECBEYEEREEMERMMP ST
HoTESREE BEZAFESRRERSE
HEAEE R R BB G - FTESHE
E/BEZAFEEHNGEBERPER -
ZIER 2@ ABIEMT -

At At

31 December 31 December

2017 2016

REZB—tF RZT—RF

+=A +=A

=i =t+-A

Share price AR HK$1.44 HK$1.12
B¥1.44 T BN 127

Conversion price B (E HK$2.8800 HK$2.9875
7B#52.8800t HH52.98757T

Expected volatility SELINAE 51% 57%
Expected life 8 B £F A1 905 Days 1,271 Days
905H 1,271H

Risk free rate 4 [ [ ) = 1.94% 1.57%
Expected dividend yield T8 BAAR B i 2 2 1.67% 0.69%
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31. SHARE CAPITAL 31. B
Ordinary share capital of the Company AR ZEBRRA
Number
of shares Amount
RHEE K
HK$'000
BETT
Ordinary share of HK$0.01 each SREEEK0.01 T2 EBR
Authorised: EE
At 1 January 2016, 31 December 2016, RZZE—XR"E—HA—H"
1 January 2017 and 31 December 2017 —E-R"E+-A=t+—-8"
—T—t+F-A-RK
—E—+&%+-A=+—H 30,000,000,000 300,000

Number
of shares Equivalent to
R4 8 B HER
HK$'000 RMB’000
BT ARBTR
Issued and fully paid: BRTRARE
At 1 January 2016 and 31 December 2016, RZE-—RF-A—-BK
1 January 2017 and 31 December 2017 —Z—RFE+-A=+—8 "
—T—+tF-A-BRk
—E—+tF+-A=+—H 4,905,257,860 49,053 39,132
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32. DEEMED DISPOSAL AND DISPOSAL OF
INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES WITHOUT
CHANGE OF CONTROL

(i)

On 30 March 2016, Foshan Yi Yun Property Development
Co., Ltd.* (“Foshan Yi Yun”), a non wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into a cooperation
agreement with Jiayin Shengshi, an independent third
party, pursuant to which among other things, Jiayin
Shengshi and Foshan Yi Yun subscribed for the registered
capital of Yi Yun Guan Yuan of RMB20,000,000
and RMB69,500,000 respectively. As a result, the
registered capital of Yi Yun Guan Yuan increased from
RMB10,500,000 to RMB100,000,000, and the equity
interest in Yi Yun Guan Yuan being held by Foshan Yi Yun
decreased from 100% to 80%.

The difference between the fair value of consideration paid
by Foshan Yi Yun and the share of net assets in Yi Yun Guan
Yuan of approximately RMB824,000 was recognised by the
Group in equity transaction reserve.

32. RAFHERNEFIRLRBE 215

MMNHENBLQR 2 #HS

(i)

R-ZT—RNE=ZA=+H ARF}E2E
MBRARMUKEEWERR AR (6
IWKE |) BB E = HERBMET LA
et B (EFAEE)  EHREHTR
BILKES FIREBREER 2 FMERA
R # 20,000,000 7t & A R # 69,500,000
e Bt KEBEZAMELRRARE
10,500,000 7T 3 i1 & A R # 100,000,000
T MEABLEERE 2 KEESEREL
F100%EHZE80% °

HBILEERZAREZ AFERS GK
EHREEEFECHAZEENARE
824,000 T EREBER BIERR HIHEME ©
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32. DEEMED DISPOSAL AND DISPOSAL OF
INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES WITHOUT
CHANGE OF CONTROL (continued)

(i)  On 30 June 2016, Merchants Nanjing entered into a
cooperation agreement with Nanjing Renyuan and Poly
Jiangsu pursuant to which, among other things, a company,
Nanjing Shanjieyi will be set up in the PRC to engage in
the development of the land. Nanjing Shanjieyi initially
had a registered share capital of RMB1,000,000,000 and
held as to 51% by Merchants Nanjing, 33% by Nanjing
Renyuan and 16% by Poly Jiangsu. On 28 December 2016,
Merchants Nanjing, Nanjing Renyuan and Poly Jiangsu
subscribed for the registered capital of Nanjing Shanjieyi
of RMB500,000,000. As a result, the registered capital
of Nanjing Shanjieyi increased from RMB1,000,000,000
to RMB1,500,000,000 and the equity interest held by
Merchants Nanjing decreased from 51% to 36%. The
difference between share of net assets in Nanjing Shanjieyi
derived before and after subscription of approximately
RMB3,219,000 was recognised by the Group in equity
transaction reserve.

Even though the Group only has 36% interest in Nanjing
Shanjieyi, it is a subsidiary of the Group. The directors of
the Company assessed the Group’s control over it on the
basis of its practical ability to direct the relevant activities
unilaterally in making their judgement, the directors of the
Company considered the Group has sufficiently dominant
voting interest to direct the relevant activities of it and
therefore the Group has control over it.
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2. RIEHERNIEH L EEE 215
RTITHEMB AT ZERE @)

N-E—XREXA=1+H HREEE
WESRERCERRMNIEH LG ER
®BH(ERERE) BREAES/RN
PERY—FRAa c A2ET B -
EREANEBYVEEFTMBEAARE
1,000,000,000 7T I B4 7 & 4R 7 /= o EE
ARCERRFIEHRS BHFE51% * 33%
$16% - RZ_ZE—XR"F+_A=+N
H BRBBEHE BRCERRAH
IHERABEREABZZEMERARE
500,000,0007C ° Btk - BREAREZ
fitt & 2 i A R %5 1,000,000,000 7T 3 0 &
AR #1,500,000,0007C * ERBEAFM
EEA 2BRENHS1%EHE36% © 21h
ARENEEEFENREBIZ ZEZ5EY
ARBE3,219,000 T EAEE R AR
R G f#M -

BEAEEERARARENEI6%ES
HENRAEEZHBRAR - ARBEER
EHREHER AL E D TEREELZ
BN RERAEE ZZH - AR
RAESR/AKERAERN TERFES
UNEEHMBAEL - Bt - AREHEE
|4 o
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#HE=

—tFFZA=+—HIEFE

32. DEEMED DISPOSAL AND DISPOSAL OF
INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES WITHOUT
CHANGE OF CONTROL (continued)

(iii)

On 31 May 2017, Foshan Merchants Property Development

0., Ltd* (“Foshan Merchants”), a wholly-owned
subsidiary, entered into a cooperation agreement with
Foshan Yi Yun, pursuant to which among other things,
Foshan Yi Yun subscribed for the registered capital of
Foshan Merchants Guolin Property Development Co.,
Ltd (“Foshan Guolin”) of RMB40,000,000. As a result,
the registered capital of Foshan Guolin increased from
RMB 10,000,000 to RMB50,000,000 and the proportion
effective ownership interest held by the Group decreased
from 100% to 60%.

The difference between the fair value of consideration paid
by Foshan Yi Yun and the share of net assets in Foshan
Guolin of approximately RMB3,393,000 is recognised by
the Group in equity transaction reserve.

33. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES
ACCOUNTED FOR AS ASSETS ACQUISITION

(i)

On 15 April 2016, the Group acquired 60% equity interests
of Poly Field International Investments Limited (“Poly Field")
from an independent third party for a cash consideration
of RMB437,058,300. Poly Field and its sole wholly-owned
subsidiary were incorporated in the PRC (the “Poly Field
Group”). The directors of the Company are of the opinion
that the acquisition of Poly Field is in substance an asset
acquisition instead of a business combination, as the net
assets of Poly Field was mainly a piece of land recording
under properties for sale under development and Poly Field
was inactive prior to the acquisition by the Group.

w Unofficial English translation denotes for identification purpose only

2. RIEHERRNIEHELEEE 215
MENEENE QT2 S

(iii)

R-_ZE—tFRA=1T—H 2BEHNBA
ABEILBEEEAR AR ([#HLBE]D
HEBIKERT LA EHZE - Bt - HP e
B HBLUEKEREG# LBRRERHE
BRAB([#FHLRE])FMERARE
40,000,0007T - At I REZFHE
AN AR 10,000,000 T NE A R #&
50,000,0007T - AN &8 B B % B R A
RS BIER100% 84 E60% °

BILERER S FREZ D FEED 15
LWREEEFEZEAZEZEHOARE
3,393,000 L EREE R BER R F F
1%0

33. WM QA R ARRINEEEWE

(i)

R_ZE—XR"FMA+HERA  KEENURE
KRB AR® 437,058,300 T A — L BILE
=HWEEERRIRERRAR([1EE])
60%ZHXZME£>\ o EENHE—2EWE

Al(HmEa [EEEE )R Bk
ﬁ c ANTEERAWEREELE LRE
EREmMIFXBEH  RERBEEZEE
FEEER—EIEANHLEEEREFE
2 b R R A AN A [ U BT R B
[REFSIEE o

* SER T ECEYE - R o
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33. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

33. KB B A T ABRIIEEEWE

ACCOUNTED FOR AS ASSETS ACQUISITION (&)
(continued)
(i)  (continued) Gy (#&)
Net assets of Poly Field Group acquired: Frif s e @ v EEFE ¢
RMB’000
ARBTT
Plant and equipment (Note 14) RS K st (Mt 14) 2
Properties for sale under development At ERREPYE 655,789
Bank balances and cash RITEBRIRS 77,090
Other payables H A FE A5 RUE (4,451)
728,430
Non-controlling interests FEPE IR (291,372)
437,058
Satisfied by: BT :
Cash consideration HEKRE 437,058
Net cash outflow arising from acquisition W E £ 23R &ML F R
Cash paid BEfRE (437,058)
Less: Bank balances and cash acquired A BIRIBIRITAESBRKIRS 77,090
(359,968)

The non-controlling interest in Poly Field Group recognised
at the acquisition date was measured by reference to the
proportionate share of recognised amounts of net assets

of Poly Field Group and amounted to approximately

RMB291,372,000.
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33. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES
ACCOUNTED FOR AS ASSETS ACQUISITION

(continued)

(ii)

On 18 August 2016, the Company entered into an
agreement (the “Agreement”) with China Merchants
Properties Development Limited (“CMPD"), a subsidiary
of China Merchants Shekou, an intermediate holding
company of the Company, to acquire the entire equity
interest of Coming Wealth Limited (“Coming Wealth"),
a subsidiary of CMPD, and all outstanding shareholder
loan of approximately HK$281,125,000 (equivalent to
RMB251,467,000) owing by Coming Wealth to CMPD
at the date of completion of the aforesaid acquisition for
a total consideration of approximately HK$504,000,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB451,101,000) which
was paid by cash (the “Coming Wealth Acquisition”). The
Coming Wealth Acquisition was completed on 5 January
2017. Upon completion, the Company holds 100% equity
interest in Coming Wealth, which became a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company.

Coming Wealth is principally engaged in property
investment in Hong Kong and up to the date of acquisition,
Coming Wealth has not carried out any significant business
transaction except for holding certain completed properties
in Hong Kong. The Coming Wealth Acquisition has been
accounted for by the Group as acquisition of assets.

(i)

33. WEBHIE A R A RRDIEE E IR
()

RZE—ARENATNH  AAFER
AREXEERAGB(THEAEE]) (KX
AAEERAGDBRIREOZHEBA
DRI — ([ HBE]) - WKER
MEECHBRAREKREEXERAQ A
(TER]) 22 » AR £l g
EREERERBEEX 22 BARE
BREERA B 281,125,000t (HHE
WA R#251,467,0007T) @ AREHA
75 ¥ 504,000,000 7T (B E R AR
451,101,0007T) © IRt o EREUEE
EFEER_T—+tFE—ARBATK ° =K
% ARRFHEREIRAERS - EK
EmRAAARZEENBAR -

EHREIEREBREVERERT  ME
ERBRE BREERESETCRIY
EH o ERERAREMEEEREBR
2 ERUBEHRE ARSLEEEEK
&
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33. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

33. KB B A T ABRIIEEEWE

ACCOUNTED FOR AS ASSETS ACQUISITION (&)

(continued)

(i) (continued) iy (%)
Net assets of Coming Wealth acquired: Fri g iR 2 BE M ¢

RMB’000
ARETT
Other receivables H U R IE 435
Investment properties (Note 15) TEME(HE15) 451,722
Bank balances and cash IRTTHEBRRBE S 126
Other payables H A FE A5 RE (1,182)
Shareholder loan =T (251,467)
199,634
Satisfied by: BRATEAT
Cash consideration for Shareholder loan BREERZESRE 251,467
Entire equity interest of Coming Wealth EERE R 199,634
Cash consideration HE KRB 451,101
Net cash outflow arising from acquisition WHEELEZHES R %5
Cash paid BEfRE (451,101)
Less: Bank balances and cash acquired B BIEBIRITAER KRS 126
(450,975)
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34. RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLAN

(i)

(i)

Plans for Hong Kong employees

The Group participates in the MPF Scheme for all its
qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The assets of the MPF
Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in
funds under the control of an independent trustee. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to the MPF Scheme is
to make the required contributions under the scheme. No
forfeited contribution is available to reduce the contribution
payable in the future years.

Plans for PRC employees

The employees employed in the PRC are members of the
state-managed retirement benefit schemes operated by
the PRC government. The PRC subsidiaries are required
to contribute certain percentage of their payroll to the
retirement benefit scheme to fund the benefits. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement
benefit schemes is to make the required contributions
under the schemes.

35. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation
of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy
remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of loans from equity
holders, loans from a fellow subsidiary, bonds payable, bank and
other borrowings and liability component of convertible bonds,
net of cash and cash equivalents and equity, comprising share
capital, share premium, various reserves and non-controlling
interests.

34. R KEF S
() ERESTS
AEBRBEAMALRERREESERES
itEl e BESFBCEEER—RBIE
FEARRS| 2 B EAK B EE D FRR
B AKEHBBEEFEAZE-—TEERR
BATEFL R E R - BEE IR
AT AR AR 2R 4F R A5 1R o

TEESEE

TEEE2ETBEBFAMEEZBRER
RREHIETE o i BB A RIZARZRIR
BN EEFME TE L ZH
K RRERNREHRES - AEEHRIK
BAFE 2B ERBRBELFENELR

FERERK o

(ii)

35. EEMERE
FEEEEEES  NWHEAEE BREE
WUARECE T REE  ABNERENTE
E % EAR A 2 & 4R T 5 R E S A
4R o AN EE B AR SRS B R T o

AEBZERAERBRRABERAAZE
H - RERRMBARZER - ENES R
TREMEERABREERZEESD  Re
RERR AR FRIARES (BFERA - B
B - ZERERIFERER)
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(i) Debt is defined as loans from equity holders, non-current portion of other
payables, bonds payable, liability component of convertible bonds and bank
and other borrowings.

(i) Equity includes all capital and reserves of the Group and non-controlling
interests.
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35. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 35. 5 R REE @)
The directors of the Company review the capital structure RARABESERARNBERERE o ERB—
on a regular basis. As part of this review, the directors of the D ARBEEERERKAE - BHXAK - B
Company consider the cost of capital, cost of debts, gearing EREBELERSBETEBAZAR - RRARQ
ratios and the risks associated with each class of capital. Based on RIESEZHEBER  AEBGHEZTHR K
recommendations of the directors of the Company, the Group MIRBARETHEREERBEY  FTEHE
will balance its overall capital structure through new share issues, BB -
the payment of dividends as well as the issue of new debts or the
repayment of existing debts.
The entities of the Group which were established in the PRC RABIK Y 2 AEEERFFAAREGEZ
maintained RMB denominated bank balances, the remittance RITAEER - B BIE L ZERIBAETF BB
of these funds out of the PRC is subject to exchange restrictions T & it BE 5 PRl o
imposed by the PRC government.
The gearing ratio of the Group at the end of the reporting period AEBERREREEEB 2 ERBFBLLRNT ¢
was as follows:
2017 2016
—E—tF ZE—RF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBETTT
Debt (Note i) B (Afati) 15,233,460 17,084,380
Bank balances and cash RITERKIA S (5,100,692) (5,810,922)
Net debt FE 10,132,768 11,273,458
Equity (Note ii) Wz (M atii) 21,771,226 14,107,970
Net debt to equity ratio SEES R RS X 0.47 0.80
(i) BEBERAERREERFEAZER - HttENFIEZ IE

MEBED - EAES - TRRES 2 BEBD URRT

REMEER -

(i) REEBEAREMRAERREENA R ES -
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a)

(b)

Categories of financial instruments

36. T A
(a) €MIESSE

2017 2016
—E—tF —T—RF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFIT
Financial assets ERMEE
FVTPL BAFEFABR 83,254 116,451
Loans and receivables (including B R EWEIE (aER{TES
bank balances and cash) Ve 18,406,122 12,022,629
Available-for-sales investment FEEILE 18,750 -
Financial liabilities SEEE
FVTPL BRAFEFABZR 55,892 73,044
Other financial liabilities at amortised cost B SER A AR B SR B (& 25,029,859 21,703,060

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade and
other receivables, bank balances and cash, loans from
equity holders, trade and other payables, bank and other
borrowings, convertible bonds and bonds payable. Details
of the financial instruments are disclosed in respective
notes.

The risks associated with these financial instruments include
market risk (currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk
and liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these
risks are set out below. The management manages and
monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures
are implemented on a timely and effective manner.

(b) MBEREERBEREE

AEEZTECHTABEER R EMIE
WikIR - |RITHEBREAS  BEFBEAE
K EBREMEMNFKE - RITREME
& HERESFRENES - ZEERT
B ZHIERERMERE -

ZEeRmTARERREEN SRR (B
RigkMEXRER) FERRERBE SR
@ o B B AN AR B A% T L B 2 BRI T
X - EREEBEVERZERR - AR
MY BRERA BEE
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)
Market risk

(i)

Currency risk

The Group has foreign currency denominated trade
and other receivables, bank balances, trade and
other payables, loans from equity holders and bonds
payable, which expose the Group to foreign currency
risk. The management has closely monitored foreign
exchange exposure and will undertake necessary
procedures to mitigate the currency risk.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency
denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities
at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

36. €@t T B ()
(b) BIEEREEEERBEE)
HiEER
() EHEER

AEBEBEAINETHEZ EB R E A
FEMFRIR - IRITHERR - R REME
NHIE - EEFREAERXRENE
7 BEAKEEHINERR - B
JE C B Y] BRI EE R B e S SR ER s 2
P IAREE SRR

REBENINEHECEREERTE
BERNREHRAEB 2ERmEN
T

Assets Liabilities
BE afE

2017 2016 2017 2016

—E—tf TR F Bt ZT—RF

RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB’ 000 RMB'000

ARETT ARETT ARBTR ARET:R

HK$ i 6,237 8,892 2,860 386

us$ ST 3,001 461,344 4,081,110 4,350,027
Sensitivity analysis GUREZ ST

The Group is mainly exposed to the currency of
HK$ and US$. No sensitivity analysis is presented for
RMB, the functional currency of respective group
entities, against HK$ because the risk is considered
insignificant.
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)
Market risk (continued)

(i)

Currency risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis (continued)

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity
to a 5% (2016: 5%) increase and decrease in RMB,
the functional currency of respective group entities,
against US$ which represents management'’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change in
foreign exchange rate. The sensitivity analysis includes
only outstanding US$ denominated monetary
items and adjusts their translation at the end of
the reporting period for a 5% (2016: 5%) change
in foreign currency rate. A positive number below
indicates an increase in post-tax profit where RMB
strengthen 5% (2016: 5%) against US$ and vice
versa.

36. €@t T B ()
(b) BIEREEEERBEE)

™% Bk ()

—

i)

B R (&)

BEE ST (4E)
TRAMLAEBGR AR (HESE
BRI EE) AETAEKREE
5% (=T —RF :5%) HEE -
RS T TR B NS [ R ] B
W2 AREE) 2 THE - HRESITE
BRENETEZREEEKIEE -
WRBEHEEERIRINEER >
5%(=ZF—7N%F : 5%) B AEHHR
B UTNEHBTREAREBHETLE
F5%(ZZF—RF : 5%)FBRE‘R
Rz INE5E  RZINR ©

2017 2016

—E—+tHF NS

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T AREFIT

Profit or loss B 170,261 161,998
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)
Market risk (continued)

(ii)

Interest rate risk management

The Group is primarily exposed to cash flow interest
rate risk in relation to variable-rate interest bearing
receivables and payables, including amounts due
from joint ventures, bank balances, bank and other
borrowings, loans from a fellow subsidiary and loans
from equity holders.

The Group's fair value interest rate risk relates primarily
to its fixed-rate loans from equity holders, amounts
due from associates, convertible bonds, bank and
other borrowings and bonds payable.

The Group currently does not have an interest
rate hedging policy in relation to fair value interest
rate risk and cash flow interest rate risk. However,
management of the Group monitors interest rate
exposure on an on-going basis and will consider
hedging significant interest rate exposure should the
need arise.

The Group's exposures to interest rates on financial
liabilities are detailed in the liquidity risk section of this
note.

The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is mainly
concentrated on the fluctuation of RMB Benchmark
Loan Rates offered by the People’s Bank of China or
LIBOR.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2017
BE_F—+F I _A=1—HAILFE

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

(i) Interest rate risk management (continued)
Sensitivity analysis
The sensitivity analyses below have been prepared
assuming these financial instruments outstanding at
the end of the reporting period were outstanding
for the whole year. A 50 basis points (2016: 50 basis
points) increase or decrease is used when reporting
interest rate risk internally to key management
personnel and reasonably possible change in interest
rates.

If interest rate had been 50 basis points (2016: 50
basis points) higher/lower for variable-rate interest
bearing financial assets/liabilities and all other variables
were held constant, the Group’s post-tax profit for
the year would decrease/increase by RMB5,262,000
(2016: RMB10,080,000).

Credit risk

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk which
will cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure to
discharge an obligation by the counterparties is arising
from:

e the carrying amount of the respective recognised
financial assets as stated in the consolidated statement
of financial position at the end of each reporting
period; and

e the amount of contingent liabilities in relation to
financial guarantees issued by the Group as disclosed
in note 40.

36. e T B (@)
(b) MERBREERERBE M)
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

The Group has concentration of credit risk in respect of
bank balances. At 31 December 2017, approximately
45% (2016: 61%) of the bank balances were deposited
at CMB. Except for approximately 14% (2016: 12%) and
16% (2016: 10%) of the bank balances deposited at China
Construction Bank and Industrial and Commercial Bank of
China (Asia) Limited, deposits in other banks are individually
less than 10% of total bank deposits and bank balances.
The credit risk of these liquid funds is limited because the
counterparties are either state-owned banks located in the
PRC or banks with high credit ratings.

The Group has concentration of credit risk in respect
of amounts due from non-controlling equity holders of
subsidiaries of the Group at 31 December 2017 and 2016,
and amounts due from associates and joint ventures at 31
December 2017 and 2016. In order to minimise the credit
risk on these amounts, the management of the Company
continuously monitors the credit quality and financial
conditions of non-controlling equity holders of subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures of the Group and the level
of exposure to ensure that follow up action is taken to
recover overdue debts. Under such circumstances, the
directors of Company consider that the Group'’s credit risk is
insignificant.
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

36. e T B (@)
(b) MERBREERERBE M)

policies (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

The Group provides guarantees to banks in connection with
certain customers’ borrowing of mortgage loans to finance
their purchase of the Group’s properties. If a purchaser
defaults on the payment of its mortgage during the period
of guarantee, the bank holding the mortgage may demand
the Group to repay the outstanding loan and any interest
accrued thereon. Under such circumstances, the Group
is able to repossess the properties for resale. Therefore,
the management of the Company consider it would
likely recover any loss incurred arising from the guarantee
provided by the Group. No such repossession of properties
occurred during the year ended 31 December 2017 (2016:
nil).

Liquidity risk

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between
continuity of funding generated from operating activities
and the flexibility through the use of borrowings and issue
of new debts. The directors of the Company closely monitor
the liquidity position and expect to have adequate sources
of funding to finance the Group’s projects and operations.

The following table details the Group's expected remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial
liabilities. The table has been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of non-derivative financial
liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group
can be required to pay. The table includes both interest
and principal cash flows. To the extent that interest flows
are floating rate, the undiscounted amount is derived from
interest rate curve at the end of the reporting period.

EERR (&)
AEERETEF 2 ZBERMRITRM
BR URHESTREBELASEY
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 36. €@t T B ()
(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) Bi¥EEREBEZERBER(E)
policies (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) REVE SRR (F)
On demand Total
within 61to 181t0 Over undiscounted  Carrying
60days  180days  365days  1-2years  2-3years 3years cashflows  amount
REX AEBRS
60B®  61Z1808 181Z365A 1228 1:3E BEE fEAE RaEE
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETL ARETn ARETn ARETn ARETr ARETn ARETn ARETz
At 31 December 2017 REE-tE+ZA=1-R
Trade and other payables EBREMENTR 9,796,399 - - - - - 979,399 9,796,399
Loans from equity holders ERBEALET
- due within one year ——EREH 1498 243 120031 2,582,048 - - - 4200322 407893
Loans from equity holders ERREALER
- due after one year ——ERI|H - - - 7915 2,728,641 - 2736616 245311
Other payables EthEfE
- ue after one year ——ERI)H - - - - 23,758 - 23,758 23,755
Bank and other borrowings FIRABEE
- fived rate -8 295,499 143117 674,045 831,768 1,134,178 - 3078607 2834290
Bank and other borrowings FREMEE
- Variable rate -%8 366,872 266,278 72115 73,630 178,737 - 957,632 916,739
Bonds payable EfiEH 2617 45233 3,446,000 - - - 3513850 3231826
Convertible bonds hRES 1,633 3,266 4398 9,797 1,964,225 - 1983819 1,691,604
11,981,263 577925 6,779,106 923170 6,029,539 - 26291003 25,029,859
Financial quarantee contracts SIBEREY 3572819 - - - - - 3572819 -
At 31 December 2016 RZE-7~E+ZA=1-R
Trade and other payables EBREMENTE 4,618,680 - - - - - 4618680 4,618,680
Loans from equity holders EaEAZER
- due within one year ——ERE|H - 502,892 6,105,090 - - - 6607982 6,443,021
Loans from equity holders EEEEAZER
- due after one year -5 - - - NS4 6,545 - M0 207374
Other payables EtEf0E
- ue after one year ——ERE)H - - - 15,698 - - 15,698 14,748
Bank and other borrowings RRAEE
- fixed rate -E& 97 456 96,792 - 656,766 703336 - 155435 1,432,000
Bank and other borrowings RS
- Variable rate -%8 5577 259332 2215216 1,303,731 238,006 - 402182 3845590
Bonds payable EfiEH 2233 44 466 66,699 133398 3,320,850 - 3587646 3,426,732
Convertible bonds hRES 1,605 3210 4315 9,630 9630 1930908 1959798 1714915
4,745,551 906692 8391820 2333770 4278367 1930908 22,587,108 21,703,060
Financial quarantee contracts SIBEREN 3,636,746 - - = - - 3636746 -
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

(c)

policies (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

The amounts included above for financial guarantee
contracts are the maximum amounts the Group could
be required to settle under the arrangement for the full
guaranteed amount if that amount is claimed by the
counterparty to the guarantors. Based on the expectations
at the end of the reporting period, the Group considers that
it is more likely than not that no amount will be payable
under the arrangement. However, this estimate is subject
to change depending on the probability of the counterparty
claiming under the guarantee, which is a function of
the likelihood that the financial receivables held by the
counterparties that are guaranteed by the Group suffer any
credit losses.

The amounts included above for variable interest rate
instruments for non-derivative financial liabilities are subject
to change if changes in variable interest rates differ to those
estimates of interest rates determined at the end of the
reporting period.

Fair value

Except as set out below, the directors of the Company
consider that the carrying amounts of financial assets
and financial liabilities as at 31 December 2017 and 2016
recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated financial
statements approximate their fair values.

36. e T B (@)
(b) MERBREERERBE M)

(c)

TENE & E R (F)

ERFABMBERENIEB/NI Z Y
FAERARLRER - MIRBEHERS
BLBARERRAEBBEZRR TR
ERNERSHHEER 2R - AEER
RIRFAEHARBZ RN EAFE -
AW - AR E - REREEE
R 55 F s IR 1 R B R ERIE
EEEMRBERRENRRZATREERE o

i FEF R BB RN HERNEEERAETE
ZHEGEER - B LT AR A
BZFBNETAMGFAZERNEHE -

ATE
BT XEINEI  ARBEERR - N
F—tFR_F-—RFt+t-_HA=1+—8"
REAMBRRABHRAARZERBE
ErEREBEZRAEREAFERE

Carrying
amount Fair value
BREE AYE
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARBTTT ARBTTT
Financial liability — level 2 Fair value hierarchy CHEE-ATEERE-R
Other financial liability — Bonds payable HEemaE—-ENES
As at 31 December 2017 R-_EB—+F+-_A=+—H 3,231,826 3,299,376
As at 31 December 2016 RZZE—R"E+-_A=+—H 3,426,732 3,559,756

T HER BERERARAR 233



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R AR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2017

BE—F—+FA=1T—FHIFE

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 36. R T A @)
(c) Fair value (continued) (c) A¥EG#E)
The fair values of derivative components of convertible
bonds are estimated using Binomial model (2016: Binomial
model) and the movements thereon during the year are set
out in note 30.

As at 31 December 2017 and 2016, the only financial R-E—tFR
instrument measured at fair value was the derivative A EEEREAYF
component of convertible bonds which belongs to level 3 BREHFZITET
financial instruments. B)o

/\I:l

RAFEER - BmAGERA G TR
BEHFZITETABO R FE(ZF—
“IEAMBEERER) RE B HNHE30

A

—RETZA=1—

TﬁiZéﬂIﬂﬁT%

D(BE=FemT

Valuation techniques and

Fair value significant key or
Financial instrument Fair value as at hierarchy unobservable inputs
$WMIA RUTRHZAYE AVERER REFEREATESFATRERAYE
31 December 31 December
2017 2016
“E—t§ - RF
T=A T=A
Er=[E =t+—-H”
RMB'000 RMB000
ARBTR  ARBTT
Derivative component of
convertible bonds
ARRES 2 ITHETAHS
— Financial assets 83,254 116,451 Level 3 Valuation technique: Binomial method
- SREE =8 HERE ZEAEER
Key observable inputs:
FEABRE AR

Risk-free rate

kS

Effective interest rate

GRS

Key unobservable inputs:

FEPAHRE A -
Volatility

L]
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(c) Fair value (continued)

36. €@ T B (@)

(c) DFE#E)

Valuation techniques and

Fair value significant key or
Financial instrument Fair value as at hierarchy unobservable inputs
$RMIA RUTAHZAYE AVFEER REFEREATESFTREEGAHE
31 December 31 December
2017 2016
“E-tf CZT—R%
+=A +=A
=r=E =t—-H
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARETET
— Financial liabilities (55,892) (73,044) Level 3 Valuation technique: Binomial method

-ERERE F=R

Note: A 10% (2016: 10%) increase in the volatility with all other variables
constant would decrease the fair value of the derivative financial
assets and increase the fair value of derivative financial liabilities
at 31 December 2017 by approximately RMB7,513,000 (2016:
decrease RMB10,992,000) and RMB3,756,000 (2016: increase
RMB5,496,000), respectively.

ERE

Key observable inputs:

TETEREARE
Risk-free rate

ZHRAMERA

2017: 1.94%

(2016: 1.57%)
“T—tF 0 1.94%
(ZZ—R%F 1 1.57%)
2017: 5.196%
(2016: 5.196%)

T —+F:519%%
(Z2—7~F :5.19%%)

ERBA X

Effective interest rate

Key unobservable inputs:

FETABEEALE -
Volatility 2017:51%
(2016: 57%)
Rt “Z2—tF:51%

(ZZ—RE 1 57%)

Biat - RIEIZIN10% (ZF—7F  10%) M ATE Lt &8 4R
TEHEIR Tt F+-_A=+—RATESMEE
RNHERDLHIARET,513,00070(ZZ—RF : HSA
K%10,992,0007T) RATESBEAXFEEMARE
3,756,0007C( =T —7<4F : N AR#5,496,0007T) ©
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(c) Fair value (continued)

There were no transfers into or out of Level 3 during the
years ended 31 December 2017 and 2016. Please refer
to note 30 for the reconciliation of Level 3 fair value
measurement.

The fair values of other financial assets and financial
liabilities have been determined in accordance with
generally accepted pricing models based on a discounted
cash flow analysis.

Valuation processes

Some of the Group’s assets and liabilities are measured
at fair value for financial reporting purposes. The
appropriate valuation techniques and inputs for fair value
measurements are determined by the directors of the
Company or the independent qualified valuers.

In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the
Group uses market-observable data to the extent it is
available. Where Level 1 inputs are not available, the
Group engages independent qualified valuers to perform
the valuation. The directors of the Company work closely
with the independent qualified valuers to establish the
appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to the model.
The directors of the Company will review the cause of
fluctuations in fair value of the assets and liabilities semi-
annually.
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37. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 37. MEEB 2 AEYHER
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising TRFANAREERBE G 2 BEZS - BER
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash SRR ED  METHELECBEER
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for RERERRKRERENGERERERF
which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified SEARERDREREZAMG -
in the consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from
financing activities.
Non-cash changes
37k 5]
Non-cash
1 January Financing Exchange Finance transactions 31 December
217 cashflow  adjustment  costsincurred (Note 44) 217
“E-tf HE FELH  #RERE  ZB-tF
-A-B RERE EjiRE BENA (Wi#4) t=B=t-A
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR  ARETR  ARETr  ARETR  ARETn  ARETR
Amounts due to intermediate N ERERARFEWZ25)
holding companies (Note 25) 82,926 750,939 - - - 833,865
Amounts due to non-controlling equity holders ~ FEf AZ BB A Rl R
of subsidiaries of the Group (Note 25) RBARTEME2) 288,170 139,443 - - - 471613
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries (Note 25)  FEfRIZHBARIZIE(H:25) 25,714 1,776,390 = = = 1,802,104
Amounts due to joint ventures (Note 29) ERRErERANZ23) 173,800 269,879 - - - 443,679
Amounts due to associates (Note 25) BB ARIZE(H225) 266,159 18,384 = = = 284,543
Loans from equity holders (Note 26) BREBALER i 26) 6,650,395 168,900 (40,470) - (243579) 6,535,246
Other payables - due after one year HtEIGE - —FRH
(Note 27) (W27 14,748 9,007 - - - 23,755
Bank and other borrowings (Note 28) RTRAMERH:128) 527759  (1526561) - - - 3,751,009
Bonds payable (Note 29) Eftes(H:i29) 3426732 - (199,539) 4,633 - 3,231,826
Convertible bonds (Nate 30) T ARERH230) 1714915 (9.797) (102,169) 88,655 - 1,691,604
Interest payables (included in trade and ERHSGARHR
other payables) Hipfelizg) 74,643 (802,560) - 737,594 - 9,677
17,995,792 794,024 (342,178) 830,882 (243,579) 19,034,941
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38. OPERATING LEASES
The Group as a lessor
Rental income from investment properties earned during the
year was RMB86,118,000 (2016: RMB59,946,000). All of the
properties held have committed tenants for the next one to eight
years.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had contracted
with tenants for the future minimum lease payments as follows:

38. R&HE

AEBEEREHEA
RAFERENMERSRARINAEARE
86,118,0007T(=F— /4 : ARM59,946,000
TL) c IR B2 MECHPEARENT —FE
J\EFHIREAR -

RBERHEEER  ARECEBERRKR
EEEFERTL - BRAT

2017 2016
—ZET—tHF e ANS
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®BTR ARBTE

Within one year —E£ R 70,395 15,194
In the second to fifth year inclusive —ERFAN(BIEEREMRT) 175,254 70,905
After five years HF1E 59,861 7,083

305,510 93,182

The Group as a lessee

The Group’s minimum lease payments paid during the year
ended 31 December 2017 under operating leases in respect of
rented premises amounted to approximately RMB8,827,000
(2016: RMB7,959,000).
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38. OPERATING LEASES (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had future
minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases
in respect of leased properties are as follows:

38. K=LHE @)

AEBEREBA M)

REEHEAEER  AEBERBEIAHEES
EREEEYEZ RRFKEEERELTE

TN

2017 2016
—E—tE CT-AF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TR AR®BTE

Within one year —&FR 23,651 5,522
In the second to fifth year inclusive “ERFAN(BEERME) 93,465 497745
After five years AFI% 183,634 150,008

300,750 205,275

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by
the Group for certain of its office premises and investment
properties. Leases are negotiated for an average term of two to
fifteen years (2016: two to fifteen years) and rentals are fixed at
the date of signing of lease agreements.

REMEFREAEEREETHAEMER
REWERXXNzES HHFHERFE
THEF(ZZE—RF:  MEETAF)IEE—
R MBERFITHE RS BREE
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39. COMMITMENTS 39. A&IE
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had the following PRIREHRSAE R - NEEEA T RE
commitments:
2017 2016
—E—tF TERF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBETTT
Commitments contracted for but not provided AR AR ETAMBEL ARG A IS RE
in the consolidated financial statements Bt 2 EIE
in respect of:
— construction of properties under development — —iEiEr[HH ERRER Y
for sale 7,322,319 5,449,311
— capital injection in a joint venture —REEREZTE 10,000 -
— land use rights to be acquired for properties — At EERERYEmMS T U
under development for sale B 2 £ Hb (5 A 1,125,000 1,963,000
— leasehold improvements —HEWMEEE 25,906 21,491
8,483,225 7,433,802
40. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 40. ZREE
2017 2016
—E—+tF —E—RF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT AR¥ETTT
Guarantee given to banks in connection with RETEEZBME ML TIRITZER
facilities granted to customers (Note i) (Htati) 3,527,819 3,636,746

Court proceeding (Note i) A (KT i) - =

Notes: Hfat -

(i) The Group acted as a guarantor to the mortgage loans granted to certain (i) REERKE TETAREYEE R ZIRBERMEERE
purchasers of the Group’s properties and agreed to repay the outstanding RA - YRABMERRERBE LY EZEZMEEER
loan and interest accrual thereon, if the purchasers default the repayment AEFSEENREEERREEATEL - ARELNX
of loan before the issue of the property certificate. The directors of the & AAREFRRAVBERRENZ AFELTERK ©
Company consider that the fair value of the financial guarantee contracts is
not significant as the default rate is low.

(i) A subsidiary of the Group was a defendant in a legal action involving the (i)  AKEMEBARR—RIMAERBE N GER DA
alleged failure of the subsidiary to settle the payable to a contractor in BERNRBZARFRZRKE  AARESEHEE R
accordance with the terms of contract. The directors believe, based on legal BERRR - ZFAT RN - BT &EEEM
advice, that the action can be successfully defended and no losses (including EiE(BEEHERNRE) -

claims for costs) will be incurred.
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41. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES
(a) Related party transactions
Other than as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated
financial statements, the Group had the following
transactions with related parties:

41. BBEALTHE
(a) BEALRS
BREAMBEREE M SHRBEE
AEEHBEATEEUTRS -

2017 2016
—E—tF —ERF
Related party HEAL Nature of transaction REME RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®ETR ARETT

Fellow subsidiaries  FZMIB AT Property management ERMEERER
fee paid 103,479 129,744
Construction service fee TERBER 2,043 6,060

Operational support BEXRRBEWA
service income 5,624 5,534
Other expenses HinEA 244 424

Associate of ultimate FA&HERAEZ Finance costs AE R

holding company ~ E& 17 29,433 49,726
Bank interest income RITHEWA 20,748 23,908
Site management income 5 E IR A 24 6
A'joint venture —HALtE Properties operation income #j% &M A - 54,729
Associates NG Properties operation income ¥ £& U A 9,274 17,182

(b) Related party balances
Details of the Group’s balances with related parties are
disclosed in notes 20, 23, 25, 26, 27 and 28.

As at 31 December 2017, bank balances of approximately
RMB2,291,216,000 (2016: RMB3,529,745,000) were
deposited at CMB.

(b) BAEANLEER
AREBEME A+ 2 ARFBRERNE
20232526 27K28

R-ZB—+E+-_A=+—8 BT
HANR®2,291,216,0007T( ZZF— /54 ¢
AR #3,529,745,000 7T ) 17 PR H & R
17 °
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41. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (continued)

(c)

(d)

Compensation of key management personnel

4. BEALTHE @)
() TEBEEAEZHE

2017 2016

—E—+tF —E—RF

RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR¥T T AR¥ETTT

Short-term employee benefits EHEERET 8,906 9,547
Post-employment benefits RIREF 385 379
9,291 9,926

Transactions with other government-related
entities in the PRC

The Group itself is part of a larger group of companies
under CMG which is controlled by the PRC government.
Thus, the directors of the Company consider that the
Group is ultimately controlled by the PRC government. In
addition, the Group operates in an economic environment
currently pre-denominated by entities controlled,
jointly controlled or significantly influenced by the PRC
government (“PRC government-related entities”). Apart
from the transactions with the intermediate holding
company and the fellow subsidiaries set out in (a) and (b)
above, the Group also conducts businesses with other
PRC government-related entities in the ordinary course
of business. The Group's restricted bank deposits, bank
deposits and bank borrowings are entered into with certain
banks which are PRC government-related entities in its
ordinary course of business. In addition, the Group entered
into various transactions, including purchases of land use
rights, construction of properties and other operating
expenses with other PRC government-related entities in
the ordinary course of business. In view of the nature of
those transactions, the directors of the Company are of the
opinion that separate disclosures would not be meaningful.
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(d) BEMTFERFAEER XS

NGB & i B BT S 2 6 B B R
THREBAXEERRZ—85 - Bt - &
RAEERR > AEEXPBEBTZKRE
Bl o WA AEBAEERBERERE R
PEBFMES - ARZEHRKRERAE

FEHER((TEBRREEERE]E
B o fx £ (a) R(b)FrE B R AR A B
FRRMBAR 2RI  REBITRBEE
EpBERTEEGRERAEEERET
% - AEBXBHRTHER - |RITHEX
MBTEETIRAERBBIZT L@ E
BTREE R 2E T|RITRIAL © Uboh » &
SHEAYZRAR S BERRBEEELSB
EREEMAERFREERER L E
At BEMEREMELERX - AZE
RHUEERR  ARPEERRATHE



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R a B RAR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2017
BE—T—+F+=-A=1—HAIFE

41. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (continued)

(e) Management services

The Group’s activities were planned, directed and
controlled by the management of China Merchants Shekou,
which did not charge any fee for services rendered during

both years.

42. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE

COMPANY

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31

December 2017 and 2016 are as follows:

41. BEALTIE @)
(e) BRI
AEEYEHHBEEOEEERE 18
R FRE A PR O 3
FRi2{t > RIS R (T B B -

42. X ARMB AT 2FHE

R-F—tFR-_F-A"F+-A=t+—A"
ARFEBHBARZHBLT -

Place of Issued and fully Proportion effective
incorporation/ paid share capital/ ownership interest
Name of subsidiary establishment registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
T ERTRESRE KRR ERmER
B AR EB B35 B MR LA TEBER
2017 2016
“Z-t% —ERF
Directly owned
BERER
Champion Apex Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% 100% Trading of electronic
FEEERAR & 7#%10,0007T and electrical
related products
BEETRERIAH
Em
Harvest Allied Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% 100% Investment holding
Investments Limited BB 75%10,0007T REZR
ERRERRAH
Cosmos The BVI Us$100 100% 100% Investment holding
REE KBRS 1003%7T REER
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42. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE

42. AR EMB AT ZF B @)

COMPANY (continued)
Place of Issued and fully Proportion effective
incorporation/ paid share capital/ ownership interest
Name of subsidiary establishment registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
AL, ERTRESRE KRR ERER
WEAR B B L 3t B R RELA TEER
2017 2016
—E—tF “E-REF
Indirectly owned
REER
China Merchants Land (Shenzhen) ~ The PRC RMB1,000,000 100% 100% Trading of electronic and
BEREMCRII) # AR1,000,0007T electrical and building
related materials and
equipment
BEESTREFRERUR
BEIEEM KR
China West Premier Housing The PRC US$533,960,015 50% 50% Property development
Development Co., Ltd.* w 533,960,015 7T MEER
(Notes 1 and 5)
EERBEENARERAR
(Hiat1%5)
Converge Holdings Limited The BVI us$2 100% 100% Investment holding
EFERERAR RBRAES 2ETT REFER
Cosmo City Limited (Note 5) Hong Kong HK$4,640,010,000 50% 50% Investment holding
BHBRRA(HE5) &R 75#:4,640,010,0007C REER
Foshan Merchants Wharf Property  The PRC US$109,898,000 50% 50% Property development
Development Co., Ltd.* w 109,898,000 T MEER
("Foshan Merchants Wharf")
(Notes 1 and 4)
BLEENEREHERRAR
([BBBEnER])
(Hfat1k4)
Foshan Xin Cheng Property The PRC US$127,000,000 50% 50% Property development
Development Co., Ltd.* i 127,000,000 7T MEERE

("Foshan Xin Cheng”)

(Notes 2 and 4)
BLBREHERRAR

(TRl ) (freE2k4)
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42. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 42. XN BB AR 2 F 1B @)

COMPANY (continued)
Place of Issued and fully Proportion effective
incorporation/ paid share capital/ ownership interest
Name of subsidiary establishment registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
MR ERTREBARES KRR ERER
L) PNCEEE B 2 BTN 25 1 TEER
2017 2016
—E—tF ZZRF
Foshan Xin Jie Property The PRC US$250,123,443 50% 50% Property development
Development Co., Ltd.* F 250,123,443% T MEER
(Notes 1 and 7)
BILEEFENEERAR
(Hizt1%7)
Foshan Yi Yun (Notes 3 and 4) The PRC RMB30,000,000 50% 50% Property development
BILRE (Hizt3R%4) H AR#30,000,0007T NEER
Foshan Merchants* The PRC RMB 10,000,000 100% 100% Property development
(Notes 3 and 8) HE AE#10,000,0007T MERR
IR (Ha23%8)
Foshan Kai Da Cheng The PRC RMB507,100,000 51% 51% Property development
(Notes 3 and 8) H AR507,100,0007C NEER
Ll (fiE3k8)
Happy City Investments Limited Hong Kong HK$100 100% 100% Investment holding
SEEREBRAT 5 BE1007T RAZRR
Harpen Company Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 50% 50% Investment holding
(“Harpen”) (Note 4) 0 75%10,0007 RERR
eREHEERERDA
(T8 1) (Hita)
Merchants Nanjing (Note 2) The PRC RMB 158,380,817 51% 51% Property development
HRAREEHE2) m AR158,380,8177C NEER
Merchants Guangzhou (Note 2) ~ The PRC RMB200,000,000 100% 100% Property development
EMNBEEOEHZ2) H AR #200,000,0007C NEER
Nanjing China Merchants The PRC RMB1,230,000,000 - 51% De-registered
Rui Sheng Property Co., Ltd.* AR #1,230,000,0007T i Fai
(Notes 3 and 9)
HRAEnREEERDA
(Hiz#3%9)
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42. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 42. XN BB AR 215 @)

COMPANY (continued)
Place of Issued and fully Proportion effective
incorporation/ paid share capital/ ownership interest
Name of subsidiary establishment registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
ML, ERTRERRE ARAfiGERERE
L) PNCECE B3t 2 Bl EN BELA TEER
2017 2016
—E—tF ZERF
Pride Oasis Limited (Note 4) The BVI US$599,095,420 50% 50% Investment holding
(“Pride Oasis") RBRAHS 599,095,420% 7T REZM
RRBARAR(Hit4)([ER])
Sino Action Hong Kong HK$100 100% 100% Investment holding
Investments Limited Bk BE1007T RAZER
EHHREFRAA
Chongging China Merchants The PRC RMB20,000,000 100% 100% Property development
Yi Yun Property Co., Ltd.* H AR#20,000,0007T NEER
(Notes 3 and 8)
EEREKERHERRAR
(Hizt38)
Foshan Yi Yun Zhen Yuan Property The PRC RMB 10,000,000 55% 55% Property development
Development Co., Ltd.* H AR#10,000,0007T NEER
(Notes 3 and 8)
BLKEEEEHERBAR
(Hizt38)
Foshan Yi Yun Shang The PRC RMB 10,500,000 50% 50% Property development
Yuan Property Development AR#10,500,0007T NEER
Co., Ltd.* (Notes 3 and 10)
BLEELREHERRAR
(Hia#3%10)
Chongging Central Park The PRC RMB3,666,249,600 50% 50% Property development
Company Limited* H ARH3,666,249,6007T NEER
(Notes 1 and 5)
EEREABEHEREERAT
(Hiat1%5)
Cyber Light Investment Limited Hong Kong HK$100 51% 51% Investment holding
KEREBRAT B AH1007T REER

246 CHINA MERCHANTS LAND LIMITED Annual Report 2017



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R a B RAR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2017
BE—T—+F+=-A=1—HAIFE

42. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 42. X ARMBE AT 2F B
COMPANY (continued)
Place of Issued and fully Proportion effective
incorporation/ paid share capital/ ownership interest
Name of subsidiary establishment registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
ML ERTRESRE ARRFEERARE
Wi A R 8 B35 B MR R fl TEXH
2017 2016
“E—t#F —ERF
Nanjing Merchants Qisheng The PRC US$205,000,000 51% 51% Property development
Property Development Limited* & 205,000,000% 7T NEER
(Note 1)
HrAERAEEERDA
(Hizt1)
Runray Holdings Limited The BVI Us$100 100% 100% Investment holding
FARERARA RBRAHS 1003 7T REER
Xi'an Multi On Property The PRC US$172,000,000 100% 100% Property development
Development Company 3 172,000,000 T MEER

Limited* (Note 1)
ALREEHEERAR(FE1)

Zhenjiang Torch Zhidi Property The PRC US$29,900,000 70% 70% Property development
Development Co., Ltd.* R 29,900,000 7 NEER
(Note 1)

BETNEERERBRAR(Hat1)

Guangzhou Yi Yun Property The PRC RMB100,000,000 51% 51% Property development
Development Co., Ltd.* i AE#100,000,0007T MEER
(Notes 3 and 8)

BMNKERMERRAR
(Hizt3%8)

Nanjing Merchants The PRC RMB60,000,000 26.01% 26.01% Property development
Ningsheng Property H AR#60,000,0007T NEER
Development Limited*

(Notes 3 and 6)

HRARRERRHEFRAA

(Hat3ke6)
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42. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 42. X ARMBAR 2FH B @
COMPANY (continued)
Place of Issued and fully Proportion effective
incorporation/ paid share capital/ ownership interest
Name of subsidiary establishment registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
ML, BRTREBARE ERREERMARE
B LR B L3t B R R fl TEEK
2017 2016
S —ZRF
Nanjing Merchants Xingsheng The PRC RMB50,000,000 26.01% 26.01% Property development
Property Development Co., Ltd. & AR50,000,0007T MEER
(Notes 3 and 6)
ERAEEREHERRAR
(Hist3ke6)
Foshan Yi Yun Xiao De Property ~ The PRC US$172,500,000 50% 50% Property development
Development Co., Ltd.* h 172,500,000% 7T MEER

(Notes 1 and 7)
BILKEZERESR AT

(Hiet1R7)
YiYun Guan Yuan The PRC RMB100,000,000 40% 40% Property development
(Notes 3 and 10) H AR #100,000,0007 NEER
REBE(HE3%10)
Nanjing Zhaosheng The PRC RMB400,000,000 51% 51% Property development
(Notes 3 and 9) P AR #400,000,0007C NEER
mRBR(HE3RI)
Chongging Merchants The PRC RMB27,000,000 100% 100% Property development
Yi Cheng Property Development AR#27,000,0007C NEER
Co., Ltd.*

EEREKHENEREARAR

Poly Field Hong Kong RMB500,500,400 60% 60% Investment holding

EE BR AK#500,500,4007C REER

Tian Jiao (Guangzhou) Property ~ The PRC RMB500,000,000 60% 60% Property development
Development Co., Limited. * AR#500,000,0007T WEER

AB (BN EHEREERAR

Foshan Merchants Hanlin Property  The PRC RMB10,000,000 100% — Property development
Development Co., Ltd H AR#10,000,0007T NEER
(Note 3)

FILBEHNEHERRAR
(Hi£3)

248 CHINA MERCHANTS LAND LIMITED Annual Report 2017



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R a B RAR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2017
BE—T—+F+=-A=1—HAIFE

42. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE
COMPANY (continued)

42. AR B AT ZFE @)

Place of Issued and fully Proportion effective
incorporation/ paid share capital/ ownership interest
Name of subsidiary establishment registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
ML ERTREHRE/ KRR ERER
L) PNCEEE B L 3t B BTN LA TEER
2017 2016
—E—tF ZZRF
Foshan Merchants Zhonghuan The PRC RMB 10,000,000 100% — Property development
Property Development Co., Ltd & AR#10,000,0007T MEER
(Note 3)
HILAERREHERRAR
(Hi3)
Foshan Guolin (Notes 3 and 10)  The PRC RMB50,000,000 60% — Property development
il R&(HaE3%10) 5 AR#50,000,0007C NEER
Foshan Merchants Brilliant The PRC RMB 10,000,000 100% — Property development
Property Development HE AR#10,000,0007% NEER
Co., Ltd.* (Note 3)
BILREEERRAR(H23)
Chongging Yizhi Business The PRC US$200,000 50% 50% Property development
Management Co., Ltd. H 200,000 7T NEER
(Notes 1 and 5)
ERRERXERBRAR
(Hizt1R5)
Nanjing Zhao Ping Li Sheng* The PRC RMB100,000,000 51% 51% Investment holding
(Note 2)
BRI 22) HE AR10,000,0007T REZR
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42. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE
COMPANY (continued)

Note 1:

Note 2:

Note 3:

Note 4:

Note 5:

Note 6:

Note 7:

Note 8:

Note 9:

The English name is for identification only. The official name of the entity
is in Chinese.

The entity is a wholly foreign owned enterprise.

The entity is a sino-foreign joint venture.

The entity is a wholly-domestic owned enterprise.

This entity is considered to be a subsidiary of the Company despite the
Company holds directly and indirectly not more than half of the equity
interest therein as the Company has the power to cast the majority of
votes at meetings of the board of directors of this entity, which has power
to affect the returns of this entity.

The entity is a subsidiary of Pride Oasis Limited.

This entity is considered to be a subsidiary of the Company despite the
Company indirectly holds not more than half of the equity interest therein
as Merchants Nanjing, a subsidiary of the Company, controls the majority
of the board composition of this entity, thus it has power to affect the
returns of this entity.

The entity is a subsidiary of Harpen.

The entity is a subsidiary of Merchants Guangzhou.

The entity is a subsidiary of Merchants Nanjing.

Note 10: The entity is a subsidiary of Foshan Yi Yun.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding as at
the end of the year or at any time during the year.
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42. AR EMB AT ZF B @)

* X ETBEHRET)

HteET -
Hta2 -
HizE3

Htat4

Hrats -

Hrate -

HiaE7
H15t8 -
Htat9

MiaE10 -

RELRAFEEMERE -
AIRER

cERZIEABRWRH -

BERRIEEEDLE -

BRSSPI EDE -

BER/ENEDRE -
ZERBBEERARBZMBRR  #AXAREE
REESAZERTEZR —FBRE  BEARERZ
5%2§$éﬁﬁwﬁﬁyﬁhm%'ﬂﬁﬁgﬁ
ZEEEZEN

ERASRARBRARZHBAR
ZERBBEERARBZMBRR - #AXAREE
HAEZERTER —¥BE  BEARANEARH
RAAFHELZERB 2 EFTEAAD &E@W%
BEGE  REZERBZOREZED
ERAEBEZHEAR -
ERAEMNERELEZHBAR
ERAMABEEHEZHBAR
ERAHLUKEZHBAR -

BEKN B A RAE
ZIETEES



43. DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY OWNED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R a B RAR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2017
BE—T—+F+=-A=1—HAIFE

B HEEERFEREZZAKEHFESR

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE GROUP THAT HAVE EME QRS
MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS
The table below shows details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries TREINEBEEAERER I AEEHELE
of the Group that have material non-controlling interests: MRS
Place of
incorporation/
establishment
Financial and principal Voting rights held by Profit (loss) allocated to Accumulated
Name of entity information  place of business non-controlling interests  non-controlling interests  non-controlling interests
EANE AR L)
ERLR BHER TRERBY FERERFAAZRE  DRTHERERZaH (5E) ZitFERES
2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016
8-tF CEAF ZB-tE CERF ZE-tE TR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AB®TR  ARETT AREBTR  ARETR
Foshan Merchants Wharf (1 The PRC 50% 50% 45,867 72,855 544,718 599,862
BlAEnER Gl
Foshan Xin Cheng ) The PRC 50% 50% (112) (16,228) 570,083 570,795
Il i
Harpen 3 Hong Kong 50% 50% 52,141 56,915 1,432,803 1,380,662
ek &4
Pricle Oasis ) Hong Kong 50% 50% 164,881 32909 35860267 3,695,386
Foshan Yi Yun (5) The PRC 50% 50% 139,827 (2,582) 326,975 171,161
BLgE Gl
Nanjing Merchants (6) The PRC 49% 49% 517,735 174577 6,117,321 1,397,587
AREE Giléd

919,739 318,446

13452167 7815453

Summarised consolidated financial information in respect of
each of the Group’s entities that has material non-controlling
interests is set out below. The summarised consolidated financial

information below represents amounts before intra-group

eliminations.

“TLFFR BEREMARDA 251

IEREREE RS AREER 24K
EUBERBMBENTX - TXHEAMBEH
BEBERENI L HA 2 28



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R AR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2017
BE—F—+F1+-A=+—HIFE

43. DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY OWNED
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE GROUP THAT HAVE
MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

BEEEARFERERCAEERES
== PNGIEIIE )

(continued)
Notes: Hiat -
2017 2016
e —T—xF
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBT T AREFT
(1)  Foshan Merchants Wharf (1) HLBELER
Non-current assets FmBEE 9,157 8,341
Current assets B EE 1,328,475 1,814,124
Current liabilities mEEE 248,196 622,741
Non-current liabilities FREEE = -
Equity attributable to owners of the Company RNREHEAE AR 544,718 599,862
Non-controlling interests IR 544,718 599,862
Revenue W 2§ 556,482 817,463
Other revenue H e 2,981 1,244
Expenses FX 467,729 672,997
Other expenses Hhhsz - -
Profit and total comprehensive income for the year AEEmH R 2EBALLEE 91,734 145,710
Profit and total comprehensive income attributable to ARAREA AEGEFREEBALRE
owners of the Company 45,867 72,855
Profit and total comprehensive income attributable to FEVE IR R AR A R R E AR
non-controlling interests 45,867 72,855
Profit and total comprehensive income for the year RNEERF R EEBALE 91,734 145,710
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests BT IR AR A S 101,011 -
Net cash inflow (outflow) from operating activities KNS 2 BemACRL ) F5E 87,052 (167,691)
Net cash outflow from investing activities BEXEBzRERLFE - (128)
Net cash outflow from financing activities MEEK 2B R FEA (202,560) -
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes ERgsp L (1) -
Net cash outflow RembFa (115,509) (167,819)
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43. DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY OWNED

. ERERFEREZZAEEHFR

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE GROUP THAT HAVE EMEAAFER@
MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS
(continued)
Notes: (continued) Hiat - (&
2017 2016
—E—tF —ZE-REF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT T ARETFT
(2) Foshan Xin Cheng (2) fLSERE
Non-current assets B EE = 198
Current assets MEBE 1,140,422 1,655,782
Current liabilities TEAE 256 514,390
Non-current liabilities FRBEE = -
Equity attributable to owners of the Company KRR AEILERS 570,083 570,795
Non-controlling interests eI i A 570,083 570,795
Revenue Wz 15 58,889
Other revenue Hipls 3,172 115
Expenses & 44 91,430
Other expenses HinFx 4,567 30
Loss and total comprehensive expense for the year AEEBEEREEMZEE (1,424) (32,456)
Loss and total comprehensive expense attributable to AQEHEAEGEBEREZEMAX
owners of the Company Frak | (712) (16,228)
Loss and total comprehensive expense attributable to SRR EREOEBEREREAMY
non-controlling interests Frak | (712) (16,228)
Loss and total comprehensive expense for the year AEEFHREREMHA AR (1,424) (32,456)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests B IR AR A 2 AR S = 19,509
Net cash (outflow) inflow from operating activities EERR 7 BE (R ) RAFRE (2,051) 203,820
Net cash inflow from investing activities REEBZRLRNFE 163 5
Net cash outflow from financing activities MEEB RS RLFE - (219,000)
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes ExgHPE (7) 4
Net cash outflow BeRteE (1,895) (15,171)
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3L ==
43. DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY OWNED B EEERFERERZAEEHFR
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE GROUP THAT HAVE =) PNCIEES e )
MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS
(continued)
Notes: (continued) KieE : (48)
2017 2016
—E—tHF ZT—RF
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR¥T T ARBEFT
(3) Harpen (3) =B
Non-current assets FEMENEE 4,485 5,021
Current assets RENEE 4,430,639 3,570,668
Current liabilities mENAE 1,502,985 805,773
Non-current liabilities EN=Ni 66,533 8,592
Equity attributable to owners of the Company RANRER AEEER 1,432,803 1,380,662
Non-controlling interests FEVE PR M 2R 1,432,803 1,380,662
Revenue & 382,317 1,087,912
Other revenue H itz 15,359 2,513
Expenses R 293,394 976,562
Other expenses HinpAx = 33
Profit and total comprehensive income for the year NEEmF R 2ERALEE 104,282 113,830
Profit and total comprehensive income attributable to RRATHEAR AR R EE WAL
owners of the Company 52,141 56,915
Profit and total comprehensive income attributable to TR R R R R 2 E A B RE
non-controlling interests 52,141 56,915
Profit and total comprehensive income for the year NEERF R EEBALE 104,282 113,830
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests B IEERR R AR R = -
Net cash inflow from operating activities R IS RAFE 812,339 815,937
Net cash outflow from investing activities BREEBZRE R FE (889,885) (850,900)
Net cash inflow (outflow) from financing activities BMEEB2BERA/ Gt ) F8E 67,265 (34,638)
Effect of changes in exchange rate EREEHTE = -
Net cash outflow BEREFE (10,281) (69,601)
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L ==
43. DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY OWNED B HEEERFERERZAEEHFR
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE GROUP THAT HAVE =) PNCIEES e )
MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS
(continued)
Notes: (continued) Kiat : (48
2017 2016
—E—tF ZE—RF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBFIT
(4) Pride Oasis 4 BE
Non-current assets FEMENEE 76,491 47,423
Current assets mENEE 11,610,398 9,558,397
Current liabilities mEEE 3,942,946 2,207,159
Non-current liabilities ERBEE 23,409 7,889
Equity attributable to owners of the Company RARER ARG 3,860,267 3,695,386
Non-controlling interests FEE AR R RS 3,860,267 3,695,386
Revenue Wz 2,108,357 838,844
Other revenue Hh e 19,958 4,609
Expenses X 1,798,184 777,635
Other expenses HihAx 369 -
Profit and total comprehensive income for the year RNE R R 2 ERALE 329,762 65,818
Profit and total comprehensive income attributable to AQEHEA ARG RE2EEABE
owners of the Company 164,881 32,909
Profit and total comprehensive income attributable to FEIE IR RS PR A R 2 E IR A B R
non-controlling interests 164,881 32,909
Profit and total comprehensive income for the year AREmF R E2EBALE 329,762 65,818
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests [EENE 2w £ad e = -
Net cash inflow from operating activities REEB 2 REMANFRE 208,947 625,654
Net cash outflow from investing activities BREEB RS RLFAE (482) -
Net cash outflow from financing activities MEEB RS RLFE - (93,865)
Effect of changes in exchange rate ExgHpE (16) 6
Net cash inflow REMAFRE 208,449 531,795
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For the year ended 31 December 2017
BE—F—+F1+-A=+—HIFE

3L ==
43. DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY OWNED B EEERFERERZAEEHFR
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE GROUP THAT HAVE 4] WNCIEES e )]
MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS
(continued)
Notes: (continued) KieE : (48)
2017 2016
—E—tF —E—NE
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR¥ETT ARETFT
(5) Foshan Yi Yun (5) fHILERE
Non-current assets FEMENEE 36,814 21,774
Current assets MENEE 5,767,136 2,819,005
Current liabilities mEAE 5,070,070 2,345,667
Non-current liabilities ERBAE 110,000 152,790
Equity attributable to owners of the Company RNRAEHEAR AR 296,905 171,161
Non-controlling interests FEiE AR RS 326,975 171,161
Revenue & 1,638,196 581,508
Other revenue H g 3,698 2,676
Expenses R 1,376,584 589,326
Other expenses HinpAx 8,816 22
Profit (loss) and total comprehensive income (expense) REE RN (EE) REERAFER)
for the year k) 256,494 (5,164)
Profit (loss) and total comprehensive income (expense) AAREA AR (B8 REA
attributable to owners of the Company WA (%) %% 116,667 (2,582)
Profit (loss) and total comprehensive income (expense) FEVE IR PR AR A (B518 ) R 2 E WA
attributable to non-controlling interests (%) #sE 139,827 (2,582)
Profit (loss) and total comprehensive income (expense) AEEHMN(EE) RE2EBRA(FAX)
for the year Fet) 256,494 (5,164)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests B IEERR R AR R = -
Net cash inflow from operating activities KIS 2 IREMNER 282,018 178,285
Net cash outflow from investing activities REXBZRe M FHE (686) (1,276)
Net cash (outflow) inflow from financing activities BEEH 2B ORB)RAFE (13,720) 171,461
Net cash inflow REMAFE 267,612 348,470
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BHmRME

For the year ended 31 December 2017
BE-FT—+F+-FA=1+—HIFE

43. DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY OWNED

. ERERFEREZZAEEHFR

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE GROUP THAT HAVE =) PNCIEES e )
MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS
(continued)
Notes: (continued) Kiat : (48
2017 2016
—g—tf —E-AE
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBF T ARBFT
(6) Nanjing Merchant (6) MRIBH
Non-current assets B EE 1,957,069 1,045,916
Current assets mEBEE 19,752,861 10,539,612
Current liabilities nEaE 8,585,930 9,205,094
Non-current liabilities ERBEE 600,000 600,000
Equity attributable to owners of the Company RRAFHER AR 5,909,710 382,847
Non-controlling interests FEVE IR M AR 6,717,321 1,397,587
Revenue & 3,543,463 1,867,863
Other revenue H e 200,478 29,185
Expenses X 2,800,235 1,580,757
Other expenses HihAx 140 31,398
Profit and total comprehensive income for the year AEEHFREEmBALEE 943,566 284,893
Profit and total comprehensive income RNAVER AR K%
attributable to owners of the Company ZERARE 426,863 110,316
Profit and total comprehensive income FEVE R e s PR A 1| 2
attributable to non-controlling interests FHERARRE 517,735 174,577
Profit and total comprehensive income for the year RE R R 2 ERABE 943,566 284,893
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests B FEIE AR R AR B 98,000 =
Net cash (outflow) from operating activities KB zHeORM) %R (3,282,206) (879,160)
Net cash (outflow) from investing activities BEEB RS (RL)F8E (758,868) (546,878)
Net cash inflow from financing activities BEZB 2 IRERAFRE 3,795,011 1,311,304
Net cash (outflow) Be () FE (246,063) (114,734)
44. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS 44, Eﬁjffﬁ%?t N
On 30 June 2017, Merchants Guangzhou, R ¥R and 1L LT S A FE A R R IR BN - R
&%, non-controlling equity holders of Foshan Kai Da Cheng, HEAGBLUMERN T —+HXA=FTHE
had signed an agreement to capitalise advances to Foshan Kai Zla KA ILmEERLS TR RS 5
Da Cheng of approximately RMB253,521,000, RMB69,594,000 #NER#253,521,0007C « A K # 69,594,000
and RMB173,985,000 rescioectlyel as its registered caﬁltal. 7T R AR ¥® 173,985,000 & A 1t & H i it &
As a result, the registered capital of Foshan Kai Da Cheng o EH Ik BRIL T SLER A A AR AR
increased from RMB10,000,000 to RMB507,100,000. There is no 10,000,000 JT, 1% 7]\ z= AR #507,100,0007T °
contractual cash inflow to the Group. WHEAMEABR e RAREE -
¢ A
45. EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 45. |EHR SR U
On 18 August 2016, the Company and China Merchants EQ—E;QEAH T8 - /Z'fé E%H%EEE
Properties Development Limited (the “Seller”), a fellow subsidiary ;@ 5 ﬂ%?&ﬁ%g%\ﬁlﬁ /?(E <_f3gﬂ¢2 "l 3L
of China Merchants Shekou entered into the sale and purchase f%ﬁﬁ’ﬁﬁ L Bl Lﬁgmﬁﬂ’fﬁﬁﬁé% LR
agreement, pursuant to which, the Company has conditionally %Eﬁﬂ*ﬁ_ﬂ E"%F'E EE;?%W% & ﬂﬁg
agreed to purchase, and the Seller has conditionally agreed to ;;:E‘%ﬁﬁﬁﬁ aﬁ;fﬁ”\ziﬂg ES ,&Hﬁgﬁ&
sell, the entire share capital and shareholder’s loan of Cheuk Tat xRS A EH) BB 608 %E@WF?;JE
Development Limited (“Cheuk Tat”), a wholly-owned subsidiary EE fgﬁz 609RBILALR) - ([ £ 5K “H% =
of the Seller, for a total cash consideration of approximately IE% ﬁxfTﬂﬁﬁﬁZﬁ*ﬁﬁﬂ?%mZ’;; ﬂﬁEi il
HK$608 million (subject to adjustment but capped at HK$609 ot o L AT HZR& * AERIE SR
million)(the “Cheuk Tat Acquisition”). Further details of these BRI T2 RBEE6 -

agreements are set out in the Company’s announcement
dated 18 August 2016. These acquisitions constituted business

combinations under common control.
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HE=

45. EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

46.

Tt A=t —HILTE

(continued)

The Cheuk Tat Acquisition was completed on 28 February 2018.
. 0 t%interest in Cheuk X
Tat, which became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. =

INFORMATION ABOUT THE STATEMENT OF

Upon completion, the Company holds 100% equi

FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY

2017 2016
—E—tF —E—RF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREET T

Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y -~ BB &R 1,681 2,094
Investments in subsidiaries RHIBRRZZE 16 16
Prepayments TBf /I8 1,280 3,850
2,977 5,960

Current Assets REBEE
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables TERTFRIE - ke K H M WRIA 4,062 4,944
Amounts due from subsidiaries e NG E e 12,277,966 12,543,178
Amount due from an intermediate W — R EER A RIIE 112 -
holding company
Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries A EES NG ¢ 407 442
Bank balances and cash RITER KRR 236,410 514,047
12,518,957 13,062,611
Current liabilities REBEE

Other payables and accruals H R R R BB B 8,704 10,691
Amounts due to subsidiaries FER M B A R FRIE 2,107,044 2,123,580
Amount due to ultimate holding company FER SRR A RIFIA 614 532
Amount due to an intermediate holding company  JE{f — 5k F1 2 i A 7 3018 = 29
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries NI E NG E 167 377
Bank and other borrowings RITREMEER 658,300 =
Bonds payable ERES 3,231,826 =
6,006,655 2,135,209
Net current assets REEEZEE 6,512,302 10,927,402
Total assets less current liabilities HWEERARBAR 6,515,279 10,933,362

Non-current liabilities kRBERE
Bank and other borrowings RITREMBEER 1,240,000 1,298,300
Bonds payable R ES = 3,426,732
1,240,000 4,725,032
Net assets EEFE 5,275,279 6,208,330

Capital and reserves EXRf#E
Share capital P& ZX 39,132 39,132
Reserves (Note) (o aE) 5,236,147 6,169,198
Total equity R 5,275,279 6,208,330
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46. INFORMATION ABOUT THE STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY

(continued)
Note: The movement of reserves is shown as follows:

Hfat - REBESHIIOT ¢

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R a B RAR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2017
BE—T—+F+=-A=1—HAIFE

46. EBEA R B MBAR AT Z2ER @)

Share Translation Contributed  Accumulated Total
premium reserve reserve losses reserves
g5 5 (8 bE 5 [ ES NG ] RETEE RERE
RMB’'000 RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’000

ARBFT ARBFIT ARMBFIT ARBFIT ARBFIT
At 1 January 2016 RZT—R"F—HA—H 6,141,972 8,076 46,004 (225,881) 5,970,171
Profit and total FRRFREERALLTE
comprehensive income
for the year - - - 219,465 219,465
Dividend declared (Note 12) 2 & RS (F17E12) (20,438) - - - (20,438)
At 31 December 2016 and R-Z—ARF+-_A=+—8H
1 January 2017 —T—+tF¥—A—H 6,121,534 8,076 46,004 (6,416) 6,169,198
Loss and total FRE N REEBALLE
comprehensive expense
for the year - - - (737,081) (737,081)
Dividend declared (Note 12) 2 & RIS (F:F12) (195,970) - - - (195,970)
At 31 December 2017 R-TE—+F
+—-A=+—~H 5,925,564 8,076 46,004 (743,497) 5,236,147
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
LEMBENGRE

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years, as extracted from the published audited
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2013, 2014,

2015, 2016 and 2017, as below.

NTHIASEBE A AN RFEEZEE EEKE
BEHE  DESEEE—_T—=  _T—NF - =
T—hF —_E—AFR-_ZFT—+F+=-_A=+—H
IEFEZ B HBEEZTHRE

RESULTS E4 Year ended 31 December
BE+-A=+—HILEE
2017 2016 2015 2014 2013
2+t —ET—RE —T-HF —T-NFE —T—=F
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
AREBTR ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR
REVENUE WA 17,310,562 11,606,442 6,394,944 7,440,436 6,927,871
PROFIT BEFORE TAX BB AR R 5,301,478 2,542,319 927,413 1,624,110 2,676,555
Income tax FTie% (2,362,495) (1,427,265  (571,946)  (789,741) (1,261,736)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR REEHF 2,938,983 1,115,054 355,467 834,369 1,414,819
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BERERE As at 31 December
R+=BA=+-—H
2017 2016 2015 2014 2013
“E—+tE —ZT—RE —T-HF —T-NE —T-—=F
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETT AREBTT ARETT ARETT
TOTAL ASSETS BEHAE 57,817,312 48,446,368 38,863,715 33,599,922 28,160,951
TOTAL LIABILITIES aERE 36,046,086 34,338,398 27,178,625 22,675,205 16,704,640
Net assets BEFE 21,771,226 14,107,970 11,685,090 10,924,717 11,456,311
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